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A GROWING & 
RESILIENT BUSINESS 



“WYG has delivered a strong 
performance overall with a 14% 
increase in revenue, a 22% increase 
in adjusted operating profit and net 
debt at £2.5m reflecting substantially 
improved operating cash inflow, 
meeting management’s revised 
expectations at the time of our trading 
statement on 23 March 2017. 

“This significant growth and improvement 
in both profitability and cash generation 
was delivered despite project deferrals and 
delays in the mobilisation of new awards 
leading to a weaker than anticipated 
profit performance in the fourth quarter, 
demonstrating the breadth and resilience  
of the Group. 

“This marks the first year in which  
WYG has delivered double digit revenue 
growth since its refinancing in 2011. 
WYG today is a fundamentally different 
organisation: it is a growing and resilient 
business generating quality revenues 
from our core strengths in front-end 
consultancy and international development. 
We have committed funding, talented 
new operational leadership, and a healthy 
pipeline of major projects with long-term 
structural funds and institutions with which 
we have strong relationships. We expect  
the organic growth we have seen this  
year to continue and we look forward  
with confidence to the next chapter in 
WYG’s development.”

Mike McTighe, Chairman WYG plc
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OVERVIEW
2016-17 



HIGHLIGHTS
Double digit revenue growth with ongoing 
improvement in profitability.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
• Revenue* up 14% to £151.8m (2016: 

£133.5m)

• Second half revenues up 10% to £78.3m  
(H2 2016 £70.9m) 

• Adjusted operating profit** up 22% to 
£8.8m (2016: £7.2m)

• Operating margins improved to 5.8%  
(2016: 5.4%) 

• Adjusted profit before tax** up 17% to 
£8.2m (2016: £7.0m)

• Profit before tax £1.6m (2016: £2.2m)

• Adjusted diluted earnings per share** up 
21% to 11.9p (2016: 9.8p)

• Earnings per share 3.3p (2016: 4.0p)

• Proposed final dividend up 20% to 1.2p  
(2016: 1.0p), giving a total dividend for the 
year up 20% to 1.8p (2016: 1.5p)

• Net debt as at 31 March 2017 £2.5m (31 
March 2016: net cash £0.2m); significantly 
improved operating cash inflow before 
investments 

• Order book stable at £145m as at  
31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: £143m –  
after Polish adjustments): 

• UK order book up 4% to £82m  
(2016: £79m) reflecting continuing 
strength of infrastructure and  
planning markets

• International order book maintained at 
£63m (2016: £64m (like for like)) 

• Order book will be boosted by post year-end  
wins of c.£50m announced on 2 June 2017

• Group exposure to defined pension liabilities 
closed out, with return of £0.5m net of tax  
surplus to WYG

* Including revenue from Joint Ventures

** Before separately disclosed items

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
• 12% increase in UK revenue to £107.6m 

(2016: £96.3m) reflecting strong 
performance across almost all services lines, 
despite project delays in the fourth quarter

• 80% increase in Middle East & North Africa 
including Turkey (MENA) revenues to £23.8m 
(2016: £13.2m) as EU funded projects come 
through strongly 

• 15% reduction in revenues in Europe, Africa 
& Asia (EAA) reflected the results in our 
Polish operation, partially offset by growth in 
Africa and Rest of World 

• Continued drive to improve efficiency, 
enhance resilience and improve agility across 
the business:

• Cost reduction initiatives in our UK 
business re-invested to enhance delivery 
without reducing capacity to deliver on 
our growth opportunities

• Restructured Polish operation to focus on 
technical and socio-economic services, 
which are now performing in line with 
expectations; delivering annualised cost 
savings of £1.0m

• Successfully broadened MENA’s reach 
beyond Turkey, including €3.6m National 
Social Security Fund project in Lebanon 

• Senior operational management 
appointed to lead divisions of new 
organizational structure:

• Jeanne ‘JC’ Townend as Head of  
Consulting Services

• Jesper Damgaard as Head of  
International Development
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• Trading in the current financial year is in line 
with the Board’s expectations, with good 
revenue growth coming though in the UK 

• Post period-end framework and project  
wins include:

• Central and Southern regions on UK MoD’s 
revised PSP framework for DIO

• a place on three lots of the delayed Crown 
Commercial Services’ two year £2.9bn 
consultancy framework 

• CRIDF 2 (climate adaption project in 
Southern Africa) worth more than £5m, 
which together are expected to deliver  
£15 million of revenue in each of the next  
three years

• Order book for the current financial year, 
augmented by post period-end awards,  
gives a strong basis for current year  
growth expectations

• The current UK General Election process has 
temporarily delayed some project awards

• Appointment of Jeremy Beeton to succeed 
Mike McTighe as Chairman with effect  
from AGM

• Douglas McCormick appointed to succeed  
Paul Hamer as Chief Executive Officer with 
effect from 12 June 2017

CURRENT 
TRADING  
& OUTLOOK

   

Paul Hamer, Chief 
Executive Officer of WYG plc 
commented:
“WYG has delivered a 14% increase in revenue, a 
22% increase in adjusted operating profit and a 
marked improvement in operating cash generation 
- although a number of project delays and deferrals 
in the final quarter meant we did not quite meet the 
expectations we set ourselves at the beginning of 
the year. 

“Despite a temporary curtailment in the process 
of formalising some contractual commitments 
as a result of the UK General Election, we have 
started the current year well, having already 
won a significant contract in Africa and places on 
two major UK frameworks. The opportunities we 
are seeing in our core consultancy services and 
international development markets, combined with 
our initiatives to drive efficiency and resilience 
across the Group, leave us in a strong position from 
which to deliver good growth in the current year.” 

Mike McTighe, Chairman, 
WYG plc, said:
“As announced separately today, Douglas 
McCormick has been appointed as Chief Executive 
Officer to succeed Paul Hamer who is taking up 
the post of Chief Executive at Sir Robert McAlpine 
Limited. We thank Paul for his fantastic service over 
the past nine years during which time he has led 
the Group’s return to growth and profitability. He 
leaves WYG with a strong new leadership team, 
improved governance and culture, a robust order 
book and a healthy pipeline of major projects with 
long-term structural funds and institutions with 
which we have strong relationships. 

“We welcome Douglas McCormick whose 30 years’ 
experience in the construction industry, most 
recently as Chief Executive Officer of Sweett Group 
plc, provides the Company with strong leadership in 
the next stage of its development as it makes the 
most of the wealth of opportunities presented by its 
chosen markets.” 
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INTRODUCTION
WYG has delivered a strong performance overall with a 14% 
increase in revenue, a 17% increase in adjusted profit before 
taxation and an improvement in operating cash inflow in the 
year, meeting management’s revised expectations at the time 
of our trading statement on 23 March 2017. 

This significant growth and improvement in both profitability 
and cash generation was delivered despite project deferrals 
and delays in the mobilisation of new awards, leading to a 
weaker than anticipated profit performance in the fourth 
quarter, demonstrating the breadth and resilience of the Group. 

This marks the first year in which WYG has delivered double 
digit revenue growth since its refinancing in 2011. WYG today 
is a fundamentally different organisation: it is a growing 
and resilient business generating quality revenues from its 
core strengths in front-end consultancy and international 
development. We have committed funding, talented new 
operational leadership, and a healthy pipeline of major projects 
with long-term structural funds and institutions with which 
we have strong relationships. We expect the organic growth 
delivered this year to continue and we look forward with 
confidence to the next chapter in WYG’s development.

STRATEGY
Our strategy is to grow by developing and serving the 
markets for our consultancy and international development 
expertise through an appropriate blend of organic investment 
and selective acquisitions, whilst recognising the risks and 
opportunities presented by a dynamic global market and 
political environment. 

We have recently finalised a new strategic growth plan for 
the Group which aims to consolidate our position as a trusted 
adviser to our clients whilst ensuring the business has an 
efficient, agile and resilient structure. We are already underway 
with a number of initiatives: 

• Improving the Group’s agility by putting in a new structure 
that positions WYG to generate and rapidly respond to the 
most attractive opportunities presented by our clients’ needs 
as they navigate the current uncertain and dynamic global 
market and political environment

• Driving efficiencies by rationalising our office portfolio, 
harnessing technology to improve the quality of delivery 
and reducing costs and headcount in certain areas, whilst 
retaining capacity to deliver on our growth opportunities

• Enhancing the resilience of our business by deepening and 
diversifying client relationships, being focused and selective 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

in our investments and prudently exiting from lower return 
activities, such as HR consulting in Poland, whilst also 
broadening the reach of our MENA business beyond Turkey.

A key element of this plan is bringing together those parts 
of our business, both UK and international, which operate in 
related technical services fields to create one Consultancy 
Services business stream, headed up by newly appointed 
Jeanne ‘JC’ Townend. JC is an American-born growth and 
leadership strategy expert who has brought 25 years’ 
international experience managing major consultancies to the 
new role. 

By engaging with clients at the onset of a project, often in  
the earliest stages of feasibility studies, our Consultancy 
Services business is ideally positioned to advise clients on how 
to create value from their investments and assets. We are 
then well placed to advise clients how to protect the value in 
those assets and to manage risks through the full life-cycle of 
a project.

The other principal business stream is our International 
Development business, based around our unique skills and 
experience of the management and delivery of complex 
programmes in challenging environments. The International 
Development business is led by Jesper Damgaard, who was 
recently appointed and brings over 20 years of international 
and consulting experience to WYG. Jesper, a Danish national, 
has worked across Europe, UAE, Middle East and Asia Pacific 
for his entire professional life, and will make a significant 
contribution to our emerging commercial strategy and help us 
to build a more integrated and valuable business. 

The strategic growth plan harnesses the specialist skills from 
across our business, bringing the improved focus required to 
address the major challenges of climate adaptation, energy 
planning, major infrastructure projects, water management, 
mass migration and the UK housing shortfall.

RESULTS
Revenue (including our share of Joint Venture revenues) for the 
full year was up 14% to £151.8m (2016: £133.5m). Revenue 
in the second half was up 7% to £78.3m compared with the 
first half of 2017 (£73.5m). The slower growth in the second 
half reflected the previously reported delays and deferrals that 
impacted us in the final quarter. 

Adjusted operating profit increased by 22% to £8.8m (2016: 
£7.2m) representing an increased adjusted operating margin 
of 5.8% (2016: 5.4%). This was constrained by the cost of 
increasing capacity in the final months in anticipation of work 
that did not materialise. Adjusted profit before tax was up 17% 
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to £8.2m (2016: £7.0m), reflecting the very strong improvement 
in profitability year on year. On a statutory basis, the Group 
made a profit before tax of £1.6m (2016: £2.2m) after £4.0m 
of costs associated with restructuring the business in line with 
the strategic growth plan and the closure of certain Polish 
operations. Diluted earnings per share adjusted for separately 
disclosed items were 11.9p (2016: 9.8p). On a statutory basis, 
earnings per share were 3.3p (2016: 4.0p).

As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s order book stood at £145m 
(31 March 2016: £150m; £143m on a like for like basis). Since 
the year end, recent project wins totalling c.£50m have been 
confirmed, significantly boosting the Group’s order book 
meaning that, despite the significant increase in turnover 
last year, we have continued to replenish the order book 
at a steady rate. As a result, the order book for work to be 
undertaken in the current year gives a strong basis for current 
year growth expectations. 

The Group closed the year with net debt at 31 March 2017 of 
£2.5m (31 March 2016: net cash of £0.2m) after payment of 
£2.3m in deferred consideration for acquisitions. This reflects 
a significant improvement in operating cash generation with 
an inflow before legacy costs and restructuring costs, and 
investments of £5.0m (2016: outflow £0.6m).

BANK FACILITY
Our £25m committed multi-currency revolving credit facility 
with HSBC offers the Group broad flexibility between debt and 
bonding requirements. It runs until June 2020 and ensures we 
have the resources with which to fund our planned growth.

DIVIDEND
In March 2017, we paid an interim dividend of 0.6p. Subject to 
the approval of shareholders at the AGM, a dividend of 1.2p 
will be paid on 3 October 2017 to ordinary shareholders on the 
register on 8 September 2017, bringing the overall dividend for 
the year to 1.8p per ordinary share (2016: 1.5p), representing a 
20% increase and reflecting our strong adjusted profit growth 
and positive outlook.

The Financial Results are discussed in more detail in the Strategic 
Report and set out in full in the Financial Statements.

BOARD CHANGES
We are delighted to announce today the appointment of 
Douglas McCormick as Chief Executive Officer. His appointment 
will take effect from 12 June 2017, on which date Paul Hamer 
will step down from the Board to take up a prestigious new role 
at Sir Robert McAlpine. 

Douglas has over 30 years’ experience in the construction 
industry, and was until recently Chief Executive Officer of 
Sweett Group plc, managing approximately £90m of revenue 
and over 1,500 staff across 18 countries. During his 18 months 
in the role Douglas established a period of improved stability, 
creating significant value for shareholders. Previously, Douglas 
was Group Managing Director, Rail, Atkins (UK), managing 
more than £200m of revenues and over 1,700 staff across the 
UK, India and China. 

Douglas is a Fellow of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors and holds an MSc in Construction Management and 
a BSc in Quantity Surveying. In addition, he was until recently 
a Commissioner for the UK Commission for Employment and 
Skills, and is a non-executive Director of the Institute for 
Collaborative Working.

Paul joined the Group in July 2008 and was appointed Chief 
Executive Officer in March 2009 to oversee the transformation 
of WYG. He led the business through two major financial 
restructurings in 2009/10 and 2011, returning the Group to 
profitability and a period of significant growth. Paul has  
helped to create a client focused organisation with a new 
operational structure and strong business leadership team, 
designed to deliver the five-year growth strategy recently 
endorsed by the Board. 

The Board would like to pay tribute to the work that Paul  
has done at WYG and to thank him for his fantastic service  
over the past nine years. His leadership has been key to the  
successful turnaround of the business and its return to  
growth and profitability; we wish him well in his new role  
at Sir Robert McAlpine.

As announced on 30 January 2017, I am also pleased to 
confirm that Jeremy Beeton, currently the Senior Independent 
Non-executive Director, will succeed me as Chairman with 
effect from the conclusion of the next AGM.

This change marks the fulfilment of the long-term succession 
planning process on which we embarked in 2015 in anticipation 
of the fact that I would shortly be coming to the end of the 
maximum nine year period during which I could be considered 
an independent non-executive director.

Jeremy joined the board as a non-executive Director in  
October 2015. He has more than 40 years’ international 
business experience including in government, corporate, 
project management, construction and facilities management.  
Details of Jeremy’s other directorships and his CV can be  
found on page 46.
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THE UK’S EU REFERENDUM
As an organisation that contracts directly with the EU, we are 
mindful of the challenges presented by the outcome of the UK’s 
EU Referendum and the ongoing uncertainty surrounding its 
eventual implementation. To date we have seen no material 
impact on financial performance from the decision. Our 
international business model is robust and agile and our UK 
and international subsidiaries have continued to win work with 
the major international finance institutions and other clients. 
In the run-up to the EU Referendum we undertook a review of 
the potential impact that a vote to leave the EU would have on 
the business and we have taken steps to ensure that our model 
remains appropriate and resilient. Nevertheless, we continue to 
keep the issue under very close scrutiny.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
In addition to Brexit, there are other geo-political uncertainties 
that could affect WYG’s performance and, as we saw this year, 
programme deferrals on existing contracts and delays in the 
confirmation of new contracts present an ongoing risk to WYG’s 
expectations of its performance.

We regularly review our approach to risk management and  
we take steps to ensure that we attract, develop and retain  
the right people with the appropriate skills to identify, collate 
and manage business risk. We regularly review risks to  
ensure that emerging risks are captured, appropriate 
mitigations are in place and that we learn from our  
experiences around the Group.

A fuller assessment of the risks and uncertainties that could 
impact the business is set out in the Strategic Report.

THE ANNUAL REPORT
In the Strategic Report we provide a description of the 
business, the environment in which we work, our strategy and 
business model for creating value for shareholders, as well as 
a more detailed review of our performance, analysis of our 
results and a description of the risks to the business and the 
KPIs against which we benchmark our performance.

In the Corporate Governance section we provide further 
detail on our corporate responsibility activities, the statutory 
Directors’ Report and Directors’ Remuneration Report together 
with information on the key Board committees.

The Financial Statements and Shareholder information 
section (including the Notice of Annual General Meeting) 
follow a similar format to previous years.

PEOPLE
The positive results set out in this report are a testament to the 
skills and hard work of our employees, including all those new 
staff who have joined WYG in the past 12 months. On behalf  
of the Board I would like to thank them all for their dedication 
and contribution.

CURRENT TRADING AND OUTLOOK
Trading in the current financial year is in line with the Board’s 
expectations, with good revenue growth coming though in the 
UK where we have already successfully secured two major new 
framework contracts with UK government agencies.

We continue to believe that our UK business will benefit from 
the opportunities flowing from our public and private sector 
clients as a result of ongoing economic growth, a dynamic 
global and political backdrop and the agility we offer, enabling 
us to win business from larger competitors. UK government 
and infrastructure spending, which are the main drivers of our 
front-end planning and consultancy business, have remained 
resilient albeit with the process of formalising some contractual 
commitments temporarily curtailed by the UK General Election. 
However, we were encouraged by the proposals contained in 
the Autumn Statement and the Spring Budget and all the UK’s 
major political parties appear committed to continued increases 
in the level of infrastructure spending.

Internationally, the scale of the opportunity in all our target 
markets continues to grow. We are well established with 
market leading local businesses in Poland, Croatia and Turkey, 
each of which can access the pipeline of opportunities as 
EU funds continue to be deployed under the current multi-
annual financial framework. The outlook for our international 
development business in Africa and Asia also remains very 
positive and, after a period of intense bidding activity, we have 
recently achieved some very significant wins. With further wins 
expected, we envisage sustained growth across the region. 

Overall, the opportunities we are seeing in our core 
consultancy services and international development markets, 
combined with our initiatives to drive efficiency and resilience 
across the Group and a good level of order book cover, leave 
us in a strong position from which to deliver continued growth 
in the current year.

MIKE MCTIGHE 
CHAIRMAN, 6 JUNE 2017
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WYG is an award-winning professional  
services firm employing around 1,600 people 
and operating from more than 50 locations 
across the UK, Europe, Africa, Asia and the 
Middle East. 

We are driven by client service and underpinned by technical 
excellence. We help create value, protect value, and  
manage risk. 

We are the partner of choice for organisations operating in 
complex or challenging environment.

We serve our clients through two distinct business streams:

• Consultancy Services provides bespoke specialist teams to 
offer high value technical services to the domestic markets in 
which we operate. 

• International Development builds on our existing 
strengths to optimise the value of projects in collaboration with 
government and donor agencies, promoting socio-economic 
stability, trade development and unlocking the potential for 
sustainable development among local communities. 

Our aim is that through proactive management consultancy 
we can identify opportunities for our clients, and drive their 
decision-making process to manage risks, inform investments, 
create value, and develop assets.

ACROSS THE GLOBE 
We follow our clients wherever their ambition takes them, often 
operating in volatile geographies and uncertain circumstances. 
Working on some of the most sophisticated projects across the 
globe, WYG finds the very best local partners to work with on 
projects to ensure that it understands and has the ability to 
influence positively the local communities it works with.

We are committed to selecting the best equipped people for 
each assignment. We do our utmost to keep them safe, secure 
and healthy no matter where the work takes them. We call 
this our duty of care and it enables us to work in the most 
challenging environments.

Working with government and donor clients to create stability 
and support restructuring following change or post-conflict 
continues to be a strong focus for the Company.

WYG also works to ensure that the world’s growing population 
is served with the necessary energy and water infrastructure 
whilst minimising carbon impact and climate change. This 
challenge is faced by developed, emerging and less developed 
economies alike.

The business is an expert in developing infrastructure related 
to population expansion, urbanisation and transportation as the 
world seeks to become super-connected. 

We ensure we deliver the very best value for our clients by 
providing excellent service, not just excellent services.  
We’re committed to delivering the same client experience no 
matter what the type of project by ensuring our individual 
business streams, divisions and practices work together at  
a strategic level. 

WYG takes this commitment to clients very seriously. It is a 
people business, and by investing in training and resource for 
our people, and combining that with a respect for and ability 
to work as partners with our clients, we are able to make a 
difference on our projects. You can find testimonies to this in 
our case studies throughout this publication.

WYG AT  
A GLANCE
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PROJECT SPOTLIGHT: UK

Wellesley Urban Expansion

Named after the Duke of Wellington, Arthur Wellesley, the aim 
of this comprehensive urban expansion is to create a whole 
new district to the north east of Aldershot. Our project, cost 
and safety management experts have been supporting the 
developers, Grainger, to implement this ambitious scheme since 
they obtained planning permission.

Using the surplus of military land once known as the Aldershot 
Garrison, Wellesley will include 3,850 new homes and 2 primary 
schools along with all the necessary amenities and transport 
connections to allow the area to thrive. The development 
includes the refurbishment of a number of large listed buildings 
such as the Military Cambridge Hospital which will be converted 
as part of the project.

As health and safety adviser and principal designer for the 
scheme we have been able to influence the construction designs, 
methods and working standards from an early stage. Amongst 
our many duties we are also managing the discharge of planning 
conditions as well as preparing programmes and cost plans to 
ensure that the scheme stays on schedule and within budget.

http://www.wyg.com/projects/wellesley-urban-expansion-aldershot
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PROJECT SPOTLIGHT: EAA

Public Procurement Reforms in The Gambia
The public procurement system of The Gambia has been developing and evolving since 2001, 
especially in terms of the legal, regulatory and institutional framework. Although the existing 
procurement system was one of the best in West Africa, there was still considerable space for 
improvement to bring it closer to international best practice. 

Accountability and Transparency 

This €1.2m, EU funded project aims to provide technical 
and advisory services to support an effective and timely 
implementation of Public Financial Management (PFM) reforms 
in the area of public procurement. It is part of a wider effort 
undertaken by the Government of The Gambia to implement 
PFM reforms to enhance accountability and transparency in  
the use and management of public resources.

Overseeing Reforms 

Over the two year period of the project (from February 2015 
to January 2017), we have reviewed the legal and regulatory 
framework; supported improvement of Gambia Public 
Procurement Authority (GPPA) capacity in order to strengthen 
monitoring and controls; revised procedures; and supported 
capacity building at the level of the procuring organisations.  
The ultimate result of this has been to ensure the effective 
operation of the PFM and procurement system at all levels of  
the public sector.

Activities designed and implemented by our experts  
have included:

• a two week study tour to Botswana and Kenya to exchange 
experiences and lessons learned during their reform process 
with counterpart institutions

• conducting a competence assessment of officials in procuring 
organisations from across the Gambian public sector. This 
“competency based training needs assessment” was carried 
out as a preliminary step towards supporting capacity building, 
one of the target results of the project

• delivering a week-long intensive training course in Procurement 
Audit Techniques. This tailor-made seminar focused on 
delivering specific project objectives to improve capacity for 
both the GPPA and procuring organisations

• a two-day training course for 25 staff of the Ministry of 
Health and Social Welfare. Topics covered during the two-day 
training included procurement process, principles, contract 
management, ethics, as well as how to fight against corruption 
in procurement.

Image: Ministry of Interior training on procurement audit
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PROJECT SPOTLIGHT: MENA

Technical Assistance for the 
‘Handmade in Hatay’ Operation

The Hatay province in southern Turkey has a rich art history, 
particularly as it is home to a large collection of Roman mosaics, many 
of which provide inspiration to the beneficiaries of this project. 

Our experts working in this region are providing technical assistance 
for the Hand Made in Hatay project, aimed at contributing to 
the socio-economic development of the area by increasing the 
competitiveness of the handmade wood processing artisans and small 
and medium-sized furniture manufacturers.

Training opportunities were available to increase knowledge and 
skills, while helping to identify the consultancy services required. 
The Joint Production Centre was established to provide service for 
all manufacturers to enhance their competitiveness in the market. By 
having access to machines with advanced technology and capacity, 
they can manufacture higher quality products at higher volumes and 
lower costs.

A strategic marketing and branding plan was produced from 
evaluations of the current situation, contributions of craftsmen and 
expectations of the target audience. From this a “From Motif to 
Collection” catalogue was prepared creating a corporate identity 
of the brand, with digital and social media channels supporting the 
promotion of both the brand and products.

http://www.wyg.com/investors/shareholder-information
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STRATEGIC 
REPORT



To the members of WYG plc
This Strategic Report has been prepared for the WYG group as a 
whole and therefore gives greater emphasis to those matters which 
are significant to WYG plc and its subsidiary undertakings when 
viewed as a whole.

STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT
WYG is a global project management and technical consultancy with an in-house team 
of c.1,600 specialists. WYG is also able to draw on a network of over 20,000 partners, 
associates and contacts from around the world to form the teams its clients need to 
make their asset creation and international development project ambitions come to life. 
We help to create value, protect value and manage risk. We are the partner of choice for 
organisations working in complex or challenging environments. In the year to 31 March 
2017, WYG generated revenues of £151.8m on which it made an operating profit before 
separately disclosed items of £8.8m. As at 1 June 2017, WYG had a market capitalisation 
of £70m. WYG’s ordinary shares are traded on AIM.

STRATEGY & OBJECTIVES
Our aim is to deliver shareholder value and drive growth across the business by 
implementing our strategy of developing and serving the markets for our consultancy 
and international development expertise through an appropriate blend of organic 
investment and selective acquisition, whilst recognising the risks and opportunities 
presented by a dynamic global market and political environment. 

In March 2017, the Board finalised a new long-term growth strategy which aims over 
the next five years to develop WYG’s strong reputation for being a professional services 
firm underpinned by technical excellence. We want to be known for our ambition 
and commercial acumen in pursuit of profitable, sustainable growth. At the heart of 
this value driven strategy is a focus on: combining the strengths of our consultancy 
services, international development business and strategic advisory capability to 
generate optimum value for our clients, create an integrated value proposition; delivering 
sustainable growth; and improving margins.

Our strategy is built around interdependent key themes which include making our 
presence, growth and profile in London a priority. The other themes are: generating a 
new higher value service mix, promoting ever greater integration of the business and 

1 Cautionary statement

This Strategic Report has been prepared solely to provide information to shareholders  
to assess how the directors have performed their duty to promote the success of  
the Company.

The Strategic Report contains certain forward-looking statements. These statements are made by the 
directors in good faith based on the information available to them up to the time of their approval of this 
report and such statements should be treated with caution due to the inherent uncertainties, including 
both economic and business risk factors, underlying any such forward-looking information.

www.wyg.com 12

http://www.wyg.com
http://www.wyg.com/investors/shareholder-information
http://www.wyg.com/investors/shareholder-information


continuing to reduce the amount of high risk, low value work 
in our portfolio. Finally, given that we are people-focused 
business, we aim to the destination of choice for talent across 
the industry.

We are already underway with a number of initiatives: 

• improving the Group’s agility by putting in a new structure 
that positions WYG to generate and rapidly respond to the 
most attractive opportunities presented by our clients’  
needs as they navigate the current uncertain and dynamic 
global market and political environment

• driving efficiencies by rationalising our office portfolio, 
harnessing technology to improve the quality of delivery, 
and reducing costs and headcount in certain areas, whilst 
retaining capacity to deliver on our growth opportunities

• enhancing the resilience of our business by deepening  
and diversifying client relationships, being focused and 
selective in our investments and prudently exiting from  
lower return activities.

A key element of this plan is bringing together those parts 
of our business, both UK and international, which operate in 
related technical services fields to create a single Consultancy 
Services business stream, headed up by newly appointed 
Jeanne Townend. Jeanne ‘JC’ Townend joined WYG as 
Managing Director of Consultancy Services in November 2016. 
JC has 25 years’ experience in leading consultancy businesses 
on large-scale growth, implementation of strategy and 
managing mergers and acquisitions. Before joining WYG, she 
led the Europe and Asia region of ICF International, a $1.1bn 
NASDAQ-listed management consultancy and previously led a 
major consulting units in Energy, Environment & Infrastructure, 
and Health & Social Policy. JC also serves on the Board of the 
not for profit Fedcap organisation, based in New York City, 
which helps people with barriers to employment find jobs and 
gain financial independence. She has received a Certificate of 
Recognition for her contribution to the Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change’s award of the Nobel Peace Prize. She holds 
a Master’s Degree in Economics from Brown University in the 
United States. 

The other principal business stream is our International 
Development business, based around our unique skills 
and experience of the management and delivery of complex 
programmes in challenging environments less those elements 

which have been absorbed into Consultancy Services. 
Jesper Damgaard was appointed Managing Director of the 
International Development business in February 2017. Jesper 
has almost 25 years’ international and consulting experience, 
having held senior positions at SMEC and COWI. Jesper speaks 
five languages; he is a Chartered Engineer and a Fellow of the 
Institution of Civil Engineers and holds an MSc degree in Civil 
Engineering from the Danish Technical university. 

This plan harnesses the specialist skills from across our 
business bringing the improved focus required to address the 
major challenges of climate adaptation, energy planning, major 
infrastructure projects, water management, mass migration 
and the UK housing shortfall. 

We keep our strategy under review to ensure that it remains 
appropriate and focused.

JEANNE ‘JC’ TOWNEND

Managing Director 
Consultancy Services

JESPER DAMGAARD

Managing Director 
International Development
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THE BUSINESS MODEL

WYG is a multidisciplinary provider of front-end (programme, 
project management and technical) consulting services with 
an increasingly global presence. Client profiles, workflow and 
service delivery models differ between our Consultancy 
Services and International Development markets but 
both reporting segments are positioned to align as closely as 
possible with their respective markets. 

Development of the natural, social and built environment is 
the common thread running through the range of consulting 
services that we offer. Consultancy Services, especially 
in more mature regions such as the UK, focuses on asset 
creation and enhancement through our traditional planning and 
development disciplines - especially for infrastructure, urban 
and environmental projects.

We commit our resources to winning places on key framework 
agreements and then maximising the opportunities arising 
from them. We look to increase value for our clients by 
uniting our own technical and economic expertise with that of 
chosen partners and then integrating complex supply chains 
of small and medium-sized enterprises to ensure we offer a 
comprehensive solution to clients’ problems. 

Our International Development business focuses 
more on policy and institutional advice and planning for 
the implementation of international development funding 
programmes, usually for external agencies. We seek to grow 
revenue and profitability by positioning the International 
Development business in markets where governments and 
international finance institutions have made strategic, budgeted 
commitments, such as countries in Africa. We continue to enjoy 
a leading position in a number of EU funded programmes and 
our well-developed presence in Poland, Croatia and Turkey 
ensures that we are able to bid and deliver major projects 
across the whole pre- and post EU accession life cycle. 

Where we are exposed to particular risks, whether of scale or 
due to the geo-political risk environment in which a project 
is to be delivered, we adopt project-specific risk mitigation 
measures and we take a portfolio approach to ensure that 
the under-performance of one project is mitigated by out-
performance on others.

WYG comprises a number of limited companies (or equivalent) 
within a structure headed by WYG plc. However, at the 
operational level, the Group is now structured around two 
principal business streams: Consultancy Services and 
International Development. Each business stream has 
its own support services and can draw on the expertise of a 
central bidding team to enhance the prospects of successfully 
winning selected opportunities.

WYG at every
stage of the

financing cycle

STRATEGY
FOR GROWTH

PROJECTS 
TO MEET 
OBJECTIVES

ACCESS TO
RESOURCES

DELIVERY

EVALUATION

EVIDENCE
FOR POLICY

Direction is provided by the WYG plc board of directors, who 
set the Group Strategy and through:

• the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) which comprises the CEO, 
CFO, Executive Director – People & Infrastructure, Executive 
Director - Strategy and Corporate Development, Executive 
Director - Business Development & Bidding plus the Managing 
Directors of each of our business streams

• Leadership Teams comprising the Head of the relevant 
business stream, its Finance Director and others by  
invitation. These teams meet monthly or more often as 
required and report to the executive directors at monthly 
Accountability Reviews and, in more depth, at Quarterly 
Performance Reviews. 

The seven core market sectors we serve, which are 
defined by reference to our clients, are: Defence & Justice, 
Energy & Waste, Environment (including water and waste 
water), Transport, Mining & Minerals, Urban & Commercial 
Development, and Social Development & Infrastructure. 

The Consultancy Services business is organised into three 
divisions and a business support group. Each division has a 
head who sits on the Consultancy Services Operations Board.

The divisions are: 

• Planning & Advisory Services 

• Asset & Project Management 

• Infrastructure & Built Environment 
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We use a variety of approaches to charge for services 
including: hourly rates, cost plus, lump sum or fixed price 
contracts, or a mixture of these. Fees may be billed on 
completion of the project (usually the smaller ones), at fixed 
intervals or upon the achievement of certain milestones. 

For larger projects (where significant mobilisation costs may 
be incurred) we may seek an advance payment whether or not 
secured by a bond. Throughout the Group we emphasise the 
importance of cash generation and the effective management 
of working capital. In particular, we place a heavy emphasis on 
seeking to reduce our working capital days, one of our primary 
financial KPIs. Our other financial and non-financial KPIs are 
described in more detail below.

In delivering services to our clients we commit to working hard 
to get to know our clients and what drives them so that we can 
go beyond basic levels of service and deliver something that is 
truly valuable. We strive to be creative and to build long-term 
client partnerships. We seek always to operate in accordance 
with our business principles as well as the detailed policies and 
procedures of the Group. 

We have a clearly articulated Commercial Development and 
Operating Process (CDOP) which is a framework for decision 
making and project management. A robust CDOP is essential 
for a professional services firm with multiple professional 
disciplines and markets such as ours, because it helps us to 
mitigate risk thereby creating sustainable profits and cash 
to reinvest in the business, to re-invest in our people and to 
create value for our shareholders. 

The executive directors also comprise the Investment 
Committee. The purpose of the Investment Committee  
is to:

• ensure a strategic view is maintained of any consents 
requested from WYG’s main board 

• review and challenge any matters reserved for the  
approval of the main board or the Investment  
Committee itself including:

• major bids

• where WYG main board approval is required,  
make recommendations to the board

• other out of budget investment proposals 

• ensure that effective governance arrangements are  
in place throughout the Group.
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

MAIN TRENDS AND FACTORS
The outlook for the global Support Services sector continues 
to appear positive. Despite some wider meta-trends including 
Brexit, the strength of the Eurozone, US politics, slowing 
growth in China, wider geopolitical instability and terrorism, 
accelerating climate change and cyber insecurity, our own 
core markets show no signs of slowing down. The demand for 
consultancy services, both in the UK and overseas, continues 
to be very strong and the business is growing as a result. 

CONSULTANCY SERVICES 
In the UK, chiefly as a result of the Brexit debate and General 
Election, short term economic indicators are uncertain, but 
the underlying economy appears strong and few of the direst 
predictions of the pre-referendum debate have come to 
pass. Increasingly the focus has turned to the opportunities 
identified as arising from Brexit such as reduced regulatory 
burdens, greater trade freedom and an increasing focus on 
infrastructure, education and skills. While there may be less 
focus on the former Chancellor’s Northern Powerhouse and 
more on maintaining London’s place as a truly global centre, 
devolution generally continues to be high on the agenda.

The emphasis on major infrastructure projects shows no sign 
of abating. Specifically, the 2016 Autumn Statement contained 
welcome announcements on proposed UK government 
spending through the creation of the £23bn National 
Productivity Investment Fund. The majority of the fund will be 
targeted at housing and transport to accelerate new housing 
supply and ensure the UK’s transport and digital networks 
are fit for the future. Not only are both these sectors firmly 
aligned with WYG’s core areas of competence in planning and 
transport planning, they feed our other disciplines including 
environment, and urban and landscape design. We anticipate a 
significant number of new opportunities when specific projects 
utilising the £7.2bn construction budget are decided and key 
clients, such as the Homes and Communities Agency and many 
local councils, look to businesses like WYG with a strong track 
record of delivering major programmes of work. 

Other infrastructure projects announced or confirmed in recent 
months and in which we have an interest include HS2 and 
the rail link between Manchester and Leeds, funds earmarked 
for road improvements, and flood defence schemes. These 
and other projects provide significant direct and indirect 
opportunities to provide expert technical consultancy services 
in all our practice areas. 

There were more than 150,000 new build house starts in  
2016, the second highest number since 2007, with seven out of 
12 regions showing growth. The government is committed to 
increasing the number, rate of building and construction quality 
of new homes. Our planning teams are currently working on 
over 100 major housing schemes across the UK which have  
the potential to deliver c. 130,000 new homes with most of 
these sites, if permitted, contributing to supply within the  
next five years. 

Connecting our residential expertise and broad portfolio 
of defence-related work, the Defence Estate optimisation 
programme, announced in November 2016, under which 91 
sites will be released to development to provide land for up 
to 55,000 new homes and raise almost £2bn for investment 
in the remaining estate, is already generating significant new 
opportunities for us.

Long-term programmes arising out of the last Strategic 
Defence and Security Review 2015 and the change of  
emphasis brought about by Brexit look set to be an ongoing 
driver of work for WYG. The UK government’s reaffirmation  
of its commitment to continue spending 2% of GDP on defence 
and 0.7% of Gross National income on overseas development 
makes the UK the largest military power in Europe and the 
second-largest international bilateral aid donor. Our position 
on key frameworks with the UK Foreign & Commonwealth 
Office (FCO), World Bank and the Department for International 
Development (DfID) means that we should benefit from 
continuing commitment to the overseas development aid 
budget through the Conflict Stability and Security Fund, the 
Prosperity Fund and the Good Governance Fund for Eastern 
Europe and the increased funding for climate change resilience 
in developing countries. In the government’s annual report 
on the SDSR, the challenges caused by unprecedented levels 
of unmanaged migration were explicitly recognised and 
the government’s desire to promote controlled, legal, safe 
migration resonates closely with our International  
Development business’s programmes.

We are also encouraged by the announcement of new money 
for Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), particularly as the 
largest proportion of the spending will be directed to the UK 
regions where we have a strong footprint and excellent links 
with many of the LEPs. We believe that the UK government’s 
support for devolution, which will transfer significant budgets 
and responsibility to the local level, will be beneficial as we are 
well positioned in most of the regions where devolution deals 
have been agreed or announced, not only in the residential 
housing sector but also in transport, masterplanning, green 
energy and other vital components of city and regional plans.
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INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
WYG’s International Development business works for a range 
of private, national and supranational public sector clients across 
its international development markets.

The availability of project and programme funding is the main 
business driver for most of our overseas operations so the seven-
year EU budget – the Multi-annual Financial Framework or MFF 
2014-2020, which was approved in December 2013, is of particular 
relevance to WYG. This authorises spending of up to €960bn, with 
a strong emphasis on budgetary discipline, boosting growth and 
creating jobs which resonates well with our core areas of technical 
expertise in public financial management and the delivery of 
economic, social and technical assistance programmes.

EU finds are distributed through:

• the European Social Fund (ESF), which focuses on improving 
employment opportunities, promoting social inclusion and 
investing in skills by providing the help people need to fulfil 
their potential

• the European Regional Development Fund, which supports 
research and innovation, small to medium-sized enterprises 
and the creation of a low carbon economy

• the Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance (IPA), described 
in more detail below

• the European Development Fund (EDF), which provides 
development aid to African, Caribbean and Pacific countries. 
The EDF is not funded from the EU budget but from direct 
contributions from EU Member States, as such, the EDF does 
not fall under the MFF 2014-2020.

WYG’s International Development business, which 
accounted for c.31% of WYG’s revenue in FY 2017, provided 
some resilience during the UK downturn. Conversely, in 
2015/6, largely due to the delay in signing the MFF 2014-2020, 
we saw a decline in overseas revenue from EAA and Turkey 
whilst the UK provided stability and growth. The integration 
of our predominantly UK Consultancy Services business 
and International Development business, under the WYG 
umbrella, seeks to maximise value for shareholders by being 
sufficiently agile to follow the major funding streams that 
drive our growth. This approach also gives us good defensive 
characteristics.

One element of the MFF 2014-2020 is the Instrument for Pre-
Accession Assistance (IPA). IPA I had a total budget of some 
€11.5bn; its successor, IPA II, will build on the results already 
achieved by dedicating €11.7bn for the period 2014 to 2020.  
Of this sum, €4.4bn has been allocated to Turkey.  

These funds are designed to help the beneficiaries make 
political and economic reforms, preparing them for the rights 
and obligations that come with EU Membership. They also 
help the EU achieve its own objectives regarding a sustainable 
economic recovery, energy supply, transport, the environment 
and climate change. The other beneficiaries are Albania, Bosnia 
and Herzegovina, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, 
Kosovo, Montenegro and Serbia. We have offices and/or 
projects in all of these countries. 

We are seeing signs that EU funding is starting to move away 
from supporting a heavy infrastructure in well developed 
countries such as Poland and towards the sort of education, 
employment and social cohesion sectors supported by 
the European Social Fund. This, in part, has informed the 
restructuring of this part of our Polish business.

Africa continues to present significant opportunities for the 
Group, specifically in support of the UK government (through 
the Department for International Development (DfID)), The 
World Bank and other international funding bodies. Both DfID 
and EDF have substantial budgets committed to development 
in Africa and we and our partners have an excellent track 
record of delivering major projects for them. 

A continuing challenge for us is to ensure that the critical 
support systems we need to fulfil our duty of care obligations 
to employees and associates are in place, robust and 
responsive. We continue to invest in the expertise and 
resources to make this possible. They enable us to deliver 
projects in Libya, Somalia, Nigeria and other countries where 
the quality of our duty of care arrangements has been 
recognised as excellent by our clients and partners. 
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OTHER TRENDS AND FACTORS
Consolidation in the consultancy services market has continued 
with announcements in the past 12 months including SNC 
Lavalin’s offer to acquire Atkins and Japanese consultancy 
CTI Engineering making an offer for Waterman Group. The 
drivers for these mergers: low interest rates, strong long-term 
estimates of future workloads, a return to higher margins 
and the emerging development of the consultant-contractor 
hybrid suggest that international operators still perceive value 
in both the UK market and a broader exposure to Europe 
and infrastructure. We remain of the opinion that our best 
route to optimising value for all stakeholders is by continuing 
as an independent group, and we consider that our portfolio 
of UK and international work allows us to make the most of 
global opportunities, while keeping the associated risks to a 
reasonable level.

Competition for the best opportunities is intense. Our 
traditional competitors such as Mott Macdonald, Aecom, and, 
albeit under new ownership, Atkins, Turner & Townsend, 
Waterman Group etc have been joined by the high-end 
management consultancies such as PwC, KPMG and  
McKinsey. This presents challenges, for example in terms 
of competition for the best staff and wage inflation but also 
opportunities given that our track record in these spheres 
extends back almost 25 years, we operate from a lower 
cost base and have a better developed local presence in 
key markets than many of them. Indeed, on many of our 
international development projects our competitors are often 
keen to partner with us to leverage our references, expertise 
and local presence. Competition for talented individuals to 
deliver the opportunities offered by our buoyant markets 
is especially fierce - and we have developed our in-house 
resourcing team to meet this challenge. 

In the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 6 we set out 
our views on the implications of the UK referendum on the 
question of membership of the EU.
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Increased risk  

No change since 2016

Decreased risk

Risk Potential impact Mitigation Trend

International risk

Risks associated with conducting 
business in different jurisdictions 
around the world include: economic, 
social or political instability, 
fluctuations in currency exchange 
rates, changes in foreign laws and 
challenges presented by the outcome 
of the UK’s EU Referendum.

Ability to collect cash in a timely manner. WYG mitigates a major part of this risk by 
contracting mainly with UK, European and other 
governments and international finance institutions, 
meaning that business, contractual and payment 
risk is minimal.

Employees undertake training in working cash cycle 
management and establish relationships with clients 
in order to help improve cash collection.

Significant movements in foreign 
exchange rates could affect sterling 
profits and the values of assets and 
liabilities on the balance sheet which are 
valued in foreign currencies.

Despite fluctuations in exchange rates, the Group 
does not at present consider it necessary to 
hedge such investments since the majority of its 
operational income and expenditure is incurred in 
the same currencies, notably the Euro.

The possibility that UK registered  
entities will no longer be eligible to 
bid for certain EU-funded contracts or 
may be considered less commercially 
acceptable bidders.

In the run-up to the EU Referendum we undertook 
a review of the potential impact that a vote to 
leave the EU would have on the business and we 
have taken steps to ensure that our model remains 
appropriate and resilient.

Working in fragile and conflict affected states

We operate in some countries where 
there is a heightened risk of crime, 
kidnap, terrorist related activity and 
potential exposure to disease. In 
some cases, the Group works for or 
alongside Government agencies  
which may afford greater protection 
but can also increase our risk of  
being targeted.

Increased security and health risks for 
staff working on projects abroad.

The Group has extensive safety and security 
policies and procedures in place, a dedicated and 
experienced security team and technological  
back up.

Delays, deferrals or cancellations of 
projects for reasons outside the  
Group’s control.

The Group has contracts in place which enable  
it to track, support and provide medical and  
security advice (including, if necessary,  
emergency repatriation) to all its employees  
on a worldwide basis.

The Board is responsible for determining the 
Group’s risk appetite and tolerance levels  
to see that robust procedures for risk  
management are in place.

As detailed in the Strategy and Objectives section above,  
and the Corporate Governance section below, the Group  
has established a number of internal controls to manage  
its risks effectively.

The Audit & Risk Committee has delegated authority from 
the Board to oversee and review the effectiveness of this 
risk control framework. The Committee has adopted a Group 
Heat Risk Map that is updated regularly by the executive 
management team and is reviewed by the Committee 
periodically. All risks are categorised according to potential 
impact and probability in order to determine the Group’s 
exposure, and action plans are created accordingly.

The key risk areas potentially impacting on the business are  
set out in the table below:

PRINCIPAL RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES
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Risk Potential impact Mitigation Trend

Security and crisis

Global political instability, acts of terror, 
natural disasters and opportunistic or 
serious crime across a full spectrum of 
operational areas constitutes a dynamic 
and long-term threat to our staff, premises 
and IT infrastructure.

Direct and indirect risks to 
staff, business continuity, 
clients and other contractors as 
well as the potential for brand 
and reputational damage to  
the Group.

The Group has a well-established framework of 
security and crisis response planning to address 
and mitigate the risks and threats it may encounter. 
We monitor, respond, improve, train and test our 
security and crisis planning through a process 
of continual assessment which is overseen by a 
Security Committee.

Market risk

The Group’s core markets continue to 
be susceptible to economic changes and 
market volatility.

A new, substantial downturn in 
one of our key markets, or in a 
number of markets at the same 
time, could have an adverse 
effect on the Group.

We mitigate this risk by keeping our direct and 
indirect exposure to each of our markets under 
close review and by implementing bespoke strategic 
plans to ensure a balanced portfolio.

Reductions in the number of 
opportunities increase pricing 
pressures and reduce our 
operating margins.

The Group benefits from the spread in sector 
and geographical diversity which provides some 
protection against market changes in specific 
countries or sectors.

Government and EU spending

Each of the Group’s core market sectors 
is heavily influenced by variations in UK 
government spending programmes and, 
in the case of the international business, 
the spending programmes of the EU and 
various overseas governments and other 
international organisations.

The unprecedented public 
sector cuts generated by 
the UK government’s major 
spending reviews since 2010 
have impacted adversely 
upon the Group’s activities 
and caused uncertainty for its 
future revenues. Significant 
new reductions in UK 
government or EU spending 
affecting sectors on which the 
Group relies could have an 
adverse effect on the business.

We have expanded our growth into international 
markets in order to create a balanced risk portfolio.

Following the UK general elections in 2010 and 
2015, major public spending cuts were introduced. 
The majority of those have now been  
implemented or announced and our business  
model adjusted accordingly.

To overcome the peaks and troughs of the EU’s 
seven year budget cycle we continue our efforts to 
diversify in our core overseas markets.

Key customers

Certain of the Group’s revenues are 
dependent on it being designated an 
‘approved supplier’ by a number  
of customers.

There can be no guarantee  
that the Group will retain  
this status.

The Group seeks to mitigate such risks by ensuring 
that it has an ongoing dialogue with these 
customers and by monitoring closely its business 
relationships with them.

Large, complex and potentially loss making contracts

WYG undertakes a number of large, 
complex projects, some with tight margins 
and others that are subject to factors 
outside our control.

Under-performance on a major 
contract or series of contracts, 
whether or not due to factors 
within WYG’s control, could 
cause significant financial loss 
and/or reputational damage to 
the Group.

CDOP, WYG’s operating process, is a robust 
internal framework for decision making. It sets out 
detailed, mandatory project management principles, 
progress reviews and authority limits at each stage 
of a contract from bidding, through inception to 
completion and lessons learned. 

We also mitigate this risk by taking on a balanced 
portfolio of such projects to ensure that a significant 
loss on one is offset by being on target or 
outperforming on the others.
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Risk Potential impact Mitigation Trend

Bribery and corruption risk

The Group operates in certain 
countries where the inherent risk of 
bribery and corrupt practices is  
higher than in our more established 
stable markets.

Exposure to such practices may 
lead to loss-making contracts 
and an adverse effect upon the 
Group’s reputation elsewhere.

We have a clearly defined ethics and anti-bribery policy 
which is supported by training and internal checks.

Litigation risk

WYG operates in a number of 
markets in which there is an  
inherent risk of claims for alleged 
professional negligence.

In common with its competitors, 
WYG receives professional 
negligence or similar claims on an 
ongoing basis.

The Group is insured against the majority of professional 
negligence claims and seeks to mitigate the risks of such 
claims through its internal processes and controls.

Key employees

The Group’s success depends, to a 
significant extent, on the continued 
services of its Directors and senior 
management team who have 
substantial experience in the industry 
and in their specific roles.

The loss of members of the senior 
management team and of other 
suitably qualified employees could 
be detrimental to the business.

We mitigate these risks through succession planning, our 
overall performance and reward programme and our share-
based incentive scheme for senior management under 
which, among other things, participants agree to extended 
restrictive covenants.

Resourcing

In certain of our sectors, increasing 
market strength has impacted 
upon the employment environment 
resulting in increased competition  
for talented specialists and higher 
salary expectations.

Higher staff turnover rates and 
the loss of associated knowledge.

Loss of associated clients.

Failure to attract and retain high 
quality staff impacts the ability of 
the Group to win contracts and 
grow the business.

We use a range of staff recruitment and retention  
methods including social media, raising awareness of 
our employer brand, re-launching our employee referral 
programme and increasing the ratio of direct hires to 
agency hires. We conduct regular reviews of salary and 
benefits, benchmarking and realigning them as required  
to ensure that we continue to attract and retain high  
calibre individuals.

Acquisition integration

An important element of the Group’s 
growth strategy consists of making 
selective, niche acquisitions.

Unforeseen difficulties in the 
integration of acquisitions  
could result in increased  
expense, loss of customers, 
decline in profitability, and 
disruption to the Group which 
could reduce the value to the 
Group of the acquisition.

We conduct a thorough structured due diligence process 
before making acquisitions. 

We aim to negotiate terms which provide protection  
against underperformance including earn outs, clawback 
and appropriate warranty and indemnity protection.

As part of any acquisition we adopt an integration process 
which addresses areas such as systems integration, 
client management, Group wide processes and controls, 
management of internal and external communications,  
staff consultation and regular management reporting.

We review acquisitions after they have been integrated  
into the Group to ensure that we can benefit in future from 
any lessons learnt, both negative and positive.

Health and safety

Involvement in the construction 
industry (including, for example, 
working at height, underground, 
trackside, airside or close to  
heavy machinery) gives rise to  
health and safety risks for both  
our staff and third parties.

Risk to staff, clients and other 
contractors as well as the 
potential for reputational damage 
to the Group.

The Group aims continually to improve its health and safety 
performance and has well established accident reporting 
procedures and processes in place to mitigate such risks. 
These are overseen by the Security Committee.
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A significant proportion of our business is 
based on social and environmental projects. 
We believe that our work in these fields helps 
to embed a culture of corporate responsibility 
throughout the business and that the high 
proportion of our business that is directly 
focused on social, environmental and ethical 
outcomes delivers benefits for our clients, 
employees and other stakeholders.

We understand that sustainability needs to be embedded in  
our own business strategies, decision making and practices  
at all levels and to that end, the Board, its committees and  
the operational management of the business routinely take  
account of social, environmental and ethical risks and 
opportunities in their decision making. 

Further details of our approach to Corporate Responsibility, 
including employee welfare initiatives, are set out in the 
Corporate Responsibility Report set out below on  
pages 40 to 44 of the Annual Report.

RESPONSIBLE TRADING
As a global business, our people are expected to be aware of, 
and give proper consideration to, all cultures and economic 
groupings including disadvantaged and vulnerable adults and 
children. We seek to comply with the laws and regulations of 
the countries in which we operate.

We continue to seek closer engagement with our suppliers so 
that together we can reduce the impact of our supply chain on 
the environment, particularly with regards to travel, transport 
and office products. We aim to work with suppliers who are 
also environmentally aware and can demonstrate sustainable 
practices. We manage this through a careful selection process, 
as part of which our suppliers must complete an evidence-
based pre-qualification questionnaire. We check some of the 
answers independently and audit suppliers periodically.

CO2 EMISSIONS
We continue to make a significant effort to make energy 
savings and emissions reductions through the individual office 
energy management plans introduced in 2011/12. Although we 
have seen a decrease in overall CO2 emissions in the year, this 
is chiefly due to the closure of business premises from previous 
year acquisitions. 

We publish our CO2 emissions and energy consumption data in 
detail in the Corporate Responsibility Report rather than in 
this section of the Strategic Report since the Board is of the 
opinion that the nature of WYG’s business is such that this  
data is not materially significant to the economic decisions  
of shareholders.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
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EMPLOYEE DIVERSITY

WYG is committed to recruiting and retaining 
the best available employees and we believe 
that encouraging diversity amongst our 
workforce helps us to achieve this. Our aim 
is that our workforce will be representative 
of all sections of society and each employee 
feels respected and able to give their best. We 
believe that diversity will ensure we deliver our 
best to our clients.

WYG is also committed to providing equality 
and fairness for all in our employment and 
not discriminating on the grounds of gender, 
gender reassignment, marital status (including 
civil partnerships), race, ethnic origin, colour, 
nationality, national origin, disability, sexual 
orientation, religion or age. 

This year we have continued to fund 
membership of a group of our female 
employees to the Women’s Leadership 
Association. We have given new employees 
access to this group to build a strong pipeline 
of senior women managers to improve our 
gender balance at a senior level. 

We have also signed up to the National 
Equality Standard (NES) which is a 
groundbreaking initiative that sets clear 
equality, diversity and inclusion criteria 
against which we can assess and measure 
our continuous improvement to demonstrate 
our commitment to equality and diversity. We 
have recently completed the NES Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion Audit and the findings 
overall were very positive, with a small number 
of areas for us to focus on and develop in the 
coming months.

We are preparing for the gender pay reporting 
requirements from 2018.

New Recruits
Men 165  Women 66

71.4%

28.6%

Board 
Men 6 Women 0

Senior Management 
Team 1  Men 7  Women 2

Total Group
Men 969  Women 599

2016
Men 1,033  Women 563
Men 64.7% Women 35.3% 61.8%

32.2%

77.8% 22.2%

Subsidiary Directors 2  
Men 20 Women 5

80% 20%

100% 0%

1 Excludes two men who are also on the WYG plc main Board.
2 Excludes members of the WYG plc main Board and members of the Senior Management Team who are also  
  directors of trading entities which are included in consolidation.
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Last year’s strong growth in order book has been successfully 
converted into much improved revenue, especially in the UK 
and MENA. Our UK business produced double digit growth in 
revenue for the third year in a row. However, margins slipped 
chiefly as a result of having geared up to deliver several 
major programmes of work that were expected to commence 
in the last four months of the year but were then delayed. 
Frustratingly, it was our higher margin service lines that saw 
the greatest incidence of project delays. Although the business 
acted quickly to reduce costs and overheads, and defer some 
planned investments in the final quarter, it proved impossible to 
make up the lost ground by the year end. 

In addition to the strong revenue growth in the year, the UK 
was very successful in generating new orders which underpin 
expectations for the current financial year. The quality of, and 
client satisfaction with our work, has also been recognised with 
a number of awards and nominations including, for example, 
National Grid’s Most Innovative Property Project.

Competition for suitably qualified staff remains intense, so 
our timely investment to develop a resourcing team to attract 
skilled employees has been repaid. More than 80% of all new 
starters are now recruited by our own team, meaning that we 
pay significantly less in external recruitment fees.

WYG operates through four sub-regional businesses in EAA: 
Central and Eastern Europe (CEE), South East Europe (SEE), 
Africa, Asia and Rest of World (ARM). In CEE, project delays 
and weaker performance in the HR Consulting business which 
offers job search facilities, placement and counselling facilities 
to the unemployed, has meant we have undertaken further 
restructuring of the Polish business, discontinuing two lower 
margin/return lines of business and refocusing on our core 
strengths of technical and socio-economic services.

SEE and ARM performed strongly. Overall therefore, our EAA 
Region generated an increase in operating profit despite 
slightly reduced revenues. Major long-term programmes such 
as the Infrastructure Projects Facility in the Western Balkans 
are the mainstay of the business and, shortly after the year 
end, we received confirmation that we had been appointed 
to a number of large, long-term programmes in Africa. These 
programmes, which are complemented by our Monitoring & 
Evaluation and Public Financial Management services (ensuring 
that international donors get value for money), mean that the 
medium to long-term outlook for our international development 
business remains very positive. 

In MENA, we saw the positive impact of good operational 
gearing such that an 80% increase in turnover from £13.2m 

BUSINESS 
PERFORMANCE
REVIEW OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS
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to £23.8m led to an increase of approximately 10 times in 
operating profit to £3.0m (2016: £0.3m).

Just after the year end, we were especially pleased to 
receive confirmation that we have won a place on the Crown 
Commercial Services two year £2.9bn consultancy framework 
under which UK government customers can access project 
management, design and advisory services to support the 
delivery of their property and construction projects. The 
framework is initially for two years though this can be extended 
in one year increments up to a maximum of four years. We 
estimate that the framework could be worth up to £3m per 
annum over the duration of the framework.

We were also pleased to receive confirmation that the Defence 
Infrastructure Organisation (DIO) has awarded us the contract 
to be the DIO’s preferred Principal Support Provider for new 
projects in both the Central and Southern regions of the 
UK. DIO is an arm of the UK Ministry of Defence (MoD) and 
plays a vital role in supporting our Armed Forces by building, 
maintaining and servicing the UK’s defence infrastructure. 
DIO is primarily responsible for implementing the estate 
optimisation plan, the sale of sites associated with that plan 
and, more broadly, investing in the estate to make it more 
efficient and better able to support the UK’s military capability. 
Recently DIO decided to move to a Regional Commissioning 
Model (RCM). The amendment to our existing PSP framework 
is initially for one year but can be extended in one year 
increments up to a maximum of three years. We estimate that 
our expanded Delivery Partner role under the new model could 
double our existing £12m per annum revenue in each of the 
next three years.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
Operationally, the Group was structured and reported 
throughout the financial year on a regional basis with the  
three regions being:

• UK 

• Europe (which includes CIS and Western Balkans), Africa & 
Asia (EAA)

• MENA (Middle East & North Africa including Turkey). 

Going forward, we will report in line with our new 
organisational structure:

• Consultancy Services – this will include all our UK activities 
and those parts of our international business which operate in 
similar technical services fields and comparable markets i.e. 
Poland and Bulgaria 

• International Development.

UK 71%

EAA 13% MENA 16%

GROUP REVENUE BY REGION
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UK
71% of Group revenue, strong performance 
impacted only by Q4 slowdown

The UK region generated a 12% increase in revenue to 
£107.6m (2016: £96.3m). However, operating profit before 
separately disclosed items at £9.1m was 12% behind the 
previous year (2016: £10.3m) due mainly to the fact that we 
had invested to deliver several major programmes of work 
that were expected to commence in the last four months of 
the year but were then delayed. We acted quickly to review 
and reduce costs and overheads, and deferred some further 
planned investments in the final quarter. Unfortunately, it 
proved impossible to make up the lost ground by the year  
end, without detrimentally impacting our ability to resource 
growth in 2018.

The continued underlying growth in our UK region has been 
achieved with strong organic performances across almost 
all of our service lines, plus the full year impact of last year’s 
strategic acquisitions. Among other notable framework and 
project wins:

• We have been appointed to frameworks to provide multi-
disciplinary services to Transport for Greater Manchester, 
Transport for London and a number of other Combined  
and Local Authorities meaning that we are also well placed to 
benefit from planned local infrastructure investment.  
Our reappointment to a four-year framework by National  
Grid Property extends our relationship with this key client  
to 25 years.

• In the residential sector, our core Town Planning practice is 
involved in several Garden Village schemes which we expect 
to be a key component of future housing provision in the UK 
and one in which we are ideally positioned to be a prominent 
adviser. For example, having already worked for Sigma 
Capital Group on more than 2,000 residential units over the 
last two years, they have engaged us to deliver a further 
1,000 residential units for the Private Rented Sector with sites 
in the North West, Leeds, Sheffield and Birmingham.

• In the higher education sector, we have delivered projects 
at universities in Belfast, Birmingham, Edinburgh, Keele, 
Lancaster, Leicester, Liverpool, Manchester, Surrey and 
Teesside, including the unique Birmingham Conservatoire. 
Our design teams also provide multidisciplinary engineering 
services on highly complex, research and development 
laboratory projects for both UK government and higher 

education clients. Notably, we have been appointed as Project 
Managers and Cost Managers for Ealing, Hammersmith & 
West London Colleges’ Hammersmith and Fulham Gateway 
Project which is the College’s largest and most ambitious 
project to date. The £200m redevelopment comprises a new 
college building, residential development, a new free school 
and a new higher education facility. 

• We are pleased to have been appointed to support James 
Fisher Nuclear Ltd in a four-year contract with Magnox to 
undertake decommissioning activities at the Winfrith Site, 
Dorset. Whilst at Sellafield, one of the world’s most complex 
nuclear sites, we have run the first unmanned aerial vehicle 
(UAV or Drone) flight within active areas of the site. The flight 
and subsequent surveying and engineering analysis of a key 
asset is estimated to have provided Sellafield Ltd with £100k 
of savings when compared with traditional methods and 
we expect this use of technology to be replicated on other 
strategically important and complex sites. 

• Our Facilities Management team now provide Compliance 
Consultancy services to Co-op across their entire retail food 
estate and the client has recently expanded our remit to 
their funeral care business. We have renewed our long-term 
framework with the Royal Mail Group to provide asbestos 
consultancy services and extended this key relationship to 
include Construction Design and Management and Principal 
Designer services, and Health & Safety consultancy services.

These strengthening relationships and strong indications that 
the UK Government, regardless of party, is committed to 
significant new infrastructure spending, increasing the housing 
stock and upgrading and extending the life of key strategic 
assets – the core drivers of our business - through the National 
Infrastructure Plan, give us good reason to be very optimistic 
about our growth ambitions in the coming years. 

A resilient economic environment in addition to these clear 
long-term drivers mean that our clients remain willing to 
unlock investment because they are more confident of positive 
outcomes. As a result, our order book has continued to grow, 
closing the year 3% up at £81.7m (2016: £79.5m) and has been 
boosted by the post year-end wins referred to above, giving 
confidence of another year of growth.
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CASE STUDY: UK
A new road/rail munitions 
transfer point for the DIO  
at Glen Douglas

Our design, project and construction 
management teams have provided the  
Defence Infrastructure Organisation (DIO)  
with a full multidisciplinary design service  
for a new Road/Rail Transfer Point (RRTP)  
to support the key operational outputs at  
Defence Munitions, Glen Douglas.

For this sensitive project, our services included assessment 
study, derived and detailed designs, acting as commercial 
project manager in the delivery of the design and  
procurement phases, and subsequently managing the  
project through construction to handover and into operation.

Certainly one of the most unique munitions storage bases 
in Western Europe, Glen Douglas has been in permanent 
operation since the 1960s. The RRTP is central to its function 
but the deterioration of the concrete-embedded rails meant  
the facility was withdrawn from operational service in early 
2011. A temporary road/road transfer system was set up 
pending provision of a new facility but it was imperative that  
a new RRTP was built to the necessary MOD and rail  
standards for licencing, as quickly as possible. The scope of works included demolition of all existing 

structures and, in addition to replacement of the railway 
tracks and hard standing, the construction of a new munitions 
transfer shed, locomotive shed, locomotive wash-down facility, 
and welfare facilities/operational office within the site.

To meet the stringent security, fire safety and blast resilience 
standards required of the scheme, our civil engineering, 
drainage and rail design specialists engaged fully with MOD 
experts and stakeholders. This collaborative approach 
ensured that the new facility was fully statutory compliant for 
an explosives licensed site whilst enabling a flexible design 
approach that accommodated several changes in requirements.

During the design phase we worked with the DIO to procure 
a Principal Contractor, and subsequently oversaw the delivery 
of the works during construction. Despite the complex nature 
of the facility and the challenging location, the project was 
delivered without delays and successfully handed over into 
operation in September 2016.

Images © Procter Photography
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EUROPE, AFRICA & ASIA
13% of Group revenue, good performance; Polish operations de-risked

In this region WYG operates through four sub-regional 
business units - Central and Eastern Europe (CEE), South 
East Europe (SEE), Africa, Asia and Rest of World (ARM). In 
the year, the EAA region generated revenue of £20.5m (2016: 
£23.9m), with an operating profit before separately disclosed 
items of £1.0m (2016: £0.7m).

Once again, our performance in the region was dominated 
by strong business performance and order book growth in 
SEE and Africa offset by weakness in CEE. In Poland, our 
technical services work is almost exclusively with Polish public 
sector organisations where the public procurement process 
is considerably more adversarial and frequently litigious than, 
for example, in the UK. We have also seen revenue in this 
part of the business decline significantly over the past three 
years – chiefly as a result of being at the low point of the 
seven year EU funding cycle. Despite making reductions to the 
cost base in Poland in each of the preceding two years, it has 
been necessary to carry out significant further restructuring. 
Going forward we will focus on strategic work in transport 
(primarily rail) and environmental projects. Our socio-economic 
business will be refocused on regional development projects 
in employment, education and economic development to take 
advantage of the change of emphasis towards, and expected 
increase in, European Social Funds. 

Following the change of government in Poland in 2016 and 
the establishment of a new Ministry of Energy there is now 
significant uncertainty over the future of the Polish nuclear new 
build project. Our ultimate client, PGE, have terminated their 
agreement with the original main contractor and our immediate 
client has reviewed its own involvement in the project. Against 
this backdrop, and with no clear visibility on future revenues, 
we have scaled down our core project team until the position 
becomes clearer. 

The aggregate financial impact of our restructuring in Poland, 
including making provisions against specific projects (including 
the nuclear new build project) is approximately €3.3 million. 
Going forward, we believe that the restructured business in 
Poland does have a viable future. It is being managed within 
our wider Consultancy Services business stream meaning that 
greater support can be provided not only for technical services 
but also in terms of central administration and back up.

In other parts of EAA, we have had a year of further expansion 
both in terms of regional footprint and service offering. 
Order book has seen significant growth in contracts won and 
now stands at £46m (2016: £40m), an all-time high for our 
International Development business. Our Project Preparation 
Facility capability (WBIF) has expanded as we secured the 

€13m IPF 5 project – which has been in operation now 
since June 2016 and is expected to double in value later this 
year. Going forward we’ve developed a strategy to push our 
infrastructure project preparation and ConnecTA offering, 
which has been so successful in the Western Balkans, into 
other regions - most notably in MENA and Africa.

Our Public Financial Management (PFM) practice has continued 
to secure significant contract wins in West Africa: the 
most significant was the second phase of the Public Sector 
Accountability and Governance Programme in Nigeria with 
an overall value to WYG of c.£6.5m. We have also greatly 
strengthened our capability in East Africa opening a new office 
in Nairobi following important contract wins and awards in 
Transport, Training and Governance in Kenya, Tanzania and 
Somalia. Our state-of-the-art Duty of Care provision puts us in 
an excellent position to be able to work safely in challenging 
environments and we will be building on this platform in the 
next year as new donor facilities move into MENA and Sub 
Sahara Africa, including the EIB and the EU Emergency  
Trust Fund.  

We have expanded our work with the Foreign and 
Commonwealth Office (FCO) and Department for International 
Development (DfID), and are now well placed for the award 
of high value and complex programmes with these important 
clients. Our Monitoring and Evaluation practice has continued 
to grow, and we are now able to extend into new middle 
income geographies having traditionally focused on developing 
countries in Africa and Asia. We expect to be able to build 
on the exciting opportunities in our Climate Change and 
Adaptation portfolio, where we have recently successfully 
concluded CRIDF1, a major climate resilience programme 
working across Southern Africa. In this regard, the recent 
announcement that we have been awarded a major new 
contract to deliver the Climate Resilient Infrastructure Facility 
2 (CRIDF2) is a very positive start to the current year. CRIDF 
is a major donor funded programme which has been operating 
since 2013 to improve the sustainable, equitable use of 
Southern Africa’s transboundary water resources. The facility 
aims to capitalise the development of projects that increase 
the ability of communities, policy makers and planners to 
cope with climate extremes. By doing so, it aims to contribute 
to peaceful, climate resilient and sustainable planning and 
management of Southern Africa’s shared waters, and generate 
current and future benefit for the region’s poorest.
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The Berlin High Level Conference on the Western Balkans, 
held in August 2014, introduced the concept of the EC 
Connectivity Agenda for the Western Balkans Region. 
The initiative (the “Berlin Process”) seeks to improve 
cooperation and economic stability within the region 
and reaffirm the region’s EU perspective. Connectivity 
is an important aspect of this process and it provides a 
framework for integration of the Western Balkan countries 
(WB6) at both regional and European level.

The connectivity agenda has therefore been made a top 
priority by the EU and the six Western Balkans countries 
(WB6) with a special emphasis on bringing energy and 
transport infrastructure projects to maturity whilst also 
supporting the implementation of regional transport  
reform measures, including road and rail maintenance,  
road safety etc. 

Working alongside lead partner Mott MacDonald, we are 
providing technical assistance as part of a connectivity 
project over an initial 48 month period. 

Energy Supply

As the EU is consuming and importing increasing quantities 
of energy the need for EU countries to pool their efforts, 
securing energy at an affordable price whilst generating the 
least possible pollution is widely acknowledged. The offer of 
collaboration is being extended to neighbouring countries as 
part of this project including those in the Western Balkans, 
which, in response, are establishing a regional energy 
market that will facilitate the extension of the electricity and 
gas networks. Adopting the common rules and strategies 
aligned to the relevant legislation applied across Europe will 
also form part of the improvements as will development of 
the relevant legal structure to ensure energy can be traded. 

Creating Transport Links 

In addition to the energy infrastructure improvements the 
existing Trans-European Transport Core Network (TEN-T 
core network) will be extended to the Western Balkans 
region to improve the transport network there. Transport 
in particular plays a crucial role in broadening access to 
health and education services as well as employment 
opportunities and social cohesion. The scope will involve 
road, railway and inland waterways as well as port 
infrastructure projects. There will also be a component of 
the project aimed at implementing reform measures on the 
new transport corridors.

CASE STUDY: EAA

Technical Assistance to 
Connectivity in the  
Western Balkans
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MENA
16% of Group revenue, excellent performance; 
progress diversifying the business

In the MENA region, we generated revenue of £23.8m (2016: 
£13.2m) with an operating profit before separately disclosed 
items of £3.0m (2016: £0.3m). These excellent results show 
that after almost two years of delays starting projects funded 
under the EU’s Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance (IPA) 
– a component of the Multiannual Financial Framework 2014-
2020 (MFF) – these projects are now coming through strongly. 
They also demonstrate that good operational gearing in this 
business generates excellent margins when the volume of  
work increases.

WYG MENA generates most of its revenue from socio-
economic, technical and engineering programmes, the 
majority of which are funded under the IPA. With more than 
78 permanent staff operating in and from Ankara and around 
40 project based staff, as well as a network of around 200 
associates working throughout the country and overseas, we 
continue to focus on our core strengths of socio-economic 
consultancy, where we are the market leader in Turkey, and 
technical services.

WYG’s socio-economic consultancy business works on an 
immensely diverse range of programmes, ranging from 
assistance with major government sponsored employment 
and education initiatives, social inclusion work, blood donor 
programmes, water education, through to projects to increase 
business competitiveness and promote ethical awareness. 
Whilst continuing its strong performance within Turkey, our 
socio-economic consultancy business has used this experience 
to offer WYG’s services into the Middle East. We were 
successful in winning a number of projects including a €3.6m 
project in Lebanon to advise on the reinforcement of the 
National Social Security Fund. 

Our technical services business maintains its market leading 
position in the water and waste water sector where we are 
delivering five major projects. We have also won our first 
large-scale project in the transport sector to work on Turkey’s 
National Transport Masterplan. We continue to make good 
progress diversifying our technical services offering into 
the ‘soft environment’ sector (e.g. climate change, agri-
environment) transport, renewable energy and other  
sectors, and on reducing our dependence on purely  
public sector clients. 

Our framework contracts team which manages the rapid and 
transparent recruitment of experts for short-term technical 
assistance services funded by, among others, the European 
Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) and the 
European Investment Bank (EIB) has seen us deliver projects 
all around the world including in Niger, Mali, Cambodia,  
Georgia and Rwanda.

Following a high level of conversion of our order book to  
revenues in the reporting year, our order book at 31 March 
2017 stood at £17.0m (2016: £24.3m) but business 
development activity remains high and we are seeing good 
momentum in winning new work. The proportion of our  
order book to be delivered in the current financial period is 
around 80% giving us good reason to believe we can maintain 
our growth in MENA through the current year and beyond.

CASE STUDY: MENA
Technical Assistance for Garment 
Training and Entrepreneurship 
Initiative (GATE for Women)
The provinces of Giresun and Ordu in the Eastern Black Sea 
region of Turkey have, for many years, relied heavily on 
agricultural production to sustain their economy. However, 
an increasingly prominent field of operation is now the 
textile industry where the need for qualified employees is 
continuously growing. 

Enabling the female workforce

Historically, the number of women in the Turkish labour market 
has been significantly less than men but, with jobs in textiles 
increasing, there is an opportunity to raise the importance of 
enabling women to become part of the workforce. 

We are therefore providing technical assistance to the Eastern 
Black Sea Development Agency (DOKA) to develop the vocational 
and entrepreneurial skills of women in the ready-made garment 
(RMG) industry. This vocational training consists of not only 
RMG construction but also business advisory services and 
entrepreneurship training taking into account the training and 
human resource needs of the companies that this will benefit. 

Training and awareness 

Various activities are being organised as part of the scheme 
including vocational training, development of a web-based RMG 
training tool, RMG-based sector research, establishment of an 
RMG business network and the organisation of awareness-raising 
events on the importance of women’s labour force participation 
and registered employment.

A picture paints a thousand words

A successful part of this awareness-raising has been the  
‘This is Women’ photography contest held between November 
2016 and February 2017. The aim of this competition was to 
show the contribution of women to economic and social life 
in Turkey through images. In total 1,087 photographers from 
68 provinces took part. Winner’s photos will be exhibited at a 
number of other events being staged as part of the project.
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‘Testici Çift (Potter Couple)’ © Serkan Daldal.
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The Major Projects Unit (MPU) continued 
its focus on supporting the delivery of large 
scale and complex programmes across the 
globe. The increasing amount of advisory 
work for government clients, multi-lateral 
donor organisations, investors and commercial 
organisations has developed our external profile 
with new clients bringing larger, more profitable 
projects. Our approach of ‘bid less, bid bigger, 
win more’ was measured using a KPI target to 
achieve a success rate of 50% by value against a 
set of strategic must win contracts. 

In support of “One HMG Overseas” we have 
positioned ourselves with strong industry 
partners in tendering for a place on the MoD, 
FCO and DfID PSP Overseas Framework. This 
contract would replace our existing Civilian 
Engineering Support Team (CEST) contract 
with the MoD and a variety of infrastructure 
frameworks with DfID and FCO. The CEST 
contract has seen us supporting military 
capability in Afghanistan, Saudi Arabia, Kenya, 
Bahrain, the Falkland Islands and the wider 
overseas defence estate. 

The MPU acted as facilitator for the business 
providing: technical excellence, duty of care  
and commercial training through our  
Commercial Development and Operations 
Process (CDOP). Going forward we see it 
assuming an even greater strategic advisory 
role, being more client facing, identifying and 
winning high value, high margin opportunities, 
acting as a trusted adviser in its own right and 
either drawing on, or acting as a conduit, to feed 
the two principal business streams.

MAJOR 
PROJECTS 
UNIT

PEOPLE

As at 31 March 2017, we employed 1,568 employees (2016: 
1,596). As we deliver our plans for growth in the coming year 
we expect to see employee numbers increase in a number of 
business areas in line with our strategic plan. 

The Board recognises that our people are our most important 
asset: they drive and deliver our performance. We greatly 
appreciate the personal and professional commitment they have 
demonstrated throughout the year. Working closely with our 
partners, our people deliver expert advice, technical assistance 
and project management to clients around the globe. Our work 
helps to change, shape and enhance the world’s landscapes, 
societies and economies. Therefore attracting, developing 
and retaining high calibre individuals is critical to the ongoing 
success of the business. Competition for talented employees is 
particularly intense in our sector so to provide an environment in 
which people can thrive, we have, during the past year:

• Improved internal communications channels with: 

• The Thread: a monthly electronic newsletter which has 
rapidly become a valuable source of information about 
individuals and activities around the business

• Quarterly team briefings: to share consistent messages, 
important knowledge and information on business 
performance with all employees personally, rather than  
in writing

• ASK WYG: a confidential channel allowing WYG employees 
to ask any question to any member of the leadership team 
and then be certain of an honest and timely reply with, in 
most cases, both the question and the reply being made 
available to all on the intranet. 

• Improved employee engagement: 

• A clear engagement strategy stressing our commitment to 
listen to employees and act on their feedback 

• Improved employee survey results in areas such as 
communication, compensation and reward and benefits

• BOOST social events: an initiative bringing together new  
and existing employees within a local office and allowing 
them to get to know one another around food, drinks  
and entertainment

• Launched an employee awards programme, which winners 
were awarded at Regional and Group level in the categories 
of Creativity and Innovation, Outstanding Client Care and 
Exceptional/Outstanding Contribution to the Business.

• Improved career development opportunities: 

• Introduced a new approach to performance management 
called ‘Performance Delivery’ which focuses on the outputs 
of delivery and moves from a ‘one size fits all’ approach to a 
‘one size fits one’ approach tailoring it to meet the needs of 
each individual
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• Continued our Graduate Development Programme: a 
36 month programme giving graduates the opportunity 
to learn how the business operates and develop their 
skills in key areas at the same time as progressing their 
professional development

• Following a successful pilot of 360o feedback, this has been 
rolled out across the Group to enable us to understand 
where our management strengths and opportunities to 
improve lie and to ensure we provide targeted learning  
and development activities to our managers

• We have continued to recruit and develop several 
apprentices into the business across a variety of roles  
and are supporting their progression towards their 
vocational qualifications.

• Improved benefits: 

• Continued to conduct regular salary and benefits reviews, 
benchmarking and realigning as required to ensure  
that we continue to be able to attract and retain high 
calibre individuals

• Developed and issued every individual with a total reward 
statement to ensure that they are aware of the true value 
of their benefits package

• With effect from 1 April 2017, moved to a new pension 
scheme which offers a wider range of investment options, 
easier access to more flexible retirement options and a 
lower scheme management charge which will benefit  
all members.

Given the competition for quality people and the challenging 
markets in which we operate, we have looked to use a range 
of resourcing methods such as social media and a digital 
marketing campaign to raise awareness of our employer brand. 
We have also re-launched our Employee Referral programme 
which is open to all WYG employees who successfully introduce 
a new member to the Group. Direct hiring has been a major 
focus to minimise recruitment spend. We finished the year on a 
89% rate of direct hires, up from 78% at the start of the year. 
A large number of recruits continue to be graduates who join 
in their chosen specialism and, given their importance to the 
ongoing success of WYG, we continue to run our successful 
Graduate Development Programme, nurturing and developing 
our graduates, as well as an Apprenticeship Programme that 
enables 16 to 18 year olds to join WYG across a range of 
disciplines and functions.

Additionally, we have been working hard to build on our 
partnership with the Ahead Partnership to work with secondary 
and feeder primary schools to promote our industry sector, and 
to mentor young people and educate them in respect of the 
types of careers available and the subjects and qualifications 
they need to attain in order to pursue a successful career in 
our industry. This work commenced in Leeds, Birmingham and 
London. We are now looking to extend this activity across all 
our key sites in the UK. Our strategy is about utilising multiple 
channels to source high calibre candidates and, wherever 
possible, to seek to grow our own talent and support them in 
achieving their career goals.

Image © Andrew Walmsley Photography
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AWARDS
This year our teams have maintained their strong track record for winning 
major industry awards demonstrating that our people continue to deliver work 
that is independently recognised as being outstanding. The awards include:

2016 Environment Analyst Business 
Excellence Awards

Best UK Large Firm Award

2016 Landscape Institute Awards

Highly Commended in the “Communication 
and Presentation” category for work 
designing and delivering masterclasses 
and training events on the “Guidelines for 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, 
3rd Edition” 

We have also been shortlisted for a number of prestigious awards including the Construction News Awards,  
NCE100 Awards, ACE Consultancy & Engineering Awards, RICS Regional Awards, Ground Engineering Awards  
and several regional RTPI Awards.

2017 NSi Gold Standard

Highest standard Gold approval from  
NSi for the provision of Life Safety Fire  
Risk Assessments 

RTPI North West Awards for  
Planning Excellence 2016

Collaboration Award for a new cultural  
centre in Chester 

2016 Planning & Placemaking Awards

Award for Stakeholder Engagement for a 
housing development for Linden Homes

2016 RSAW Awards

Welsh Architecture Award for the Welsh 
National Sailing Academy

British Expertise International Awards 2017

International Charity Project of the Year for our work supporting 
Community Action Nepal 

AIM Awards 2016

Best Investor Communication Award

2016 CN Group Business Awards

Business Person of the Year for Craig  
Hatch, Divisional Director, Asset &  
Project Management

2016 ICE Wales Cymru Awards

Sustainability Award for the Welsh  
National Sailing Academy

RICS Wales Awards 

Building Conservation awards for the 
Restoration of Cornerstone Chapel in  
Cardiff, Wales

ICE Yorkshire & Humber Annual Awards

Highly Commended in the Centenary award 
category for our work at Kirkstall Forge
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Including our share of Joint Venture revenues, revenue for 
the full year increased by 14% to £151.8m (2016: £133.5m). 
Revenue in the second half was up 7% to £78.3m compared 
with the first half (£73.5m). The slower growth in the second 
half reflected the previously reported delays and deferrals that 
impacted us in the final quarter. 

The proportion of international work has increased for the 
first time in three years, despite the significant increase 
in UK revenue. This is primarily the result of the excellent 
performance in MENA up almost 80% from £13.2m in 2016 
to £23.8m as EU programmes financed by the MFF 2014-2020 
finally started to mobilise. 

Adjusted operating profit increased by 22% to £8.8m (2016: 
£7.2m) and adjusted profit before tax was up 17% to £8.2m 
(2016: £7.0m), reflecting a very strong improvement in 
profitability year on year. In the second half of the year we 
achieved an operating profit before separately disclosed items 
of £5.9m (2016: £5.0m), more than double the £2.8m achieved 
in the first half. The improvement in adjusted operating 
margin to 5.8% (2016: 5.4%) was driven by a combination of 
better discipline at the project level together with continued 
improvements in staff utilisation and control of overhead costs 
and would have been greater had we not been impacted in 
the UK by the cost of increasing capacity in the final months in 
anticipation of work that did not start as planned. 

On a statutory basis, the Group made a profit before tax of 
£1.6m (2016: £2.2m) after £4.0m of costs associated with 
restructuring the business in line with the strategic growth plan 
and the closure of certain Polish operations. Diluted earnings 
per share adjusted to exclude separately disclosed items 
increased to 11.9p (2016: 9.8p). On a statutory basis, earnings 
per share were 3.3p (2016: 4.0p). 

The primary component of finance costs is the charges relating 
to our bond and banking facilities. Finance costs were up to 
£0.6m (2016: £0.2m) as we have increased our use of the 
HSBC facility and the utilisation of advance payment bonds to 
mobilise large programmes of international development work.

The Group still has significant losses brought forward in the 
UK meaning that it will pay a reduced rate of UK tax for the 
foreseeable future. We also generate profit in many of our 
overseas activities, upon which we pay local corporation tax. 

After payment of £2.3m in deferred consideration for 
acquisitions, the Group closed the year with net debt at 31 
March 2017 of £2.5m (31 March 2016: net cash of £0.2m). 
Demands on cash have included the planned application of 
£2.6m towards legacy issues (including ongoing commitments 
on unoccupied offices), dividend payments of £0.7m and 

£2.1m cash costs of restructuring within the Group. Despite 
the measures taken in the UK in the final quarter, we have 
also been able to maintain a steady level of capital investment 
in upgrades to our offices and IT over the year as a whole, 
leaving us well invested for the current year.

We remain focused on cash generation and the effective 
management of working capital – evidenced by the fact that 
cash conversion is a key performance target for the senior 
management team. Our working capital KPI on an ‘after fees 
in advance’ basis, improved to 78 days (2016: 81 days) against 
our KPI target of 76 days. Operating cash flow before legacy 
costs and investments at £5.0m (2016: outflow £0.6m) was 
very significantly improved. 

As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s order book stood at £145m 
(2016: £143m like for like after excluding the impact of Polish 
adjustments), ahead of the like for like figure at the same point 
last year. It comprised UK orders of £82m (2016: £80m) and 
international orders of £63m (2016: £64m). 

Since the year end, recent project wins totalling c.£50m have 
been confirmed, significantly boosting the Group’s order book 
meaning that, despite the significant increase in turnover 
last year, we have continued to replenish the order book 
at a steady rate. As a result, the order book for work to be 
undertaken in the current year gives a strong basis for current 
year growth expectations. 

PENSION SCHEMES
The Group has fixed residual liabilities in respect of one 
defined benefit scheme (the White Young Consulting Group 
Limited Retirement Benefit Plan (1986) (1986 Scheme)). On 
20 March 2015, the 1986 Scheme was transferred to the 
Financial Assistance Scheme and, in accordance with s161 of 
the Pensions Act 2004, is treated as having been wound up 
from that date. Under a Court approved settlement, we will 
pay £3.2m into the 1986 Scheme in instalments over 12 years. 
Other than this, WYG has no further liability to the 
1986 Scheme.

On 31 March 2016, the Group effected a buy-out of all of its 
liabilities in respect of the only other defined benefit scheme in 
the Group, the WYD Pension Scheme (WYD Scheme). Notice to 
trigger the winding up of the Scheme was given on 1 June 2016 
and the winding up completed on 31 October. The winding up 
resulted in the return of surplus to WYG of £0.5m net of tax in 
November 2016. As a result of these actions, WYG no longer 
has any exposure to defined benefit pension liabilities.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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TREASURY OPERATIONS
Our policy on treasury and financial risk is set by the Board 
and reviewed on a regular basis. The treasury risk faced by the 
Group includes credit risk and foreign exchange risk, details of 
which are in note 20.

It is our policy that we do not speculate in financial instruments 
or enter into speculative transactions. The types of financial 
instruments we use include internal cash resources, 
borrowings, bonds and receivable and payable balances arising 
directly from Group operations.

The majority of revenue and expenditure from operations is 
denominated in the same currency giving an effective hedge 
to relevant transactions. A proportion of our net assets is 
denominated in Euros.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
We identify and set key performance indicators (KPIs) at 
different levels throughout the business. At the Group level 
the main focus of our analysis is on the KPIs and performance 
measures the Board has set for financial performance, 
operations and growth.

Financial performance

Under this heading we assess our performance on revenue, 
profit and cash. We link executive directors’ pay to these 
financial KPIs through the bonus scheme (STIP) by  
setting specific targets relating to profit before tax and  
cash conversion.

Operations 

These KPIs include measures to assess order intake, utilisation, 
earnings per person and claims.

Growth

KPIs measured under this heading include: order book, 
international revenue, the split of international public and 
private work, and the conversion rates of expressions of 
interest to bids and bids to contract wins.

Within each business segment the metrics we use to assess 
KPIs can vary considerably, so we use a variety of methods 
to measure performance against the KPIs. For example, an 
acceptable level of order intake or earnings per person may be 
very different in a part of the business where we undertake a 
large volume of relatively small projects as compared with one 
where we work on a small number of very long-term projects. 

‘Traffic light’ reports are produced for monthly management 
meetings. Where concerns are identified, the Board requires 
targeted mitigating measures to be identified, put in place and 
reported upon.

In addition, we have KPIs for:

• Technical excellence - intended to measure and improve the 
technical quality of solutions and services we provide to our 
clients and measure our profile in the technical press.

• Leadership & Line Management - this is predominantly 
measured through our annual employee survey and through 
key indicators such as retention rates and feedback from 
leavers. Additionally, have rolled out 360° feedback across the 
group to enable more direct feedback to be provided to our 
leaders and line managers to assist with their development. 

• Staff Satisfaction – this is measured through a number  
of methodologies:

• our annual employee survey which looks to benchmark 
some of the following dimensions

• engagement

• compensation and reward

• line management 

• leadership

• communication

• employee turnover

• employee absence

GOING CONCERN BASIS
Having reviewed the Group’s budget, cash position, order book 
and the committed facilities available to it, the Directors have 
formed the conclusion that the Company and the Group have 
adequate resources to continue to operate for the foreseeable 
future after taking into account reasonably foreseeable risks 
and uncertainties relating to its business. For this reason, 
the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing these accounts.

WYG plc Annual Report & Accounts 201737



CONCLUSION
Overall, the Group delivered a very positive result with 14% 
growth in revenue, a 22% increase in operating profit and 
much improved cash generation although we anticipated a 
slightly stronger profit performance in this final year of our 
long-term recovery plan. It is difficult to overstate how far  
we have come since 2011 and we can be proud of what we 
have achieved.

The business has good fundamentals: under the new 
operational structure which is aligned to the five-year growth 
strategy recently endorsed by the Board; strong new business 
leaders; a good order book and favourable economic indicators 
for all our core, front-end planning and consultancy services, 
we are confident of continuing growth.

The Strategic Report has been approved by the Board and 
signed on its behalf by:

 

PAUL HAMER  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
6 JUNE 2017 

IAIN CLARKSON 
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
6 JUNE 2017
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE



CORPORATE 
RESPONSIBILITY
POLICY
At WYG we apply our skills to create a positive, sustainable future for our business, society 
and the environment. We define sustainability broadly, covering all of the social, environmental 
and ethical aspects of what we do to help our clients meet their own sustainability goals. We 
believe that sustainability needs to be embedded in our own business strategies, decision 
making and practices at all levels and to that end, the Board, its committees and the operational 
management of the business routinely take account of social, environmental and ethical risks 
and opportunities in their decision making.

BUSINESS ACTIVITY
A significant proportion of our business is based on social and environmental projects. During 
the past 12 months our consultants in the UK have, among other things:

• We have joined forces with transport consultant TTR and sustainable communications agency 
Diva Creative to deliver LoCITY, an industry led programme to improve air quality and reduce 
air emissions from commercial vehicles in London

• We are a signatory of the Armed Forces Covenant and have been supporting Armed Forces Day 
because we have a strong bond with the Armed Forces and a long-standing history of working 
alongside service personnel in difficult conditions

• We celebrated 10 years of decommissioning success as part of the Cumbria Nuclear Solutions 
Ltd (CNSL) consortium

• We were appointed on a four-year Environmental Framework for Translink and Belfast  
City Council

• Working on behalf of the DIO, alongside Wessex Archaeology, we helped uncover prehistory 
monuments, Anglo-Saxon graves and military features from WW1 and WW2 during pre-
development works on MOD land in Bulford, Wiltshire, which is earmarked for 227 new Army 
family homes.

Overseas, the majority of our work is to support international development agencies such as 
the EU, DfID, World Bank, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, and the Asian 
Development Bank. Our work has included:

• Further to the success of our collaboration with Community Action Nepal to facilitate the 
reconstruction of key infrastructure destroyed or damaged in the Nepal earthquakes, we have 
lent our skills to conduct a thorough assessment of a new auditorium at Marefat High School  
in Kabul, Afghanistan

• Improving the public transport system in Osh, Kyrgystan. This will include new infrastructure 
and new contactless smartcard system for passengers, which is the first of its kind in  
Central Asia. 

We have also continued our support of local improvement projects near landfill sites through 
the work of our not for profit company, Waste Management Research Limited, which provides 
assistance to landfill tax funds beneficiaries and landfill operators and has now handled more 
than 200 projects with a combined value of over £4.2m since it was established in 1996. 

We believe that our work in these fields helps to embed a culture of corporate responsibility 
throughout the business and that the high proportion of our business that is directly focused  
on social, environmental and ethical outcomes delivers benefits for our clients, employees and 
other stakeholders.
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SOCIAL VALUE
At WYG we are committed to the social value agenda and 
we are proud of our efforts and achievements in this regard. 
This is demonstrated by the range and scale of activities we 
undertake to ensure we have a positive social impact on our 
communities. In the past year our employees in the UK have 
undertaken more than 1,469 hours of volunteering activities on 
causes in our communities. 

We provide our people with up to three volunteering days per 
annum to support charities and worthy causes of their choice. 
This programme is about working with the local community, 
utilising their individual skills and capabilities to improve local 
communities and the lives of those who live there. We also 
provide ‘Make a Difference’ days, these are two fixed days per 
year where individuals and teams from within the organisation 
can get involved with either a national or local programme 
to support.

Another step towards increased employee satisfaction was 
the launch of the Race to Rio, an Employee Engagement 
campaign that took place over 65 days before the Rio Olympic 
Games. Employees were encouraged to walk, swim, cycle or 
row submitting their miles to reach a combined company target 
of 100,000 miles. Milestones led to information being shared 
about offices to educate employees about the wider business 
whilst charities also benefited from sponsorship and donations. 
The response was very high with an incredible 97,646 miles 
covered in 65 days. 

More information on how we seek to improve WYG’s employer 
value proposition to support candidate attraction and retention 
is set out in the Business Performance section of the Strategic 
Report under ‘People & Awards’. 

We have also: 

• gained FORS (Fleet Operator Recognition Scheme) 
accreditation - this encompasses safety, fuel efficiency, 
vehicle emissions and improved operations; and

• maintained low Accident Frequency Rates (AFR) and low 
Accident Incident Rate (AIR) RIDDOR figure.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
WYG continues to have a broad corporate social responsibility 
agenda. This year our people have not only been committed 
to contributing to the communities close to them but we  
have also been able to help the recovery in Nepal following  
the 2015 earthquakes. 

Our community engagement policy allows up to three days’ 
paid leave for employees undertaking community engagement 
initiatives. We have also matched the funds raised by our 
colleagues in a number of individual and office-based 
fundraising events for national and local charities, sponsored 
community-based events and local volunteering. Among the 
many initiatives this year we have:

• Supported the repair or rebuild of over 30 projects in Nepal, 
following ‘Building Back Better’ principles, through our 

work with the Community Action Nepal charity over the 
past two years. Our contribution earned us the International 
Charity Project of the Year Award at the 2017 British Expertise 
International Awards. 

• Inspired the next generations to our careers and advocated 
technical careers for young women by taking part in the  
Girl Tech event in collaboration with Ahead Partnership. 

• Inspired women to #BeBoldForChange in our global social 
media campaign to support International Womens Day.

• Used a volunteering day to rehabilitate the garden of 
the Sunshine and Smile charity in Leeds. The whole team of 
Environment experts gathered to create a sensory garden for 
the children with Down Syndrome and their families to enjoy. 

• Helped raise over £20k for the British Legion’s Poppy Appeal 
during this year’s Leeds Poppy Day. 

• Our NALO (noise, air, lighting, odour) experts in 
Leicester donated time and acoustic advice to help autism 
charity, ASPIRE: Lifeskills, locate to new premises. 

• Raised money for a number of charities as part of our 
Employee Engagement campaign, Race to Rio, which we 
saw our employees cover an incredible 97,646 miles over a 
period of 65 days. 

We are proud to say that we have many individuals within WYG 
that support our engagement with the community through 
volunteering their own time and expertise, undertaking 
activities such as:

• Performing the role of non-executive director for 
local charities

• Running and/or participating in local support groups

• Acting as school governor, treasurer or parent association 
members

• Participating in ‘getting ready for work schemes’ helping to 
prepare school leavers or ex-offenders for job interviews

• Managing local clubs such as scouts, brownies and  
sporting teams

• Managing international voluntary projects to ensure adequate 
healthcare for children in post-conflict affected areas 

• Undertaking sporting challenges to raise funds for the 
support of local and national charities.
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THE BRIBERY ACT 2010
Our procedures are designed to reflect the UK Government’s 
guidelines in relation to the Bribery Act: proportionality, top 
level commitment, proper risk assessment, due diligence, 
communication (including training), monitoring and review.  
Our guidance notes and other anti-bribery resources, which 
were thoroughly reviewed and updated in 2015, are available 
on our Group intranet and our ‘anti-bribery’ e-learning module 
has been completed by all of our employees who work in areas 
we consider to be high risk.

MODERN SLAVERY ACT 2015 – WYG SLAVERY 
AND HUMAN TRAFFICKING STATEMENT 2017
WYG plc and its subsidiaries (WYG) acknowledge that 
slavery and human trafficking represent gross violations 
of fundamental human rights. WYG fully supports the 
implementation of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and seeks 
to operate in such a manner as to ensure, so far as possible, 
that slavery and human trafficking do not take place within 
our business or supply chains. We recognise the importance 
of transparency in our approach to tackling these issues and 
expect the same high standards to be held by our contractors, 
suppliers and business partners.

WYG’s Structure, Business and Supply Chains

As a global programme, project management and technical 
consultancy with a turnover of c. £150m, WYG comprises a 
number of limited UK and international companies headed by 
WYG plc. Due to the nature of our national and international 
development business, WYG’s supply chains consist primarily 
of other professional service providers whose employees have 
qualifications and skills that are unlikely to be exploited through 
forced labour. We assess the risk of modern slavery and human 
trafficking occurring in our business to be low but we recognise 
that no organisation can consider itself immune or afford to  
be complacent. 

Our Policies on Slavery and Human Trafficking

WYG is committed to operating all aspects of our business in 
an ethical manner. Our Ethics Policy directly references our 
zero tolerance stance on slavery and human trafficking. Our 
Whistleblowing Charter also confirms that incidences and/
or suspicions related to slavery or human trafficking must 
be reported. These and other relevant policies are reviewed 
annually and published on our intranet to ensure wide 
distribution. They are also part of our compulsory induction 
process for new employees.

Due Diligence Processes for Slavery and  
Human Trafficking

Before they can start any work for WYG or on our behalf, 
our national and international suppliers are subject to strict 
checks to assess their compliance and suitability. Our Supplier 
Information Form and Pre-Qualification Questionnaires 
now directly enquire as to whether such organisations are 
covered by the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and, if they are, 

require them to provide a copy of their slavery and human 
trafficking statement pursuant to section 54(1). If they are not 
subject to the provisions of the Act, suppliers are required to 
provide details of their Modern Slavery Policy (or equivalent 
documents), any training or education offered and any due 
diligence processes they operate. The information received is 
scrutinised and further investigation taken where necessary.

Assessing and Managing Risk

Our risk management processes seek to ensure that 
particular areas of risk in our business and supply chains are 
identified and impact assessments undertaken prior to the 
commencement of projects. In cases where a specific ethical 
concern has been raised, the ethical issues, including any 
related to slavery and human trafficking, will be referred to and 
considered by our Ethics Committee prior to the approval of 
project work. 

Training

Given WYG’s limited risk exposure and our enhanced due 
diligence and other processes in place, we have decided not 
to implement specific training in modern slavery and human 
trafficking at this stage. However, in circumstances where 
we consider there may be particularly high risks, appropriate 
training will be developed and targeted at those personnel  
who may have direct exposure. WYG’s Ethics Committee will 
review this stance periodically.

This statement is made pursuant to section 54(1) of the Modern Slavery Act 
2015 and constitutes WYG’s slavery and human trafficking statement for 
the financial year ended 31 March 2017.
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HEALTH & SAFETY

RESPONSIBLE TRADING  
& CO2 EMISSIONS
We continue to make a significant effort 
to make energy savings and emissions 
reductions through the individual office energy 
management plans introduced in 2011/12.

The tables and charts below (which are calculated using the 
World Resources Institute’s GHG Protocol Tools including the 
International Energy Agency) illustrate our total greenhouse 
gas emissions in the UK and key overseas offices for the past 
five years, being the period for which we have usable data, an 
analysis of the key sources of those emissions, and the ratio 
of such emissions per square metre of UK office space. Water 
consumption is based on billed cubic metres of water used in 
UK offices: this is deemed low in significance and is omitted 
from reporting (due to reduction measures already in place).

CO2e (tonnes) emissions breakdown by method

1 Public transport is the mileage from journeys by train  
   (including London underground and metros) and air  
   travel (domestic, shorthaul and longhaul).
2 No air data is available for 2014.
3 Restated.
4 Provisional.

2

2016-174

2016-174

2016-174

2016-174

2016-174

UK utilities

Fuel cards

Overseas 
utilities*

Cars and  
vans

Public 
transport1

2015-163

2015-163

2015-163

2015-163

2015-163

2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

2013-142

2013-142

2013-142

2013-142

2013-142

747

66

4

690

1,437

824

322

24

1,061

1,620

722

360

18

799

1,903

668

560

11

771

1,510

Total emissions
CO2e (tonnes) 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

2,882
3,520 3,802 3,591

Accident and enforcement record
RIDDOR reportable accidents in the UK

Accident Frequency Rate (AFR)*

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

0.06 0.08 0.04 0.00

– –

– –

0.00

Environmental incidents/near misses
Reportable incidents in the UK

2011/12

–

0.09

*AFR = Total number of reportable injuries x 100,000

                             Man hours worked
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Total consumption (CO2e (kg) per m2)  
per fuel used in UK offices

1 Per square metre is based on the calculation of total energy against the Group’s UK property footprint. Energy consumption is based on billed Kwh usage of gas and electricity within UK  
  Offices and oil consumption in litres within UK Offices (in summer 2015 the Group ceased to use oil for heating within offices).
2 Excludes non-UK offices where data is unavailable.
3 Excludes fully serviced managed offices for which no data is available. These excluded offices are captured via landlord reporting in accordance with ESOS 2014.

1 Includes grey fleet and pool vehicles.
2 No air data is available for 2012-13 or 2013-14.
3 Restated.

Business mileage by method

2016/17

Fleet (cars and vans)1

Rail (Network Rail)

Air2

Total: 
7,739,672 miles

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

2,412,419 2,511,281 2,849,092 2,524,355

584,771 938,066

2,801,122

1,019,379

4,305,579

1,528,7813

2,305,689

4,106,597

1,327,386

Total: 
2,997,190 miles

Total: 
3,449,347 miles

Total: 
6,669,593 miles

Total: 
8,358,715 miles

BUSINESS MILEAGE BY METHOD
We collect data on our business mileage. The information in 
the table below is taken from UK company business mileage 
expense claims and fuel card data which provides the total 
amount of litres consumed. Public transport is the mileage  
from journeys by train (including London underground and 
metros) and air travel (domestic, shorthaul and longhaul).  
We have taken further steps in the past 12 months to  

improve the accuracy of this data. Despite our expanding 
business and international geographical footprint, we have 
succeeded in reducing our business mileage significantly. 
We have achieved this through our investment in better 
technology, greater use of that technology for meetings and 
placing greater emphasis on the importance of controlling  
costs and the impact on the environment.
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Mike McTighe 
Non-executive Chairman (63)

Mike McTighe was appointed to the Board in August 2009. He is currently chairman 
of Openreach, IGAS Energy plc, Gortmullan Holdings plc, Together Financial Services 
Limited and Arran Isle Holdings Limited. Until 31 December 2015 he was a member of 
the Board of Ofcom. Previously he was Chairman and CEO of Carrier I International 
S.A. and before that Executive Director and Chief Executive Global Operations of 
Cable & Wireless plc.

Paul Hamer 
Chief Executive Officer (48)

Paul Hamer has been Chief Executive Officer of WYG since March 2009, having joined 
from VT Group Plc, where he held the position of Managing Director of VT Nuclear 
Services. Paul has over 25 years’ experience in executive business management, 
leadership and project delivery. Previous roles include Director of Projects, BNFL 
Environmental Services where he was responsible for the decommissioning of all the 
UK’s civil nuclear sites and Director of Projects (UK & Europe) with Costain. He has 
also held several senior positions in the contracting, oil, chemical and petrochemical 
sectors. Paul is also a board member of the Leeds City Region LEP and is Chairman of 
the Green Economy Panel which is tasked with delivering a world-class, low  
carbon economy for the region. Paul is a Fellow of The Royal Institute of  
Chartered Surveyors.

Iain Clarkson 
Chief Financial Officer (50)

Iain joined WYG in June 2016. Previously he was Finance Director for Amec Foster 
Wheeler’s Clean Energy business. Prior to that Iain held various Finance Director 
positions in Westinghouse Electric Company, a global nuclear technology provider, 
including two periods spent working in the United States. Iain started his career with 
PWC where he qualified as an ACA before moving into Corporate Finance to work 
on Mergers & Acquisitions. He moved across into industry in 1996 and now has over 
20 years financial leadership experience in international consulting and engineering 
businesses and has a particular specialism in the international energy sector.

DIRECTORS
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David Jeffcoat 
Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 
(67)

David Jeffcoat was appointed to the Board in December 2009. He is a qualified 
accountant with extensive experience in the engineering and technology sectors. 
He was Group Finance Director and Company Secretary of FTSE 250 manufacturing 
group Ultra Electronics Holdings plc from 2000 until his retirement in April 2009. 
Prior to that, he served as Group Financial Controller with Smiths Industries plc 
(now Smiths Group). He also sits on the Board and is Audit Committee Chairman of 
Aberforth Smaller Companies Trust plc.

Neil Masom OBE 
Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
(58) 

Neil was appointed to the Board in October 2015. He was appointed to the board 
of HS2 in September 2014 as Director and Audit Committee Chair, and also holds 
non-executive director roles at IFS AB, a quoted Swedish software company, and 
CQC Holdings Ltd. He was formerly non-executive Chairman of FCO Services. Neil is 
a Chartered Engineer whose previous executive roles have included some 30 years 
with BAE Systems culminating in the position of Managing Director, Logistics and 
Information Systems.

Jeremy Beeton CB 
Senior Independent Non-executive Director (64)

Jeremy Beeton was appointed to the Board in October 2015. He has more than 
40 years’ international business experience including in Government, corporate, 
project management, construction and facilities management. He is currently a non-
executive director of SSE plc and John Laing Group plc, serves on the advisory board 
of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and the governing Court of Strathclyde University, 
prior to which he was Director General of the UK Government Olympic Executive. 
Between 1999 and 2007, he was Principal Vice President and Director of Bechtel Ltd. 
Jeremy is a Fellow of the Institution of Civil Engineers.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
WYG plc is incorporated and domiciled in England. The address 
of its registered office is Arndale Court, Otley Road, Headingley, 
Leeds, LS6 2UJ.

As required by the Companies Act 2006, a review of the 
Group’s business, together with an indication of its future 
prospects and a description of the principal risks facing  
the Group is provided in the Chairman’s Statement,  
the Strategic Report on pages 11 to 38 and in the five year 
financial summary on page 113.

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries are listed on pages 84 to 85. 
The Group also has branch offices in Kurdistan, Russia  
and South Africa and representative offices in Cambodia  
and Serbia.

SHARE CAPITAL
The Company’s ordinary shares are traded on AIM, a market 
operated by the London Stock Exchange plc. 

Accordingly, as at 31 March 2017, the Company’s share capital 
was as follows:

69,898,105 ordinary shares of 0.1 pence each  

4,540,758 convertible shares of 0.1 pence each 

There are no shares held in treasury. The rights and obligations 
attaching to each class of shares are set out in the Company’s 
Articles of Association which are available on our website.

DIVIDEND
Subject to the approval of shareholders at the AGM, a dividend 
of 1.2p will be paid on 3 October 2017 to ordinary shareholders 
on the register at the close of business on 8 September 2017.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT TRUST
The Company’s Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) was established 
to satisfy awards granted under the Company’s share options 
plans.  The trustees of the EBT are RBC Cees Trustees UK 
Limited which is resident in Jersey. As at 31 March 2017, the 
EBT held nil Ordinary Shares.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company who served during the year and 
up to the date of the signing of the financial statements were 
as follows:

Mike McTighe 

Paul Hamer

Iain Clarkson (appointed 7 June 2016)

Sean Cummins (resigned 7 June 2016)

David Jeffcoat  

Jeremy Beeton 

Neil Masom

The biographical details of the directors can be found on  
pages 45 to 46.

The Directors present their Annual Report and the 
audited accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(Group) for the year ended 31 March 2017.
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DIRECTORS’ ELECTION & ROTATION
Mike McTighe who would shortly complete the maximum nine 
years’ service on the Board during which he could be deemed 
an independent non-executive under the Code, has confirmed 
(as announced on 30 January 2017) that he will retire from the 
Board at the conclusion of the AGM and will not be seeking re-
election. Neil Masom will retire by rotation and, being eligible, 
will offer himself for re-election at the AGM.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, which require 
that any director appointed during the year shall hold office 
only until the next AGM and shall then be eligible for election, 
Douglas McCormick is seeking election at the AGM. Douglas 
McCormick’s biographical details are set out on page 5.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The beneficial interests of the Directors of the Company and 
their families in the ordinary shares of the Company and their 
options and/or awards over shares comprised in the Company’s 
share schemes are detailed in the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report on pages 55 to 58.

No Director had any interests in any contract with the Company 
or its subsidiaries at any time during the year other than those 
arising from their service contracts or letters of appointment 
and through the Company’s share option schemes.

The Company maintains insurance to cover directors’ and 
officers’ liability.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES
As permitted by the Companies Act 2006, the Company has 
indemnified the Directors in respect of proceedings which may 
be brought by third parties. Neither the Company’s indemnity 
nor its insurance provides cover in the event that a Director is 
proved to have acted fraudulently or dishonestly.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Group’s statement on Corporate Governance is included  
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 51 to 54 of  
this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The AGM will be held at the Company’s registered office at 
Arndale Court, Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2UJ on 21 
September 2017 at 10.00am. Formal notice of the AGM, including 
details of special business is set out on pages 103 to 110 and 
on the Company’s website at www.wyg.com
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Significant shareholdings

Slater Investments

Hargreave Hale

Robert Keith

Franklin Templeton Fund Management

Majedie Asset Management

Henderson Global Investors

River and Mercantile Asset Management

AXA Framlington Investment Managers

Miton Asset Management

Lombard Odier Investment Managers

UBS collateral account

9,540,000

8,050,000

7,345,349

6,750,000

4,776,926

4,630,000

4,477,248

4,013,487

3,980,400

2,949,224

2,352,250

As at 15 May 2017 the Company had been notified of the following interests in 3% or more of its issued share capital:

Number of shares held % issued share capital

SUBSTANTIAL CONTRACTS &  
CHANGE OF CONTROL
The Group has in place various contractual arrangements with 
customers and suppliers, some of which provide for termination 
in the event of a change of control but none of which is 
considered to be significant in terms of its potential impact on 
the business as a whole. 

The Group also has a revolving credit facility with HSBC Bank 
plc which provides that the facilities may be cancelled in the 
event of a change of control.

TREASURY POLICY
The Group’s policy on treasury and financial risk is set by the 
Board and is subject to regular reporting and review. The main 
risks faced by the Group relate to foreign currency risk, credit risk, 
and cash flow. A more detailed explanation of these risks and the 
Group’s policy for managing them is set out on pages 19 to 21 
and in note 20 to the Accounts.

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES
Our policy is to ensure there is adequate provision for the 
health, safety and welfare of our employees and of other 
people who may be affected by our activities. In addition to 
our robust duty of care and health and safety procedures, we 
are also committed to our employees’ wellbeing. We support 
flexible working and provide a Health and Wellbeing Handbook 
which includes the provision of free fruit, holistic health 

therapies, wellness checks, discounted gym membership, 
nutritional advice and a health cash plan. We also provide 
an employee assistance programme, free of charge, to all 
employees that offers impartial advice and support on  
issues such as personal finances, relationship issues or  
stress management.

EMPLOYMENT OF DISABLED PERSONS
Disabled employees and applicants are treated equally with 
others having regard to their ability, experience and the 
requirements of the job. We commit to making reasonable 
adjustments to be able to offer employment or continued 
employment within the Group.

DIVERSITY
Our general approach to employee diversity is set out in 
detail on page 23 of the Strategic Report. As regards the 
Board, we believe Board composition is a key element of 
Board effectiveness. Each member and potential member of 
our Board must be able to demonstrate the skills, experience 
and knowledge required to contribute to the effectiveness 
of the Board. WYG believes that the Board’s perspective and 
approach can be enhanced through gender, age and cultural 
diversity and we support the principle of boardroom diversity. 
It is our policy to consider overall Board balance when 
appointing new directors and we will always seek to appoint on 
merit against objective criteria, including diversity.
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EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT
Our success depends upon the continued commitment and 
motivation of our workforce and it is our policy that employees 
are kept informed of matters affecting their employment and of 
our financial results on a regular basis. 

As in previous years, the Group undertook an extensive exercise 
to gauge the views of employees on a number of topics. The 
results were presented to the Board and, in response, the 
Directors initiated a programme to review employee engagement 
and retention which resulted in some of the initiatives described 
in the Corporate Responsibility Report on pages 40 to 42. 
These organisation-wide improvement plans are given the most 
senior support and reported to the business quarterly to ensure 
progress is maintained.

Communication in WYG is a two-way process. Employees are 
encouraged to feel safe to share their ideas and feedback 
on how to make WYG the best it can be for our clients and 
investors and how to help the Group ensure WYG is a great place 
to work. To support employees in accessing the information 
and resources they need and connect with their colleagues, 
a comprehensive employee intranet with news items and 
employment-related resources is maintained and supplemented 
with monthly newsletters and regular Group-wide emails. Our 
two-way feedback portal, ‘Ask WYG’, also offers employees the 
opportunity to provide feedback, submit ideas and ask  
questions to anyone within the business at any given time 
throughout the year.

POLITICAL DONATIONS
The Group made no political donations (2016: nil).

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors 
have prepared the Group and Parent Company financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under 
company law the Directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of 
the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these 
financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

• state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company 
and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the  
United Kingdom governing the preparation and  
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are  
listed in the Director’s Report confirm that, to the best of 
their knowledge:

• the Group financial statements, which have been prepared 
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit of the Group and

• the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Group, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

GOING CONCERN
As explained in the Strategic Report, the Directors  
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing  
these accounts.

STATEMENT ON DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 
TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware.

Each Director has taken all reasonable steps to make himself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the Company’s auditor is aware of that information. This 
confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance 
with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
Deloitte LLP has expressed its willingness to be re-appointed. 
A resolution to re-appoint them as independent auditor will 
be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board

BENJAMIN WHITWORTH 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
6 JUNE 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
WYG is committed to high standards of corporate governance 
throughout the Group.

As a company whose shares are traded on AIM, WYG is 
not required to comply with all the requirements of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code (Code) published by the Financial 
Reporting Council in 2016. However, the Board continues to 
implement policies and procedures designed to comply with 
the Code so far as reasonably practicable and appropriate for a 
public company of its size and complexity and in the light of the 
nature of the risks and challenges it faces. 

This report sets out how the principles identified in the  
Code have been applied by the Group in the financial year  
to 31 March 2017.

THE BOARD
The Board currently comprises a Non-executive Chairman 
(Mike McTighe), two Executive Directors (Paul Hamer, Chief 
Executive Officer and Iain Clarkson, Chief Financial Officer) and 
three Non-executive Directors (Jeremy Beeton, David Jeffcoat 
and Neil Masom). The Board considers Mike McTighe, Jeremy 
Beeton, David Jeffcoat and Neil Masom to be independent. 
As announced on 30 January 2017, Jeremy Beeton who is 
currently the Senior Independent Non-executive Director, will 
succeed Mike McTighe as Non-executive Chairman immediately 
following the AGM on 22 September 2017.

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate and 
clearly defined in writing. The Chairman is responsible for the 
leadership of the Board and for monitoring its effectiveness. 
The Chief Executive is responsible for the executive 
management of the Group’s business. 

All Directors are subject to election by the shareholders at the 
first opportunity after their initial appointment to the Board 
and to re-election thereafter at intervals of not more than 
three years. Biographical details of the Directors are set out 
on pages 45 and 46. The Non-executive Directors bring a 
balance and range of skills and experience to the Board and 
its committees. None of the Executive Directors holds non-
executive directorships outside of the Group although Paul 
Hamer is a board member of the Leeds City Region Local 
Enterprise Partnership.

The Board is collectively responsible to shareholders for the 
Group’s overall strategy and direction within a framework of 
controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed. It 
has a schedule of matters reserved to it for decision, including: 
strategy, policy, approval of budgets, acquisitions and 
disposals, major capital expenditure, and a risk assessment  
and assurance. 

An evaluation of the performance of the Board was last 
conducted in 2015. The Chairman reviewed the outputs 
from the evaluation with each Director individually and the 
conclusions of the overall assessment were reviewed by all 
the Directors. The Board does not consider that an externally 
facilitated evaluation is appropriate at this stage of the  
Group’s development. 

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that Board 
procedures and applicable rules and regulations are observed. 
There is an agreed procedure for Directors to take independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, 
in the performance of their duties. Where it is considered 
appropriate, training is made available to the Directors. The 
Company has appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal 
action against its Directors.

The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Board to 
authorise directors’ conflicts of interest should they arise. The 
Company maintains a register of interests which are deemed 
to be permanently disclosed and authorised. The register is 
updated annually and as and when a new potential conflict 
of interest is notified. At each Board and Committee meeting, 
directors are prompted to declare any conflict of interest. The 
Board (or Committee) then authorises the conflict thereby 
enabling the relevant Director to participate in and vote at the 
meeting or, where applicable, to abstain or even to absent 
themselves from the meeting.
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BOARD MEETINGS
The Board meets formally on a regular basis. One meeting 
each year is specifically reserved for a strategic review. The 
Board is provided with management information which includes 
detailed monthly management accounts which includes an 
analysis of the Group’s actual performance against budget, 
latest forecast and the previous year. The form and quality of 
the information are reviewed to ensure that it is of a quality 
appropriate to enable the Board to discharge its duties.

The following table shows the number of years each Director 
has served on the Board as at the financial year end and their 
attendance at scheduled Board and Committee meetings.

Name
Tenure  

in years Full Board
Audit & Risk 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nominations 

Committee

Number of meetings held 8 4 3 4

Paul Hamer 9 8/8 - - 1/2

Iain Clarkson1 1 7/8 - - -

Sean Cummins2 4 1/8 - - -

Mike McTighe 8 7/8 4/4 2/3 2/2

David Jeffcoat 8 8/8 4/4 3/3 2/2

Jeremy Beeton 1 8/8 2/2 3/3 2/2

Neil Masom 1 8/8 2/2 3/3 2/2

1. Iain Clarkson was appointed to the Board on 7 June 2016.

2. Sean Cummins resigned from the Board on 7 June 2016.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
The Board delegates certain specific responsibilities to 
committees. Each committee has clearly defined terms of 
reference which are reviewed annually by the Board. The terms 
of reference for the Board and each of its committees are 
available on our website at www.wyg.com.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit & Risk Committee is chaired by David Jeffcoat. 
David is a qualified accountant with extensive experience in 
the engineering and technology sectors. He is considered by 
the Board to have the necessary recent and relevant financial 
experience for his role as chairman. The other members of 
the Committee are Non-executive Directors Mike McTighe, 
Jeremy Beeton and Neil Masom. The Executive Directors also 
attend most meetings of the Committee at the invitation of the 
chairman. 
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Key features of its terms of reference comprise: 

• ensuring as far as possible the integrity of the Company and 
Group statutory financial statements

• making recommendations to the Board regarding the  
external auditor’s appointment, re-appointment and/or 
removal, and fees

• agreeing the scope and nature of the external audit process 
and considering the resultant reports prepared by the auditor

• monitoring the arrangements that the executive  
management has in place to identify and mitigate major 
operational, financial, reputational and other significant  
risks within the Group

• monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit function, 
ensuring that it is independent, adequately resourced and has 
appropriate standing within the Group

• reviewing procedures for detecting fraud and ensuring that 
arrangements are in place whereby staff may, in confidence, 
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial or 
other matters; and 

• reviewing and approving the Group Finance Manual, including 
delegated authority levels, on a regular basis.

During the year the Committee met formally on four occasions. 
The Committee also met the external auditor without the 
presence of the Company’s executive management to review 
the financial statements and discuss any other relevant matters 
in confidence. The chairman of the Committee also held 
informal meetings and telephone calls with the Head of Internal 
Audit and the senior external audit partner on a regular basis 
during the year.

The Committee chairman reports to every main Board meeting 
on any relevant audit & risk-related developments and provides 
copies of the Committee minutes and relevant reports to all 
Board members.

A detailed description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
facing the Group, the impact they might have on the Group and 
the mitigation measures in place is set out on pages 19 to 21 
of the Strategic Report.

The Audit & Risk Committee also monitors the nature and extent 
of non-audit work undertaken by the auditor. Details of the fees 

paid to the external auditor for the twelve months to  
31 March 2017, the split between audit and non-audit fees  
and information on the nature of non-audit fees is included  
in note 4 to the accounts. The non-audit fees paid to the  
auditor were not considered by the Audit & Risk Committee t 
o affect the independence of the auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The composition and role of the Remuneration Committee is set 
out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 55 to 58. 
Full details of the Directors’ remuneration and a statement on 
remuneration policy are included in the report.

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
The Nominations Committee comprises all the Non-executive 
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer and is chaired by Mike 
McTighe. The Committee’s terms of reference include periodic 
reviews of the structure, size and composition of the Board and 
the identification and nomination of candidates for appointment 
to the Board. 

The Committee also considers succession planning for the 
Board and senior managers of the Group.  During the year 
the Committee met on a number of occasions to consider the 
recruitment and selection of the new Chief Financial Officer 
and succession planning generally. The Committee used the 
services of an external search consultant. Detailed reports on a 
shortlist of candidates were prepared for and reviewed by the 
Committee before the final selection was made.
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DIALOGUE WITH SHAREHOLDERS
We value the views of all our shareholders and recognise their 
interest in our performance, strategy and objectives. 

There is a regular dialogue with institutional investors, fund 
managers, brokers, analysts and the media. These meetings 
are generally conducted by the Chief Executive Officer and 
the Chief Financial Officer. Feedback on these meetings and 
copies of resulting analysts’ reports are provided to the other 
members of the Board.

Formal communication with shareholders is mainly through the 
Half Year and Annual Reports, face to face meetings and online 
presentations. All shareholders are invited to attend the AGM, 
which is attended by the full Board. 

There is a comprehensive investors section on our website, 
www.wyg.com, which is regularly reviewed to ensure that all 
shareholders have access to the most up-to-date information. 
We were pleased to be recognised for the quality of our 
communication with investors at the 2016 AIM Awards.

The Chairman and the Senior Independent Director are 
available to shareholders at any time to discuss strategy and 
governance matters. Non-executive Directors do not ordinarily 
attend meetings with major shareholders but would do so if 
this was requested.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

BENJAMIN WHITWORTH 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
6 JUNE 2017
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee comprises all Non-executive 
Directors and is chaired by Neil Masom. 

The Remuneration Committee is very aware of the  
continuing public focus on executive pay and, in particular, 
market ‘best-practice’ requirements for companies to show  
that their executives’ pay arrangements are closely aligned  
with the creation of shareholder value and the company’s  
long-term strategy.

TERMS OF REFERENCE
The Remuneration Committee has clearly defined terms of 
reference to determine, on behalf of the Board, all aspects of 
remuneration of the Executive Directors consisting of salary, 
pension, benefits, and annual and long-term incentives. The 
Committee’s terms of reference are reviewed annually by the 
Board. It is also kept advised of and consulted on all aspects 
of senior management remuneration across the Group. The 
Chief Executive Officer is invited to attend meetings of the 
committee but not when his own arrangements are being 
considered. The Chief Financial Officer attends and advises the 
committee as required by invitation. No director participates 
in discussions about their own remuneration. The Committee 
obtains regular governance updates from, and has available to 
it the advice of, FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP. 

Copies of the Committee’s terms of reference are available on 
the Company’s website www.wyg.com

REMUNERATION POLICY
The overall policy of the Board is to:

• attract, motivate and retain talented people at all levels 
across the Group;

• provide competitive salary and benefit packages; and

• encourage the holding of shares in the Company as 
an effective way of aligning the interests of the senior 
management team with those of shareholders.

BASIC SALARY
The Executive Directors’ basic salaries are reviewed by the 
Committee each year taking into account individual and Group 
performance. It uses as a comparator the salaries of other 
companies of a similar size and complexity and the level of 
base salary of other senior staff in the Group.

BENEFITS
Benefits include a car allowance or a car and payment of its 
operating expenses and fuel, life assurance and entitlement to 
a non-contributory private healthcare scheme.

PENSIONS
Executive Directors are members of a defined contribution 
pension scheme. Annual contributions are calculated by 
reference to a percentage of base salary, with Executive 
Directors each receiving contributions of 17.5% of salary. 
The Executive Directors are not required to contribute. In 
circumstances where the Company’s contribution to an 
Executive Director’s pension scheme exceeds the annual 
allowance permitted by HMRC, the executive is permitted to 
elect to receive an amount equal to the excess as salary in 
lieu of pension contribution. Any such payment is not  
treated as salary for the purposes of calculating STIP or  
PSP award opportunities.

MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PLANS
The Company operates three share-based management 
incentive plans which were approved by shareholders in 2015. 
They are:

• Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP) incorporating a Deferred 
Annual Bonus Share Plan (DABS) – an annual bonus 
arrangement for the executive directors and senior 
management team which includes a significant element of 
bonus deferral in the form of cash and share-based payments 
which are subject to the achievement of demanding PBT and 
cash conversion targets; 

• Performance Share Plan (PSP) – covering senior executive 
and leadership teams, vesting of awards being dependent 
upon achievement of absolute EPS growth and TSR targets 
(measured against a peer group); and

• Restricted Share Plan (RSP) – covering other key  
senior employees.

(together, the ‘Management Incentive Plans’.) 

As a pre-condition to accepting awards under the Management 
Incentive Plans, participants in the Company’s previous 
Transformation Incentive Plan (TIP) agreed to surrender 
12.2m options (equivalent to 17.9% of issued share capital 
at that time), representing the majority of unvested awards. 
This substantially removed the potentially dilutive effect of the 
TIP scheme which had become an impediment to optimising 
shareholder value. Since August 2014 there have been no 
awards under the TIP.
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The Management Incentive Plans are designed to retain  
and incentivise existing talent, and to enhance our ability  
to recruit new talent to support our growth ambitions, in  
addition to aligning the interests of the directors with those  
of our shareholders.

The performance targets under the STIP and DABS Plan 
are based on PBT and cash conversion which have been 
selected as two of the key factors in driving further growth of 
the Group. The DABS plan contains a significant element of 
deferred bonus which must be held as shares which, in turn, 
seeks to encourage long-term holding.

The PSP is intended to ensure the alignment of our executive 
team with shareholder objectives in using both EPS and 
TSR targets as measures of performance and growth. The 
PSP focuses on incentivising and rewarding the delivery of 
stretching financial performance targets and to reward the 
creation of long-term shareholder value based on the delivery 
of growth of EPS and TSR.

The RSP seeks to encourage employee retention. 

It is the Board’s intention that the Management Incentive Plans 
will fall within the recommended “10% in 10 years dilution” 
aggregate limit which will apply to all awards in respect of 
new issues of shares made under the DABS Plan, the PSP and 
the RSP. This limit is forward looking from the 2015 AGM and 
excludes dilution from any awards made under the TIP.

CASH PERFORMANCE RELATED ANNUAL BONUS 
AND DABS PLAN
Executive Directors participate in a performance related annual 
bonus scheme – the STIP; the maximum bonus payable is 
225% of salary. Bonuses can only be earned if challenging 
performance targets determined by the Committee at the start 
of the financial year are achieved.

Two thirds of any bonus outcome will be deferred for a period 
of 3 years, one half of which (i.e one third of the bonus 
outcome) will be deferred in the form of a cash award and one 
half of which (i.e one third of the bonus outcome) will be an 
award of shares under the DABS plan. 

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Executive Directors’ 
performance-related annual bonus scheme comprised two 
separately weighted elements based on achieving clearly defined 
stretching profit before tax and cash conversion targets. For the 
cash conversion element to become payable, the profit before 
tax target must also have been met. Neither the profit before tax 
target nor the cash conversion target were met. Accordingly, 
there was no bonus paid to the Executive Directors nor was 

there any award of options under the  
DABS Plan.

The Executive Directors’ performance-related annual bonus 
scheme for the year to 31 March 2018 will comprise elements 
based on achieving profit before tax, cash conversion, revenue 
and orderbook targets. No element of the bonus will be paid 
unless the minimum profit before tax target is achieved.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES

PSP

The Company granted options over a total of 1.6m ordinary 
shares under the PSP – of which 0.6m were granted to the 
Executive Directors. Vesting of initial PSP awards will be 
determined in equal measures by the achievement of absolute 
EPS growth targets and relative TSR targets, with TSR 
measured against a comparator group of support services 
companies drawn from the FTSE SmallCap, FTSE Fledgling and 
AIM indices. The targets are summarised as follows:

Performance 
Level

Potential 
Vesting of 
each part of 
the award 
(50% subject 
to TSR; 50% 
subject to EPS)

TSR 
attainment

EPS 
attainment  
(3 year growth)

Maximum 100% Upper Quartile 
or above

50% or more 
growth

Intermediate Between 25% 
and 100% on 
a straight-line 
basis

Median to Upper 
Quartile

Between 25% 
and 50% growth

Threshold 25% Median 25% growth

This plan requires participants to build and retain a holding 
of vested awards or shares equal in value to the participant’s 
maximum annual cash bonus potential.

RSP

The Company granted options over 30,000 ordinary shares 
under the RSP. This arrangement is focused on the retention  
of selected key staff. The Executive Directors do not participate 
in this plan. Awards will usually vest after three years subject 
to continued employment.
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TRANSFORMATIONAL INCENTIVE PLAN (TIP)

The TIP is now closed to new entrants. There are 2.3m million 
options outstanding under the TIP all of which have vested and 
are now exercisable. Awards to the Executive Directors are set 
out in the table of Directors’ interests below: 

CHAIRMAN’S SHARE AWARD AND MATCHING  
SHARE AWARD

A key member of the management team is our Chairman, Mike 
McTighe. In order that Mike’s strategic expertise remained 
available throughout the period of the Company’s restructuring 
and the vital period of its development thereafter, two share-
based arrangements were established for Mike in July 2011. 
These are:

• an arrangement that mirrors the key terms of the TIP 
described above; and

• a share matching arrangement, whereby the Chairman’s 
investment of £100,000 in the Company’s capital restructuring 
could be matched on a 2.5 to 1 basis after three years 
providing that the Chairman remained on the Board for 
this period. The award vested on 12 July 2014 and became 
exercisable on 12 July 2015. 

The Chairman does not participate in the new  
incentive arrangements.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

All service agreements for the Executive Directors are 
terminable on 12 months’ notice by either party and contain 
stringent restrictive covenants. None of the Executive Directors’ 
service contracts contains provision for pre-determined 
compensation for loss of office.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENTS  
AND REMUNERATION

The Chairman and the Non-executive Directors do not have 
contracts of employment but are appointed by letter of 
appointment. Such appointments are initially for a three year 
term and are terminable on three months’ notice by either 
party at any time. There are no entitlements in respect of loss 
of office. The remuneration of the Non-executive Directors is 
determined by the Board within the limits set out in the Articles 
of Association. Save in the case of the one off award to Mike 
McTighe above, Non-executive Directors are not eligible for 
pensions, share incentives or bonus payments.

The following table sets out the most recent election/ 
re-election dates for the Chairman and each of the  
Non-executive Directors.

Name

Date of 
appointment 
as a Non-
executive 
Director

Date of last 
election/ 
re-election at 
AGM

Expiry of 
current three 
year term

Mike McTighe 3 August  
2009

23 September 
2014

23 September 
2017

David Jeffcoat 6 December 
2009

22 September 
2016

22 September 
2019

Jeremy Beeton 1 October  
2015

22 September 
2016

22 September 
2019

Neil Masom 1 October  
2015

22 September 
2016

22 September 
2019
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
 2017 2016

Emoluments1 Bonus2
Benefits 

in kind
Pension or 

payment in lieu Total Total

£‘000 £‘000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive Directors

Paul Hamer 345 - 1 57 403 471

Sean Cummins3 79 - - - 79 307

Iain Clarkson4 172 - 1 26 199 -

Non-executive directors

Mike McTighe 125 - - - 125 125

David Jeffcoat 40 - - - 40 37

Jeremy Beeton 40 - - - 40 20

Neil Masom 40 - - - 40 20

1 Includes basic salary, car allowance in lieu of company car and fees to Non-executive Directors.

2 Payment in relation to the period Sean Cummins held office during the year, having resigned from the Board on 7 June 2016 and his employment terminated on 12 July 2016.

3 With effect from 1 March 2014, in accordance with the terms of his service agreement, Sean Cummins elected to receive an amount equal to 17.5% of salary as payment in lieu of  

   contribution to the pension scheme.

4 Payment in relation to the period Iain Clarkson held office during the year, having joined the Board on 7 June 2016.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 March 2017, the total beneficial, family and contingent interests of the Directors in the share capital of the Company were 
as follows:

 

At 31 March 2017 Beneficial Shares TIP including the Chairman’s 
Share Award

DABS PSP

Paul Hamer 129,235 1,662,906 33,492 896,997

Iain Clarkson - - - 140,000

Mike McTighe 200,000 1,075,162 -

David Jeffcoat 150,570 - - -

Jeremy Beeton 15,000 - - -

Neil Masom 28,590 - - -

Having resigned from the Board on 7 June 2016, Sean Cummins retained his entitlement to 125,000 options under the TIP which 
had vested and passed their release date prior to his resignation. He subsequently exercised those options within the time limit 
permitted under the rules of the TIP. In accordance with the rules of the PSP, all 193,410 of Mr Cummins’ awards under the PSP 
lapsed immediately upon his resignation. Mr Cummins has no other outstanding awards under any of the Group’s share schemes.

On behalf of the Remuneration Committee

NEIL MASOM 
CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
6 JUNE 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF WYG PLC

We have audited the financial statements of WYG plc 
(Company) for the year ended 31 March 2017 which comprise 
the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and 
Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Company 
Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and the 
Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements, and 
the related notes 1 to 28. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent 
Company financial statements, as applied in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the Company’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS 
AND AUDITOR
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to 
audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards 
for Auditors.

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the 
parent Company’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, 
we read all the financial and non-financial information in the 
annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the 
audited financial statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course 
of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of 
the parent Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2017 and of the 
Group’s profit for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union;

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006.
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OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY 
THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of 
the audit:

• the information given in the Strategic Report and the 
Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and

• the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been 
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the 
company and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the 
Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report.

MATTERS ON WHCH WE ARE REQUIRED TO 
REPORT BY EXCEPTION
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 
in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent Company financial statements and for the part of 
the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited are not 
in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law 
are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit.

SIMON MANNING FCA (SENIOR STATUTORY AUDITOR) 
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
Leeds, United Kingdom

6 JUNE 2017
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2017 Note

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Continuing operations

Revenue including share of joint venture revenues 151,824 133,482

Less share of joint venture revenues (1,284) (665) 

Revenue 3 150,540 132,817

Operating expenses 4 (148,585) (130,377)

Share of result of joint ventures 198 (17) 

Operating profit 2 2,153 2,423

Finance costs 6 (554) (201)

Profit before tax 1,599 2,222

Taxation 7 779 608

Profit for the year 2,378 2,830

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

Owners of the parent 2,378 2,832

Non controlling interests - (2)

2,378 2,830

Earnings per share 8

Basic 3.3p 4.0p

Diluted 3.3p 3.9p

Operating profit for the year includes net costs of £6.6m (2016: £4.8m) that are separately disclosed in Note 2.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Note
2017 

£’000
2016 

£’000

Profit for the year 2,378 2,830

Other comprehensive income/(expense):

Currency translation difference 1,110 (195)

Tax on items taken directly to equity* - (572)

Impact of defined pension asset ceiling* 27 - 2,060

Remeasurement of net defined pension liability* 27 - 845

Other comprehensive income for the year 1,110 2,138

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,488 4,968

Total comprehensive income/(expense) attributable to:

Owners of the parent 3,488 4,970

Non controlling interests – (2)

3,488 4,968

*These items will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement.
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Equity attributable to the owners of the parent

Share capital 21 75 73 75 73

Translation reserve 1,495 385 13 13

Retained earnings 30,004 27,791 38,826 39,458

31,574 28,249 38,914 39,544

Non controlling interest - 32 - -

Total equity 31,574 28,281 38,914 39,544

The Directors have taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and have not prepared a separate income statement 
or statement of comprehensive income for the Company. The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders includes a loss of 
£435,000 (2016: £410,000 loss) attributable to the Company.

The accounts on pages 62 to 101 were approved by the Board of directors on 6 June 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

 
PAUL HAMER IAIN CLARKSON

BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 March 2017 Group Company

Note
2017 

£’000
 2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Non-current assets

Goodwill 10 18,193 18,193 - -

Other intangible assets 11 7,325 9,295 - -

Property, plant and equipment 12 3,180 3,181 - -

Investment in joint ventures 13 603 407 - -

Investments 13 - - 52,734 52,734

Deferred tax assets 14 1,246 1,224 - -

30,547 32,300 52,734 52,734

Current assets

Work in progress 15 29,986 30,372 - -

Trade and other receivables 16 30,323 22,842 - 2,164

Retirement benefit asset 27 - 799 - -

Tax recoverable 370 207 - -

Cash and bank balances 6,518 8,231 353 361

67,197 62,451 353 2,525

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 17 (49,608) (46,682) (14,173) (15,715)

Current tax liabilities (235) (931) - -

Financial liabilities 19 (4,000) (3,050) - -

(53,843) (50,663) (14,173) (15,715)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 13,354 11,788 (13,820) (13,190)

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities 19 (5,000) (5,000) - -

Retirement benefit obligation 27 (2,115) (2,356) - -

Deferred tax liabilities 14 (2,035) (2,511) - -

Provisions, liabilities and other charges 18 (3,177) (5,940) - -

(12,327) (15,807) - -

Net assets 31,574 28,281 38,914 39,544
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2017

GROUP

Share 
capital 
£’000

Translation 
reserve 

£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Non 
controlling 

interest 
£’000

Total 
equity 
£’000

Balance as at 1 April 2015 72 580 21,730 22,382 164 22,546

Profit for the year - - 2,832 2,832 (2) 2,830

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:

Currency translation differences - (195) - (195) - (195)

Tax on items taken directly to equity - - (572) (572) - (572)

Impact of defined pension asset ceiling - - 2,060 2,060 - 2,060

Remeasurement of net defined benefit pension 
liability - - 845 845 - 845

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year - (195) 2,333 2,138 - 2,138

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year - (195) 5,165 4,970 (2) 4,968

Share based payments charge - - 1,587 1,587 - 1,587

Share issue 1 - - 1 - 1

Dividends - - (821) (821) - (821)

Reduction in minority shareholding - - 130 130 (130) -

Balance at 31 March 2016 73 385 27,791 28,249 32 28,281

GROUP

Share 
capital 
£’000

Translation 
reserve 

£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Non 
controlling 

interest 
£’000

Total 
equity 
£’000

Balance as at 1 April 2016 73 385 27,791 28,249 32 28,281

Profit for the year - - 2,378 2,378 - 2,378

Other comprehensive income:

Currency translation differences - 1,110 - 1,110 - 1,110

Other comprehensive income for the year - 1,110 - 1,110 - 1,110

Total comprehensive income for the year - 1,110 2,378 3,488 - 3,488

Share based payments charge - - 906 906 - 906

Share issue 2 - - 2 - 2

Dividends - - (1,103) (1,103) - (1,103)

Reduction in minority shareholding - - 32 32 (32) -

Balance at 31 March 2017 75 1,495 30,004 31,574 - 31,574
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2017

COMPANY

Share 
capital 
£’000

Translation 
reserve 

£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Balance as at 1 April 2015 72 13 39,102 39,187

Loss for the year - - (410) (410)

Total comprehensive expense for the year - - (410) (410)

Share-based payments charge - - 1,587 1,587

Share issue 1 - - 1

Dividends - - (821) (821)

Balance at 31 March 2016 73 13 39,458 39,544

COMPANY

Balance as at 1 April 2016 73 13 39,458 39,544

Loss for the year - - (435) (435)

Total comprehensive expense for the year - - (435) (435)

Share-based payments charge - - 906 906

Share issue 2 - - 2

Dividends - - (1,103) (1,103)

Balance at 31 March 2017 75 13 38,826 38,914
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Group Company

Note
2017 

£’000
2016 

£’000
2017 

£’000
2016 

£’000

Operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 22 3,380 (966) (8) 2

Interest paid (554) (180) - -

Tax paid (944) (321) - -

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating 
activities

1,882 (1,467) (8) 2

Investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,654) (2,092) - -

Purchases of intangible assets (computer software) (260) (385) - -

Purchase of subsidiary undertakings, net of cash 
acquired 

(2,276) (7,875) - -

Net cash used in investing activities (4,190) (10,352) - -

Financing activities

Proceeds on issue of shares - 1 - -

Dividends paid to Company shareholders 9 (684) (821) - -

Drawdown of loan facility 1,000 8,000 - -

Net cash generated from financing activities 316 7,180 - -

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents

(1,992) (4,639) (8) 2

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
year

8,231 12,324 361 359

Effects of foreign exchange rates on cash and 
cash equivalents

279 546 - -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 23 6,518 8,231 353 361
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC), interpretations endorsed by the European 
Union (EU) and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable 
to companies reporting under IFRS. The accounts have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention with the exception 
of certain items which are measured at fair value as disclosed in 
the principal accounting policies set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented.

The preparation of accounts in conformity with IFRS generally 
requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
accounts and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based 
on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, 
actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

Standards, amendments to published standards  
and interpretations effective for the year ended  
31 March 2017

Other than noted below, there are no IFRS or IFRIC interpretations 
that are effective for the first time for the year ended 31 March 
2017 that have had a material impact on the Group.

Standards, amendments to published standards and 
interpretations issued but not effective for the year ended 
31 March 2017 and not early adopted

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the 
Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that 
have been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS9 – Financial instruments

IFRS15 – Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS16 – Leases

IFRS2 (amendments) – Classification and measurement of share-
based payment transactions

IAS7 (amendments) – Disclosure initiative

IAS12 (amendments) – Recognition of deferred tax assets for 
unrealised losses

IFRS10 and IAS28 – Sale or contribution of assets between an 
investor and its associate.

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards 
listed above will have a material impact on these financial 
statements of the Group in future periods, except as noted below:

IFRS16 – Leases will have a material impact on the reported 
assets, liabilities, income statement and cash. It is not practical to 
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of this standard until a 
detailed review has been completed.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated accounts incorporate the accounts of the 
Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) 
made up to 31 March each year. Control is achieved when  
the Company:

• has the power over the investee

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its involvement 
with the investee, and

• has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if 
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 
more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights 
of an investee, it considers that it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical 
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. 
The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances 
in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an 
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the 
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders

• potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders 
or other parties

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements, and 

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that  
the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to  
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need  
to be made, including voting patterns at previous  
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains 
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company losses 
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated income statement from the date the Company  
gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control 
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the 
subsidiaries is attribted to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the accounts of 
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the 
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and 
cash flows relating to transactions between the members of the 
Group are eliminated on consolidation.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED 

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately 
from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests of non-controlling 
shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their 
holders to a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation 
may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests 
are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the 
carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those 
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ 
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive 
income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results 
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result 
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative 
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount 
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair 
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Revenue recognition

Gross revenue represents the value of work earned during the 
year on contracts by reference to total contract value and stage of 
completion, including third party payments. 

Profit is recognised on fixed cost projects on a percentage 
completion basis when the outcome of a contract or project can be 
reasonably foreseen. Provision is made in full for estimated losses. 
Where the outcome of a contract cannot reasonably be foreseen, 
profit is taken on completion. When it is probable that total 
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss 
is recognised as an expense immediately.

The Group employs the use of third party contractors on its 
projects but this is not considered a primary source of revenue. In 
accordance with IAS 11 these costs have been accounted as part 
of the cost of the projects. The Group has primary responsibility 
for the work carried out, including work done by subcontractors 
whose services would have no separate value without the 
existence of the project controlled by the Group. Since the Group 
is acting as principal, it recognises revenue based on the gross 
amount received or receivable in respect of its performance under 
the sales contract with the end customer.

Third party payments represent costs incurred by the Group 
on behalf of clients which are invoiced at no margin. Progress 
payments receivable in excess of the value of work executed on 
individual contracts are included in trade and other payables.

Unbilled revenue

As described above revenue represents the value of work earned 
during the year by reference to the total contract value and 
stage of completion. Unbilled revenue is the difference between 
the revenue recognised and the amounts actually invoiced to 
customers. Where revenue exceeds the amount of invoicing, 
the excess is included within work-in-progress. Where invoicing 
exceeds the amount of revenue recognised, these amounts are 
included in trade and other payables.

Separately disclosed items

Items that are material and whose significance is sufficient 
to warrant separate disclosure and identification within the 
consolidated accounts are included within separately disclosed 
items (see note 2).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the 
cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly 
controlled entity at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognised 
as an asset and tested for impairment at least annually by 
reference to the relevant cash-generating unit (CGU) and is carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Any impairment 
is recognised immediately in the income statement and is not 
subsequently reversed.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets purchased separately, such as software licences 
that do not form an integral part of related hardware, are 
capitalised at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
useful economic life. Intangible assets acquired through a business 
combination are initially measured at fair value and amortised on 
a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives. Fair value of 
the acquired intangible assets is calculated based on the estimated 
future benefits the Group will derive from the asset acquired, 
discounted at an appropriate Weighted Average Cost of Capital 
(WACC). The useful economic lives used are as follows:

Computer software – 3 to 5 years

Order books – 1 to 4 years

Customer relationships – 5 to 10 years

Impairment of assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are tested 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable and at 
least at each balance sheet date. An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
discounted at the pre-tax discount rate. Impairment charges or 
reversal of impairments are reported in the income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any recognised impairment loss. The cost of an 
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price 
and any costs directly attributable to bring the asset into use.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets  
as follows:

Short leasehold improvements –  equally over the life of 
the lease

Motor vehicles –  30% per annum on net 
book value

Office furniture and equipment –  20% to 33.3% per annum 
on original cost
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their 
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where 
shorter, over the term of the relevant lease.

Leases

Assets held under finance leases, hire purchase contracts and 
other similar arrangements, which confer rights and obligations 
similar to those attached to owned assets, are capitalised as 
tangible fixed assets at the fair value of the leased asset (or, 
if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments as 
determined at the inception of the lease) and are depreciated over 
the shorter of the lease terms and their useful lives.  The capital 
elements of future lease obligations are recorded as liabilities, 
while the interest elements are charged to the profit and loss 
account over the period of the leases to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term, even if the payments are not made on such 
a basis.  Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to sign 
an operating lease are similarly spread on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

The Group has a number of vacant leasehold properties. Provision 
has been made for the residual lease commitments together with 
other outgoings, after taking into account assumptions relating to 
later periods of sub-lease.

Work in progress

Work in progress is stated at cost plus attributable profits 
less foreseeable losses and progress payments received and 
receivable. Cost comprises direct staff costs and attributable 
overheads. Attributable profit is that proportion of the total  
profit currently estimated to arise over the duration of a contract, 
as earned at the balance sheet date. Work-in-progress is 
recognised when projects are assessed for contract progress 
and the proportion of contract work completed at the balance 
sheet date is determined in relation to the total contract works. 
Appropriate provisions are made for slow moving and  
irrecoverable work-in-progress.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and other  
short-term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three 
months or less.

Tax

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently  
payable and deferred tax along with any adjustments to prior  
year estimates.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. 
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income 
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that  
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability  
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been  
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the accounts and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the 
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised 

for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets 
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor 
the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all 
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset 
is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income 
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with 
in equity.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the accounts of each of the Group’s entities 
are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). The consolidated accounts are presented in Sterling, 
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency for 
the consolidated accounts.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency 
are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of 
the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets 
and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. 
Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in the 
income statement for the period, except for exchange differences 
arising on non-monetary assets and liabilities where the changes 
in fair value are recognised directly in equity.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas 
operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the 
balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated  
at the average exchange rates for the period unless exchange 
rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange differences arising, if any, 
are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s  
translation reserve. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of 
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated in the 
Company’s Balance Sheet at cost less any provision for  
impairment in value.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Joint arrangements

Where the Group is party to an arrangement over which it has 
joint control, the joint arrangement is classified as either:

• Joint operation: where the parties that have joint control over 
the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the 
liabilities relating to the arrangement 
The Group recognises its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses relating to its involvement in Joint operations

• Joint Venture: where the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. 
The Group recognises its involvement in a Joint Venture as an 
investment using the equity method.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are 
charged as an expense as they fall due.

For defined benefit retirement benefit schemes, the cost of 
providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit 
Method, with independent actuarial valuations being carried out at 
each balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised 
in full in the period in which they occur. They are recognised 
outside the income statement and presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income and expense.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that 
the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on 
a straight line basis over the average period until the benefits 
become vested.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet 
represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation as 
adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by 
the fair value of scheme assets. Any surplus resulting from this 
calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits 
available in the form of refunds from the scheme or reductions in 
future contributions to the plan.

Short term compensated absences

A liability for short-term compensated absences, such as holiday, is 
recognised in trade and other payables for the amount the Group 
may be required to pay as a result of the unused entitlement that 
has accumulated at the balance sheet date.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with 
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, and who has been 
identified by the Board of Directors.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled payments to certain employees. 
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value 
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of 
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight 
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate 
of shares that will eventually vest.

The fair value of share options is measured by use of an 
appropriate financial model. The expected life used in the model 
has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for  
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 
behavioural considerations.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
Group’s Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their 
amortised cost as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts. A provision for impairment is established 
where there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able 
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. The amount of the provision is recognised in the 
income statement.

Bank borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, 
including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and 
direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis in the 
income statement and are added to the carrying amount of the 
instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in 
which they arise.

Trade payables

Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their 
amortised cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or 
sell assets to reduce debt.

The key element of capital managed by the Group is its liquid cash 
resources and these are monitored on a daily basis.

The Group is subject to a number of restrictions from its lenders 
as to the amounts of cash that are held in certain jurisdictions and 
outside the security of the lender group.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised 
as a liability in the Group’s accounts in the period in which the 
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Project claims

Project claims can be made as a consequence of disputes or 
shortcomings in project delivery and could impact upon the results 
of the Group. It is embedded in the Group’s culture that client 
relationships are developed so as to ensure client satisfaction. 
However, it is recognised that project claims are possible, and that 
these risks cannot completely be eliminated. In the event that such 
claims arise, in common with others operating in the sector, the 
Group has established professional indemnity insurance policies 
that are intended to protect against significant losses.

Significant judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires the Group 
to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses  
and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The 
directors base their estimates on historical experience and  
various other assumptions that they believe are reasonable  
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis 
for making judgements about the carrying value of the assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions or conditions.

Areas of judgement that have a critical effect on the amounts 
recognised in the accounts are:

Key judgements:

• Revenue recognition and the assessment of the percentage 
of contract completion achieved. The Group assesses contract 
progress and determines the proportion of contract work 
completed at the balance sheet date in relation to the total 
contract works. 

• Review of asset carrying values and impairment charges. The 
Group performs impairment testing in accordance with the 
accounting policy described within the significant accounting 
policies in the notes to the accounts. The calculation of 
recoverable amounts requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions consistent with the most recent budgets and plans 
that have been formally approved by management.

• Professional indemnity claims. Provision is made on an 
assessment of claims and necessarily includes estimates as 
to the likely costs. An actuarial review of claims is performed 
annually. To the extent that actual claims and settlements differ 
from those projected, the provisions could vary significantly.

• Work in progress and receivables valuation. The Group assess 
work in progress and trade receivables for exposure to losses. 
Provision is made in full for estimated losses.

• Vacant leasehold properties. The Group has a number of vacant 
leasehold properties, the majority of which are held under head 
leases expiring within the next five years. Provision has been 
made for the residual lease commitments together with other 
outgoings, after taking into account assumptions relating to later 
periods of sub-lease.

In addition, there are other areas of estimated uncertainty in the 
accounts in relation to key sources of estimation and uncertainty:

• The validation of share options. Uncertainty arises due to the 
assumptions over future share price, performance of the Group 
and leavers. Further details on share options can be found in 
note 26.

• Deferred tax balances. Uncertainty arises due to the 
assumptions of future tax rates and the future performance  
of the Group. Further details on deferred tax can be found  
in note 14.
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2. DETAILED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue including share of 
joint ventures 

£’000

Operating 
profit 
£’000

Profit 
before tax 

£’000

Year ended 31 March 2017

Before separately disclosed items 151,824 8,768 8,214

Separately disclosed items - (6,615) (6,615)

Total 151,824 2,153 1,599

Year ended 31 March 2016

Before separately disclosed items 133,482 7,221 7,020

Separately disclosed items - (4,798) (4,798)

Total 133,482 2,423 2,222

Details of separately disclosed items
2017 

£’000
2016 

£’000

Share option costs (742) (1,475)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (1,863) (1,533)

Other charges (4,010) (1,790)

Separately disclosed items (6,615) (4,798)

The Group has incurred a number of material items in the year, whose significance is sufficient to warrant separate disclosure. 
The key elements included within separately disclosed items are:

• Annual charge in relation to share option costs

• Annual charge for the amortisation of acquired intangibles

• Items included in other charges in the year relate to restructuring costs and the release of surplus vacant leasehold provisions, 
net of credits in relation to deferred acquisition balances. The prior period relates to restructuring costs net of a credit in relation 
to the legal settlement of the 1986 Pension Scheme and the release of surplus vacant leasehold provisions.

The directors believe that the performance measure of operating profit before separately disclosed items gives a better view of 
underlying trading for the Group and enables the user of the accounts to more accurately understand the Group’s performance. 
Although the share option costs and amortisation of intangible assets are charges which occur annually, the directors excluded those 
charges from operating profit before separately disclosed items because their value is significant and they are not related to the 
underlying performance of the business.

The other charges in the year relate to costs incurred for the strategic growth plan and the closure of certain Polish operations. As 
these charges are expected to be one off in nature, the directors believe it is appropriate to exclude them from operating profit 
before separately disclosed items. The other charges for the prior period related to the winding up of the WYD Pension Scheme and 
strategic review costs, net of the credit for the finalisation of the 1986 Pension Scheme legal settlement.

3. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments

IFRS 8 requires segment reporting to be based on the internal financial information reported to the chief operating decision 
maker.  The Group’s chief operating decision maker is deemed to be the executive management team comprising of the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer.  Its primary responsibility is to manage the Group’s day-to-day operations 
and analyse trading performance.  The Group’s segments are detailed below and are those segments reported in the Group’s 
management accounts used by the executive management team as the primary means for analysing trading performance.  The 
Executive Committee assesses profit performance using operating profit measured on a basis consistent with the disclosure in the 
Group accounts.

The Group’s operations are managed and reported by key market segments:

• UK

• EAA (Europe, Africa and Asia)

• MENA (Middle East & North Africa including Turkey, which accounts for 71% of the total MENA revenue).
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3. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION CONTINUED
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2017 are as follows:

UK 
2017 

£’000

EAA 
2017 

£’000

MENA 
2017 

£’000

Group 
2017 

£’000

Revenue

External revenue 107,595 20,469 23,760 151,824

Less share of joint venture revenues - (1,284) - (1,284)

107,595 19,185 23,760 150,540

Operating profit before central overheads and 
separately disclosed items 9,056 1,020 2,984 13,060

Central overheads (4,292)

Operating profit before separately disclosed items 8,768

Separately disclosed items (note 2) (6,615)

Operating profit 2,153

Finance costs (554)

Profit before tax 1,599

Tax 779

Profit for the year 2,378

Profit attributable to non controlling interests -

Profit attributable to the owners of the parent 2,378

Other information

Additions to property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 1,711 144 59 1,914

Depreciation and amortisation 3,457 318 130 3,905

Balance sheet

Assets

Segment assets 63,730 12,150 13,730 89,610

Unallocated corporate assets 8,134

Group total assets 97,744

Liabilities

Segment liabilities (37,404) (7,118) (8,263) (52,785)

Unallocated corporate liabilities (13,385)

Group total liabilities (66,170)

Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and cash equivalents, tax recoverable, retirement benefit assets and deferred tax 
assets.  Unallocated corporate liabilities represent financial liabilities, retirement benefit obligations, corporation tax and deferred 
tax liabilities.
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3. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION CONTINUED
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2016 are as follows:

UK 
2016 

£’000

EAA 
2016 

£’000

MENA 
2016 

£’000

Group 
2016 

£’000

Revenue

External revenue 96,328 23,941 13,213 133,482

Less share of joint venture revenues - (665) - (665)

96,328 23,276 13,213 132,817

Operating profit before central overheads and 
separately disclosed items 10,325 671 258 11,254

Central overheads (4,033)

Operating profit before separately disclosed items 7,221

Separately disclosed items (note 2) (4,798)

Operating profit 2,423

Finance costs (201)

Profit before tax 2,222

Tax 608

Profit for the year 2,830

Loss attributable to non controlling interests (2)

Profit attributable to the owners of the parent 2,832

Other information

Additions to property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 8,289 165 63 8,517

Depreciation and amortisation 2,979 262 100 3,341

Balance sheet

Assets

Segment assets 60,916 15,137 8,237 84,290

Unallocated corporate assets 10,461

Group total assets 94,751

Liabilities

Segment liabilities (37,972) (9,440) (5,210) (52,622)

Unallocated corporate liabilities (13,848)

Group total liabilities (66,470)

Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and cash equivalents, tax recoverable, retirement benefit assets and deferred tax 
assets. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent financial liabilities, retirement benefit obligations, corporation tax and deferred 
tax liabilities.

WYG plc Annual Report & Accounts 201775



4. OPERATING EXPENSES

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Staff costs (Note 5) 66,662 58,627

Other external and operating charges 78,018 68,409

Depreciation 1,670 1,362

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,235 1,979

148,585 130,377

Operating profit has been arrived at after charging:

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,670 1,362

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,235 1,979

Loss on disposal of property, plant, equipment and intangibles 4 58

Operating lease rentals – plant and machinery 774 745

Operating lease rentals – other 3,669 3,927

During the year, the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company’s auditor and 
its associates:

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the parent company and 
consolidated accounts 20 20

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:

The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 172 156

Tax advisory services 18 29

210 205
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5. STAFF COSTS
The average monthly number of employees was:

Group

2017 
Number

2016 
Number

Technical 1,252 1,185

Administrative 321 321

1,573 1,506

The actual number of employees at 31 March was:

Group

2017 
Number

2016 
Number

Technical 1,251 1,257

Administrative 317 339

1,568 1,596

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 54,451 47,556

Social security costs 7,747 6,605

Pension costs 3,722 2,991

Share option costs (note 2) 742 1,475

66,662 58,627

In addition to the above permanent staff, the Group utilises the services of agency and temporary contract staff as  
circumstances require.

Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. Only the information included within the 
Directors’ remuneration table on page 58 consisting of the emoluments, pension and benefits in kind has been audited and  
forms part of these financial statements.

The Directors have identified 8 (2016: 14) key management personnel, this comprises the two executive directors and senior 
operational management of the wider Group whose cost to the Group was as follows:

Group

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Short term employment benefits 1,250 1,983

Social security costs 173 338

Post employment benefits 191 148

1,614 2,469
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6. FINANCE COSTS

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Interest on bank loans, bonds, guarantees and overdrafts 554 180

Interest on defined benefit scheme liabilities - 21

554 201
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7. TAXATION 
2017 

£’000
2016 

£’000

Corporation tax:

Current year charge – UK  250 -

Current year (credit)/charge – foreign (282) 315

Adjustments in respect of prior years - UK (452) -

Adjustments in respect of prior years - foreign 203 -

Foreign taxes written off to the income statement - 9

Total current tax (credit)/charge (281) 324

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (504) (914)

Effect of change in tax rate 14 -

Exchange differences (8) (18)

Total tax credit (779) (608)

Corporation tax is calculated at 20% (2016: 20%) of the estimated taxable profit for the year. The tax charge borne on the repayment of 
the pension surplus received from the winding up of the WYD Pension scheme has been calculated at 35%. 

Tax for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. Reductions to the corporation tax rate to 
19% with effect from 1 April 2017 and to 17% with effect from 1 April 2020 have been introduced by the Finance No2 Act 2015 and the 
Finance Act 2016. Accordingly UK deferred tax has been provided and recognised at the rates applicable to the years in which temporary 
differences are expected to reverse. Furthermore Legislation to provide for a separate Northern Ireland corporation tax rate was enacted 
in the Corporation Tax (Northern Ireland) Act 2015. It is intended that the rate will be 12.5% from April 2018. The Northern Ireland 
rate is not substantively enacted as there is currently no functioning devolved assembly in Stormont and the relevant commencement 
regulations have not been passed by the UK Government. Management estimates that when the 12.5% rate is substantively enacted the 
effect will be to reduce the recognised deferred tax asset on tax deductible goodwill by £85k.

Factors affecting the current tax credit for the year

The credit for the year can be reconciled to the profit in the income statement as follows: 2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Profit before tax 1,599 2,222

Profit before tax multiplied by the standard rate of UK corporation tax rate of 20% (2016: 20%) 320 444

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 784 183

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised (653) 2,132

Deferred tax assets not previously recognised (943) (2,976)

Effect of change in tax rate 14 -

Adjustment in respect of prior years (257) (350)

Foreign taxes - 9

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 18 (32)

Exchange differences (8) (18)

Other (54) -

Total tax credit (779) (608)

The company’s profits for this accounting year are taxed at an effective rate of 20% (2016: 20.%). 

The UK corporation tax rate will reduce to 19% effective 1 April 2017, with a further reduction to 17% effective 1 April 2020. Disclosure 
of deferred tax has been adjusted to reflect the enactment of the revised rates. 

Any rate changes that are not substantively enacted at the balance sheet date are not recognised in these financial statements.
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8. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share being profit for the year 2,378 2,832

Adjustment relating to separately disclosed items (see note 2) 6,615 4,798

Tax impact of separately disclosed items (354) (599)

Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted adjusted earnings per share 8,639 7,031

2017 
Number

2016 
Number

Number of shares

Weighted average number of shares for basic earnings per share 71,131,521 70,638,773

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

    Share options 1,560,338 1,317,148

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share 72,691,859 71,955,921

Earnings per share

Basic 3.3p 4.0p

Diluted 3.3p 3.9p

Adjusted earnings per share

Basic 12.1p 10.0p

Diluted 11.9p 9.8p

The adjusted earnings per share is calculated after excluding separately disclosed items (see note 2). This more accurately 
reflects the underlying performance of the Group.

9. DIVIDENDS
The final dividend of 1.0p per share for the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015: 0.7p per share) was paid in September 2016. The 
interim dividend of 0.6p per share for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: 0.5p) was approved on 1 December 2016 and paid 
in April 2017 and was accrued in the financial statements at 31 March 2017. The total amount recognised during the year was 
£1,103,000 (2016: £821,000).

The Directors have proposed a final dividend of 1.2p per share for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: 1.0p). This has not yet 
been approved by shareholders and so is not included as a liability in the financial statements.
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10. GOODWILL

£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2015 65,633

Acquisition of business 4,298

At 31 March 2016, 31 March 2017 69,931

Accumulated impairment losses at 31 March 2016, 31 March 2017 (51,738)

Net book value

At 31 March 2016, 31 March 2017 18,193

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there are indications that it may have suffered an impairment. Goodwill 
is considered impaired to the extent that its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of the value 
in use and the fair value less costs to sell of the CGU to which it is allocated.  The CGU relates to the reporting segments as 
reported in note 3. In the impairment tests of goodwill performed, the recoverable amount was determined based on the value in 
use calculations.

The value in use calculations are based on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent twelve month financial plans 
approved by the Board.

Cash flows for the periods beyond the twelve month financial plans for the CGUs to which significant amounts of goodwill were 
allocated were calculated as follows: cash flows from years two and thereafter were projected to remain constant per annum so 
prudently not exceeding the long-term growth rates in the principal end markets in the UK.

Discount rates were applied to the resulting cash flow projections that reflect current market assessments of the time value of 
money. Pre tax discount rates used in the annual impairment were 15% (2016: 15%).

Following the review at 31 March 2017, management concluded that no further impairment was necessary.

Management has assessed the sensitivity of the recoverable amounts to key assumptions to be as follows: a one percentage 
point increase in the pre tax discount rate of 15% would reduce the recoverable amount by £6,624,000; a one percentage fall in 
operating margin across the CGUs would reduce the recoverable amount by £1,261,000; and a one percentage point fall in the 
assumed long-term growth rate of 0% would reduce the recoverable amount by £3,418,000.

The net book value of goodwill relating to the UK is £17,062,000 (2016: £17,062,000) and EAA £1,131,000 (2016: £1,131,000).
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11. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Order books 
£’000

Customer 
relationships 

£’000

Total  
acquired 

intangibles 
£’000

Computer 
software 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2015 3,432 13,657 17,089 2,339 19,428

Additions 1,238 4,802 6,040 385 6,425

Exchange differences - - - 83 83

Disposals - - - (378) (378)

At 31 March 2016 4,670 18,459 23,129 2,429 25,558

Additions - - - 260 260

Exchange differences - - - 52 52

Disposals - - - (973) (973)

At 31 March 2017 4,670 18,459 23,129 1,768 24,897

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 April 2015 3,432 9,405 12,837 1,755 14,592

Charge for the year 215 1,318 1,533 446 1,979

Exchange differences - - - 70 70

Disposals - - - (378) (378)

At 31 March 2016 3,647 10,723 14,370 1,893 16,263

Charge for the year 457 1,406 1,863 372 2,235

Exchange differences - - - 47 47

Disposals - - - (973) (973)

At 31 March 2017 4,104 12,129 16,233 1,339 17,572

Net book value

At 31 March 2017 566 6,330 6,896 429 7,325

At 31 March 2016 1,023 7,736 8,759 536 9,295

At 31 March 2015 - 4,252 4,252 584 4,836

Where appropriate, intangible assets identified in business combinations have been recognised in accordance with the provisions 
of IFRS 3 (Business combinations) and IAS 38 (Intangible assets). Intangible assets have only been recognised where they have 
identifiable future economic benefits that are controlled by the entity, it is probable that these benefits will flow to the entity and 
their fair value can be measured reliably. 

There were no intangible assets in the Company (2016: £nil).
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Short 
leasehold 

improvements 
£’000

Motor 
vehicles 

£’000

Office 
furniture and 

equipment 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Cost

At 1 April 2015 3,511 558 3,058 7,127

Additions 1,035 52 1,005 2,092

Acquisition of new business - - 166 166

Exchange differences - (8) 212 204

Disposals (19) (60) (658) (737)

At 31 March 2016 4,527 542 3,783 8,852

Additions 684 23 947 1,654

Exchange differences - 39 133 172

Disposals - (17) (849) (866)

At 31 March 2017 5,211 587 4,014 9,812

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2015 2,738 435 1,647 4,820

Charge for the year 388 64 910 1,362

Exchange differences - 2 166 168

Disposals 3 (47) (635) (679)

At 31 March 2016 3,129 454 2,088 5,671

Charge for the year 461 41 1,168 1,670

Exchange differences - 32 121 153

Disposals - (17) (845) (862)

At 31 March 2017 3,590 510 2,532 6,632

Net book value

At 31 March 2017 1,621 77 1,482 3,180

At 31 March 2016 1,398 88 1,695 3,181

At 31 March 2015 773 123 1,411 2,307

The net book value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment includes an amount of £nil (2016: £nil) in respect of assets held 
under finance leases. Depreciation charged in the year on these assets amounted to £nil (2016: £nil).

The Company had no property, plant and equipment at either year end.
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13. INVESTMENTS AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS
Investments

Company investment in subsidiary undertakings

Cost 
£’000

Provision 
£’000

Value 
£’000

At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016, 31 March 2017 161,796 (109,062) 52,734

The Company’s principal subsidiaries are:

Subsidiary Place of business* % Holding**

WYG Group Limited England 100

WYG Engineering Limited England 100

WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited England 100

WYG Management Services Limited England 100

WYG International Limited England 100

WYG International Projects Limited England 100

WYG Planning Limited England 100

Arndale 22 Limited England 100

North Associates (Cumbria) Limited England 100

Taylor & Hardy Limited England 100

IMC Montan Limited England 50

WYG Engineering (Northern Ireland) Limited Northern Ireland 100

WYG Environmental & Planning (Northern Ireland) Limited Northern Ireland 100

WYG Management Services (Northern Ireland) Limited Northern Ireland 100

WYG International Danismanlik Limited Sirketi Turkey 100

WYG International Sp.z.o.o. Poland 100

PSDB Sp z.o.o. Poland 100

WYG Consulting Sp z.o.o Poland 100

WYG HR Consulting Sp z.o.o. Poland 100

WYG International Consulting SRL Romania 100

WYG Bulgaria EOOD Bulgaria 100

WYG Savjetovanje d.o.o. Croatia 100

WYG Kenya Limited Kenya 100

WYG Projects Uganda Limited Uganda 100

WYG Advisory Services (Proprietary) Limited South Africa 100

Waste Management Research Limited England 100
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13. INVESTMENTS AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS CONTINUED
Investments

The Company’s dormant subsidiaries are:

Subsidiary Place of business* % Holding**

Africa Infrastructure Technical Services South Africa 100

Alliance Environment and Planning Limited England 100

Delta Partnership Solutions Limited England 100

FMW Consultancy Limited England 100

Signet Planning Limited England 100

WYG East Africa Limited Kenya 100

WYG Group JLT United Arab Emirates 100

WYG Kazakhstan LLP Kazakhstan 100

o.o.o. WYG Russia 100

o.o.o.IEEC Russia 100

International Economic & Energy Consulting Limited England and Wales 100

International Management Consultants Limited England 100

Management Consultants Group Limited England 100

Trench Farrow Limited England 100

White Young Green International Limited England 100

White Young Green Limited England 100

WYG Projects Nigeria Limited Nigeria 100

WYG Zimbabwe (Private) Limited Zimbabwe 100

WYG Consulting Limited England 100

WYG Advisory Limited England 100

The investments in all of the above companies (excluding WYG Group Limited which is held directly) are held 
through subsidiary undertakings.

* All subsidiaries located in England have their registered office at Arndale Court, Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2UJ
Northern Ireland subsidiaries at 1 Locksley Business Park, Montgomery Road, Belfast BT6 9UP 
Turkey subsidiaries at Mustafa Kemal Mahallesi, MKM Is Merkexi 2127, Sokak, eski 47 no 38/7, Cankaya, Ankara, 06520, Turkey
Poland subsidiaries at Bitwy Warszawskiej 1920 roku nr 7, 02-366, Warsaw, Poland snd Ul. Marynarska 15 02-674,  
Warsaw, Poland
Romania subsidiaries at 5 Scarlatescu, Bucharest 1, Romania
Bulgaria subsidiaries at 40 Vasil Levski Blvd, Floor 3, Sofia, Bulgaria
Croatia subsidiaries at Zemunička 4, Zagreb 10000, Croatia
Kenya subsidiaries at Plot 2/14 Kilimani Road Nairobi Kenya 
Uganda subsidiaries at Plot 91 Kira Road, Bukoto, Kampala, PO BOX 73331, Uganda
South Africa subsidiaries at Ground Floor, Block G, Hatfield Gardens, 333 Grosvenor St, Pretoria.
United Arab Emirates subsidiaries at Dubai Multi Commodities Centre, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
Kazakhstan subsidiaries at Office 305, 3rd Floor, Business Centre, 6 Saryarka Avenue, Astana, Kazakhstan
Russia subsidiaries at Chayanova 22, Block 4, 125047, Moscow, Russian Federation
Nigeria subsidiaries at AYI & Associates Gateway Plaza (2nd Floor Left Wing) Plot 208, Off Herbert Macaulay Way, Central Business District, FCT Abuja, 
Nigeria
Zimbabwe subsidiaries at Manokore Attorneys, 61 Princess Drive, Corner Glenara Avenue, Harare Zimbabwe

** The % holding relates to both the proportion of ownership interest and proportion of voting power held
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13. INVESTMENTS AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS CONTINUED
Joint Arrangements

The significant arrangements over which the Group currently exercises joint control are shown below:

Joint arrangement Nature Activity % control Principal location

IMC Montan JV
Incorporated joint 
venture

Multi-disciplinary 
consultants 50 Russia

The IMC Montan joint venture is accounted for as an investment using the equity method.

IMC Montan JV, the 50% owned joint venture had revenue of £2.6m (2016: £1.3m), an operating profit of £447,000  
(2016: loss £37,000) and profit after tax of £395,000 (2016: loss of £3,000). The joint venture paid dividends to its owners 
of £nil (2016: £156,000).

The movement in reported investment in joint ventures reflects the current year share of result net of exchange differences.  
The joint venture had net assets of £1,206,000 (2016: £814,000) at 31 March 2017.
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14. DEFERRED TAX
The following are the principal deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the 
current year and prior years:

Accelerated 
Tax 

depreciation 
£’000

Share-
based 

payments 
£’000

Tax 
deductible 

goodwill 
£’000

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations 
£’000

Intangible 
assets 
£’000

Other 
temporary 
differences 

£’000
Losses 
£’000

Deferred 
tax assets 

not 
recognised 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Deferred tax 
asset at 
31 March 2015 2,284 2,146 539 603 - 210 8,373 (13,644) 511

Deferred tax 
liability at 
31 March 2015 (10) - - - (848) (246) - - (1,104)

Acquisitions (11) - - - (1,117) 63 - 11 (1,054)

Credit/(Charge) 
to income 133 (565) (40) 309 306 232 (642) 1,181 914

(Charge)/Credit 
to equity - - - (701) - - - 129 (572)

Effect of change 
in tax rates (242) (158) (50) (49) - (6) (733) 1,238 -

Foreign exchange - - - - - 18 - - 18

As at 
31 March 2016 2,154 1,423 449 162 (1,659) 271 6,998 (11,085) (1,287)

Deferred tax 
asset at 
31 March 2016 2,164 1,423 449 442 - 833 6,998 (11,085) 1,224

Deferred tax 
liability at 
31 March 2016 (10) - - (280) (1,659) (562) - - (2,511)

Credit/(Charge) 
to income 159 (720) (36) 237 415 (675) (654) 1,778 504

Effect of change 
in tax rates (129) (39) (23) (22) 38 (4) (352) 517 (14)

Foreign exchange - - - - - 8 - - 8

As at 
31 March 2017 2,184 664 390 377 (1,206) (400) 5,992 (8,790) (789)

Deferred tax 
asset at 31 
March 2017 2,194 664 390 377 - 419 5,992 (8,790) 1,246

Deferred tax 
liability at 31 
March 2017 (10) - - - (1,206) (819) - - (2,035)

2,184 664 390 377 (1,206) (400) 5,992 (8,790) (789)

The Company had no deferred tax assets or liabilities at either year end.
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14. DEFERRED TAX CONTINUED
At the balance sheet date the group has unused tax losses of £35,247k (2016: £37,336k) available for offset against future 
profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £2,629k (2016: £2,483k) of such losses. No deferred tax asset 
has been recognised in respect of £32,618k (2016: £34,853k) as it is not considered probable that there will be future taxable 
profits available. The losses can be carried forward indefinitely. In addition, the group has temporary differences £18,953k (2016: 
£25,177k) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £2,612k (2016: £nil) 
of such temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £16,341k (2016: £25,177k) as it is not 
considered probable that there will be future taxable profits available. 

Legislation to provide for a separate Northern Ireland corporation tax rate was enacted in the Corporation Tax (Northern Ireland) 
Act 2015. It is intended that the rate will be 12.5% from April 2018. The Northern Ireland rate is not substantively enacted as 
there is currently no functioning devolved assembly in Stormont and the relevant commencement regulations have not been 
passed by the UK Government. Management estimates that when the 12.5% rate is substantively enacted the effect will be to 
reduce the recognised deferred tax asset on tax deductible goodwill by £85k.

No deferred tax liability is recognised on temporary differences of £5,338k (2016: £4,359k) related to the unremitted earnings of 
overseas subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the reversal of these temporary differences and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the near future.
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15. WORK IN PROGRESS

Group Company

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Work-in-progress 31,124 32,116 - -

Provision (1,138) (1,744) - -

Net work-in-progress 29,986 30,372 - -

The value of work in progress comprises the costs incurred on a contract plus an appropriate proportion of overheads and 
attributable profit.  Profit is recognised on a percentage completion basis when the outcome of a contract or project can be 
reasonably foreseen. Provision is made in full for estimated losses.

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Amounts falling due within one year

Amounts receivable on contracts 26,998 20,699 - -

Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (536) (1,004) - -

Trade receivables – net 26,462 19,695 - -

Prepayments and accrued income 2,777 1,292 - -

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - - 2,164

Other receivables 1,084 1,855 - -

30,323 22,842 - 2,164

At 31 March 2017 trade receivables of £1,346,000 (2016: £1,307,000) were considered for potential impairment. The amount 
provided for these balances was £536,000 (2016: £1,004,000). The allocation of the provision according to invoice due date is  
as follows:

Group Company

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Between 0 and 30 days - - - -

Between 31 and 60 days - - - -

Between 61 and 120 days - - - -

Between 121 and 150 days - 156 - -

Between 151 and 330 days 209 435 - -

Greater than 330 days 327 413 - -

536 1,004 - -
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED
At 31 March 2017 trade receivables of £7.5m (2016: £7.7m) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of 
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables according to 
invoice due date is as follows:

Group Company

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Between 0 and 30 days 2,635 4,335 - -

Between 31 and 60 days 911 947 - -

Between 61 and 120 days 1,717 1,181 - -

Between 121 and 150 days 456 868 - -

Between 151 and 330 days 1,362 89 - -

Greater than 330 days 404 276 - -

7,485 7,696 - -

At 31 March 2017 trade receivables of £19m (2016: £12m) were neither past due nor impaired.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Sterling 19,224 16,542 - -

Euro 6,450 2,244 - -

Polish Zloty 1,040 786 - -

Other 284 1,127 - -

26,998 20,699 - -

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

Group Company

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

At 1 April 1,004 956 - -

Provision for receivables impairment 226 400 - -

Utilised in the year (708) (391) - -

Exchange differences 14 39 - -

As at 31 March 536 1,004 - -

The creation of provision for impaired receivables has been included in operating expenses in the income statement.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. There is no material difference between the 
carrying value and the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at the balance sheet date.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The 
Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Current

Trade payables 10,493 9,361 - -

Payments received on account 12,785 12,425 - -

Social security and other taxes 5,946 5,864 - -

Accruals and other payables 19,651 15,568 - -

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 14,173 15,715

Deferred consideration 733 3,464 - -

49,608 46,682 14,173 15,715

Included in Payments received on account are £9.6m (2016: £9.0m) of amounts which are secured with an advance  
payment bond.

18. PROVISIONS, LIABILITIES AND OTHER CHARGES

GROUP
Claims 
£’000

Vacant 
leasehold 

properties 
£’000

Total 
£’000

At 1 April 2015 3,205 5,383 8,588

Utilised during the year (766) (1,350) (2,116)

Release of provision (270) (262) (532)

At 31 March 2016, 1 April 2016 2,169 3,771 5,940

Charge in year 1,056 - 1,056

Utilised during the year (2,025) (1,042) (3,067)

Release of provision - (752) (752)

At 31 March 2017 1,200 1,977 3,177

No provisions were recorded in the Company (2016: £nil). 

Claims

Provisions are made for current and estimated obligations in respect of claims made by contractors and the general public relating 
to accident and other insurable risks arising as a result of the business activities of the Group.

Vacant leasehold properties

The Group has a number of vacant leasehold properties, the majority of which are held under head leases expiring within the 
next three years. Provision has been made for the residual lease commitments together with other outgoings, after taking into 
account assumptions relating to later periods of sub-lease.
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19. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Group Company

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Current

Bank loans and overdrafts 4,000 3,000 - -

Redemption liability - 50 - -

4,000 3,050 - -

Non-current

Bank loans 5,000 5,000 - -

5,000 5,000 - -

Financial liabilities are repayable as follows:

On demand or within one year 4,000 3,050 - -

In the second year 5,000 5,000 - -

9,000 8,050 - -

The financial liabilities above are all denominated in sterling.

The Group has outstanding issued bonds and guarantees to the value of £15,394,000 (2016: £13,605,000). No liability is expected 
to arise from these bonds and guarantees. 

Included in bank loans and overdrafts is £9,000,000 (2016: £8,000,000) of loans drawn under the Group’s 5 year facility with 
HSBC. The facility allows for amounts to be drawn for variable periods, with each amount attracting an interest cost of LIBOR plus 
a 1.65% margin. At 31 March 2017, whilst the loans have been drawn for short-term durations, it is the Director’s current intention 
that £5,000,000 will continually be renewed for a period of more than one year. Consequently this amount has been disclosed as 
a non-current liability.
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group is exposed to a number of different market risks in the normal course of business including foreign currency risks, 
credit risks and cash flow and interest rate risks.

Risk management is carried out by Group Treasury under policies approved by the Board of directors. These principles 
are embedded in the Group Treasury and Cash Management Operating Guidelines and Procedures. The Board provides 
written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as currency exposure 
management, interest rate risk, working capital control and investment of excess liquidity.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse affects on the Group’s financial 
performance. Policy is to manage centrally the Group’s liquidity, funding and exposure to foreign currency risk in a manner which 
ensures straightforward administration, minimisation of risk and operational flexibility.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in currencies other than Sterling. The 
currency giving rise to this risk is primarily the Euro, though most of the Group’s trading is denominated in the currencies relevant 
to the local subsidiaries, thus matching the currency with its cost base. As a result the Group does not hedge everyday foreign 
currency transactions.

The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the 
local functional currency:

Functional currency of Group operations

Sterling 
2017 

£’000

Euro 
2017 

£’000

Sterling 
2016 

£’000

Euro 
2016 

£’000

Sterling - 1,625 - 532

Euro 178 - 149 -

US Dollar 117 321 - 892

Polish Zloty - 1,278 - (69)

Turkish Lira - (887) - (238)

Other - 589 - 471

295 2,926 149 1,588

At 31 March 2017 if Sterling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Euro, with all other variables held constant, post-tax 
profit for the year would not have been affected significantly.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and credit exposure to customers, including outstanding receivables and invoiced work 
performed for these parties.

The Group has a customer credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. At 31 March 
2017 there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of each 
financial asset included on the balance sheet.

Liquidity risk

Established procedures are in place to ensure that the operational and working capital requirements of the Group can be met at 
all times.  These include:

• regular review, monitoring and forecasting of working capital requirements across Group companies

• use of short term, local bank facilities.
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
Cash flow and interest rate risk

At 31 March 2017 the Group had committed bonding and debt facilities of £33.0m (2016: £33.0m). 

In July 2015, a £25m five year committed multicurrency revolving credit facility from HSBC was secured. It offered broad flexibility 
between debt and bonding requirements. The flexible debt facility allows for amounts to be drawn for variable periods, allowing 
the Group to manage cash flows and interest costs.

At 31 March 2017 all financial liabilities are floating rate liabilities (2016: £Nil).

Fair values

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group are considered to be materially equivalent to their book value.

21. SHARE CAPITAL

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary:

69,898,105 (2016: 68,384,528) new ordinary shares of 0.1p each 70 68

4,540,758 (2016: 4,540,758) convertible shares of 0.1p each 5 5

75 73

The ordinary shares have full voting rights and are entitled to participate in a return of capital or assets. 

The convertible shares are subject to certain conditions, and have rights of conversion into ordinary shares. The convertible 
shares have no voting, economic or other rights save certain circumstances, and are not entitled to participate in a return of 
capital or assets. The convertible shares are not listed on AIM or any other investment exchange and the holder is entitled to 
convert the convertible shares into ordinary shares at any time provided that:

• the Company’s volume weighted average ordinary share price rises above £1.50 for a period of at least 25 consecutive trading 
days between the second and tenth anniversary following the placing in July 2011, or

• an offer is made to acquire the entire issued share capital of the Company which becomes unconditional in all respects (or, if 
conducted by way of a scheme of arrangement, such scheme of arrangement becomes effective), or

• the ordinary shares cease to be listed either on AIM or the main market of the London Stock Exchange.

The convertible shares have been recorded as equity as the holders do not have an unconditional right to require  
their redemption. 

The issues of shares in the year were made to satisfy the exercise of share options.
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22. CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS

Group Company

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Profit/(loss) from operations 2,153 2,423 (435) (410)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,670 1,362 - -

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,235 1,979 - -

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4 58 - -

Share options charge 742 1,475 - -

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 6,804 7,297 (435) (410)

Decrease/(increase) in work in progress 1,976 (7,508) - -

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (7,030) 365 2,164 1,464

Increase/(decrease) in payables 1,630 (1,120) (1,737) (1,052)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 3,380 (966) (8) 2

23. ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET CASH/(DEBT)

GROUP

At 
1 April 

2016 
£’000

Cash flows 
£’000

Other 
non-cash 

items 
£’000

At 
31 March 

2017 
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 8,231 (1,992) 279 6,518

Bank loans and overdrafts (8,000) (1,000) - (9,000)

Net cash/(debt) 231 (2,992) 279 (2,482)

Cash in restricted access accounts (1,070) (68) (76) (1,214)

Unrestricted debt (839) (3,060) 203 (3,696)

Restricted cash relates to restricted access accounts in WYG International Limited. Other non-cash movements represent 
currency exchange differences.
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24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES
The Company and its subsidiary undertakings cross guarantee to the Group’s principal bankers the loans and overdrafts, if any,  
of each Company covered by the guarantee. At 31 March 2017 the Group’s loans and overdrafts amounted to £9,000,000  
(2016: £8,00,000).

The Group has outstanding bonds and guarantees to the value of £15,394,000 (2016: £13,605,000) in the ordinary course of 
business. No liability is expected to arise from these bonds and guarantees.

25. FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
At 31 March 2017, the Group and the Company had capital commitments outstanding of £nil (2016: £nil). The Company had no 
capital commitments at either year end.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases, which fall due as follows:

2017 2016

Land and 
buildings 

£’000
Other 
£’000

Land and 
buildings 

£’000
Other 
£’000

Within one year 2,830 506 3,775 779

In the second to fifth years inclusive 3,240 816 5,195 931

After five years 114 - 158 -

6,184 1,322 9,128 1,710

The Company had no such commitments at either year end.
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
At the AGM in September 2015, shareholders approved new incentive arrangements which comprised three key elements: an 
annual bonus scheme with deferred cash and share-based payments, a more standard long-term incentive plan (Performance 
Share Plan PSP) with stretching three year targets for earnings per share and shareholder returns, and a retention scheme for 
other key senior employees. 

The new schemes replaced the existing Transformation Incentive Plan (TIP) and required 12.2 million options previously awarded 
under the TIP to be surrendered. The surrender was equivalent to 17.9% of the issued share capital and thus substantially 
removed the potential dilutive effect of the TIP scheme which had become an impediment to optimising shareholder value. 

At 31 March 2017 outstanding options and awards to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company, granted in accordance with 
the rules of the relevant share option schemes were as follows:

Transformation 
Incentive Plan

Matching 
share awards

Performance 
Share Plan

Restricted 
Share Plan

Deferred 
Annual 
Bonus  

Share Plan Total

Exercise price 0.1p 0.1p - - -

At 1 April 2015 18,044,705 500,000 - - - 18,544,705

Awarded - - 1,407,934 1,234,000 - 2,641,934

Lapsed (373,450) - - (93,500) - (466,950)

Exercised (1,372,874) - - - - (1,372,874)

Surrendered (12,194,474) - - - - (12,194,474)

At 31 March 2016 4,103,907 500,000 1,407,934 1,140,500 - 7,152,341

At 1 April 2016 4,103,907 500,000 1,407,934 1,140,500 - 7,152,341

Awarded - - 1,587,439 30,000 78,602 1,696,041

Lapsed (307,581) - (431,262) (92,781) (5,075) (836,699)

Exercised (1,480,758) - - - - (1,480,758)

At 31 March 2017 2,315,568 500,000 2,564,111 1,077,719 73,527 6,530,925

Exercisable at 
31 March 2017 2,315,368 500,000 - - - 2,815,568

Transformation Incentive Plan (TIP)

On 12 July 2011 the Company established the TIP in order to incentivise the Company’s most senior executives.  The TIP 
operated as a standard long-term incentive plan under which share option awards were granted.  The exercise price for awards is 
a nominal amount. Awards under the TIP were originally intended to vest on the achievement of share price threshold targets for 
the Ordinary Shares (based on when the options were issued over a five year timescale). 

As noted above, on 24 September 2015, 12.2m options previously awarded under the TIP were surrendered. The remaining 
options under the TIP scheme had performance thresholds of £1.25, £1.30, and £1.35 (which have all been met) and £1.50 (which 
was not met prior to the closure of the plan). 

Matching share award

In addition, on 12 July 2011, the Company established a separate share matching arrangement for the Chairman to ensure his 
continued retention within the business (the ‘Matching Share Award’).   Under the Matching Share Award, in consideration for the 
Chairman investing £100,000  to acquire new Ordinary Shares, the Chairman was granted a share option award of 2.5 Ordinary 
Shares for each new Ordinary Share so acquired, being a total of 500,000 Ordinary Shares (‘Matching Shares’).  The Matching 
Share Award has a nominal value exercise price.  There are no performance conditions that apply to this award.  The Matching 
Share Award vested on 12 July 2014 (being the third anniversary of the admission of the New Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM).
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED
Performance Share Plan (PSP)

The Performance Share Plan (PSP) covering the senior executive and leadership teams only was established on 24 September 
2015. Awards under the PSP are made each year and will only vest on the achievement of earnings per share (EPS) growth and 
total shareholder return (TSR) targets measured over three years and are dependent on continued employment.

The targets are summarised as follows:

Performance level Potential vesting of award 
(50% TSR; 50% EPS)

TSR attainment EPS attainment 
(3 year growth)

Maximum 100% Upper Quartile or above 50% or more growth 

Intermediate Between 25% and 100% on a 
straight-line basis 

Median to Upper Quartile Between 25% and 50% growth 

Threshold 25% Median 25% growth 

Options issued under the PSP attract a charge under IFRS. The fair value of these share options has been calculated using the 
Monte-Carlo pricing model. The key assumptions within the model are the risk free rate of interest (0.33%), the dividend yield 
(0.89%) and the Company’s share price volatility (19-32%).

Restricted Share Plan (RSP)

The Restricted Share Plan (RSP) covers other key senior employees. There are no targets or market conditions attached to these 
awards. All awards will trigger after three years’ continued employment.

Options issued under the RSP attract a charge under IFRS. The fair value of these share options has been calculated by 
discounting the share price by the dividends over the expected life from the date of calculation. The key assumptions within the 
calculation are the dividend yield (0.89%) and the expected life (2.5 years).

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (DABS Plan)

The DABS Plan is a component of the revised annual bonus arrangements for executives approved by shareholders at the AGM in 
September 2015. Bonuses can only be earned if challenging performance targets determined by the Committee at the start of the 
financial year are achieved. It includes significant elements of bonus deferral in the form of cash and shares such that two thirds 
of any bonus outcome will be deferred for a period of three years, one half of which (i.e one third of the bonus outcome) will be 
deferred in the form of a cash award and one half of which (i.e one third of the bonus outcome) will be an award of shares under 
the DABS Plan. 

Employee Benefit Trust

At 31 March 2017 the EBT held nil (2016: nil) ordinary shares with a cost of £nil (2016: £nil) and a market value of £nil (2016: £nil).

Weighted average exercise price and charges

The options outstanding at 31 March 2017 had a weighted average exercise price of 0p (2016: 0p) and a weighted average 
remaining contractual life of 1.5 years (2016: 2.5 years).

During the year the Group recognised total charges of £742,000 (2016: £1,475,000) in relation to share-based  
payment transactions.
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Defined Contribution Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme for all UK qualifying employees with Aegon. The assets of 
the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The total cost charged to income of £3,722,000 (2016: £2,991,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes by the 
Group at rates specified in the rules of the plan. As at 31 March 2016, contributions of £350,000 (2016: £318,000) due in respect 
of the current reporting period had not been paid over to the scheme.

Defined Benefit Schemes

The Group has residual liabilities in respect of one defined benefit scheme (the White Young Consulting Group Limited Retirement 
Benefit Plan (1986) (the ‘1986 Scheme’)).

In 2013 we reached a full and final, binding settlement with the representative beneficiary and independent trustee of the 1986 
Scheme, concluding an issue that had been in dispute since 2008. Under the Court approved settlement, we will pay £3.2m into 
the Scheme in instalments over 12 years. Other than this, WYG has no further liability to the 1986 Scheme.

On 20 March 2015, the 1986 Scheme was transferred to the Financial Assistance Scheme and, in accordance with s161 of the 
Pensions Act 2004, is treated as having been wound up from that date.

In December 2015, WYG Engineering Limited (the Principal Employer under the WYD Scheme), and the Trustees of the WYD 
Scheme reached an agreement under which the liabilities of the WYD Scheme were insured with Just Retirement Limited. The 
agreement contained an option allowing the Trustees to effect a buyout of all the WYD Scheme liabilities and, on 31 March 2016, 
they completed the exercise of this option. This eliminated the Group’s only remaining exposure to defined benefit pension risk. 
The process of formally winding up the WYD Scheme was completed on 31 December 2016.

The two schemes give rise to an overall net pension liability at 31 March 2017 of £2.1m (2016: £1.6m) as follows:

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations (WYD Scheme) -

Fair value of scheme assets (WYD Scheme) - 799

Asset recognised in the balance sheet (WYD Scheme) - 799

Defined benefit asset ceiling (WYD Scheme) - -

Other pension liabilities (1986 Scheme) (2,115) (2,356)

(2,115) (1,557)

The net liability is included in the balance sheet as follows:

Retirement benefit asset - 799

Retirement benefit obligation (2,115) (2,356)

(2,115) (1,557)
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES CONTINUED
Amounts recognised in income in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

Interest cost - (21)

 
Actuarial gains and losses have been reported in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

At 1 April - (8,379)

Interest cost - (247)

Actuarial gains - 1,353

Benefits paid - 306

Liabilities extinguished on settlement - 6,967

At 31 March - -

Members of the Scheme receive retained benefits provided by an external provider which act as an offset to the benefits 
previously provided by the scheme (and now provided by the buyout policy). 

Movements in the present value of fair value of scheme assets in the current year were as follows:

Members of the Scheme receive retained benefits provided by an external provider which act as an offset to the benefits 
previously provided by the scheme (and now provided by the buyout policy). 

Movements in the present value of fair value of scheme assets in the current year were as follows

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

At 1 April 799 9,732

Interest income - 291

Actuarial losses - (508)

Contributions from the sponsoring companies - 341

Benefits paid - (306)

Charges paid - (74)

Assets distributed on settlement (799) (8,677)

At 31 March - 799
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28. RELATED PARTIES
There is no ultimate controlling party.

Company

Funds are transferred within the Group, dependent on the 
operational needs of individual companies. Balances owed 
by other Group undertakings are shown in note 18 to the 
accounts. Investment income of £nil (2016: £nil) was received 
from a subsidiary company. There are no material transactions 
between WYG plc and its subsidiaries.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL  
GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the thirty third Annual 
General Meeting of WYG plc (Company) will be  
held at the Company’s registered office at Arndale 
Court, Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2UJ on 
Thursday 21 September 2017 at 10.00am for the 
following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions 
as ordinary resolutions:

1. To receive the Company’s annual accounts, strategic report 
and directors’ and auditor’s reports for the year ended 31 
March 2017.

2. To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the 
year ended 31 March 2017.

3. To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 
of 1.2 pence per ordinary share in the capital of the Company, 
to be paid on 3 October 2017 to shareholders whose  
names appear on the register at the close of business on  
8 September 2017.

4. To re-elect Neil Masom as a director.

5. To elect Douglas McCormick as a director.

6. To appoint Deloitte LLP as auditor of the Company.

7. To authorise the board of directors of the Company (or a 
duly constituted committee of the directors of the Company) 
(Directors) to determine the remuneration of the auditor.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
As special business to consider and, if thought fit, pass 
resolution 8 as an ordinary resolution and resolutions 9 and 10 
as special resolutions:

8. THAT, in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 
2006 (CA 2006) the Directors be generally and unconditionally 
authorised to allot Relevant Securities (as defined in the notes 
to this resolution):

8.1 comprising equity securities (as defined by section 560 
of the CA 2006) up to an aggregate nominal amount 
of £46,598 (such amount to be reduced by the nominal 
amount of any Relevant Securities allotted pursuant to 
the authority in paragraph 7.2 below) in connection with 
an offer by way of a rights issue:

8.1.1. to holders of ordinary shares in proportion 
(as nearly as may be practicable) to their 
respective holdings, and

8.1.2. to holders of other equity securities as r 
equired by the rights of those securities or as 
the Directors otherwise consider necessary,

but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as  
the Directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation 
to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, 
legal or practical problems in or under the laws of any 
territory or the requirements of any regulatory body or  
stock exchange, and 

8.2. in any other case, up to an aggregate nominal a 
mount of £23,299 such amount to be reduced by 
the nominal amount of any equity securities allotted 
pursuant to the authority in paragraph 7.1 above in 
excess of £23,299, provided that this authority shall, 
unless renewed, varied or revoked by the Company, 
expire on 22 December 2018 or, if earlier, at the 
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of 
the Company save that the Company may before 
such expiry, make offers or agreements which would 
or might require Relevant Securities to be allotted 
and the Directors may allot Relevant Securities in 
pursuance of such offer or agreement notwithstanding 
that the authority conferred by this resolution  
has expired.

This resolution revokes and replaces all unexercised 
authorities previously granted to the Directors to  
allot Relevant Securities but without prejudice to  
any allotment of shares or grant of rights already 
made, offered or agreed to be made pursuant to  
such authorities. 

In this resolution, Relevant Securities means: (a) 
shares in the Company, other than shares allotted 
pursuant to (i) an employee share scheme (as defined 
in section 1166 of the CA 2006); (ii) a right to subscribe 
for shares in the Company where the grant of the right 
itself constitutes a Relevant Security; or (iii) a right to 
convert securities into shares in the Company where  
the grant of the right itself constitutes a Relevant 
Security; or (b) any right to subscribe for or to convert 
any security into shares in the Company other than 
rights to subscribe for or convert any security into 
shares allotted pursuant to an employee share  
scheme (as defined in section 1166 of the CA 2006). 
References to the allotment of Relevant Securities in 
this resolution include the grant of such rights.
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9.1 THAT, subject to the passing of resolution 8, the 
Directors be authorised to allot equity securities (as 
defined in section 560 of the CA 2006) for cash under 
the authority conferred by that resolution and/or to 
sell ordinary shares held by the Company as treasury 
shares as if section 561 of the CA 2006 did not apply to 
any such allotment or sale, provided that such authority 
shall be limited to:

9.1.1 the allotment of equity securities in connection 
with an offer of equity securities (but, in the 
case the authority granted by paragraph 8.1 of 
resolution 8 by way of a rights issue only):

9.1.1.1 to holders of ordinary shares in 
proportion (as nearly as may be 
practicable) to their respective 
holdings, and

9.1.1.2 to holders of other equity securities 
as required by the rights of those 
securities or as the Directors 
otherwise consider necessary,

but subject to such exclusions or other 
arrangements as the Directors may deem 
necessary or expedient in relation to treasury 
shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, 
legal or practical problems in or under the 
laws of any territory or the requirements of 
any regulatory body or stock exchange; and

9.1.2 the allotment of equity securities or sale of 
treasury shares (otherwise than pursuant to 
clause 9.1.1 of this resolution) to any person up 
to an aggregate nominal amount of £3,494.50.

The authority granted by this resolution shall expire 
on 22 December 2018 or, if earlier, at the conclusion 
of the next annual general meeting after the passing 
of this resolution, save that the Company may, 
before such expiry, make offers or agreements 
which would or might require equity securities to be 
allotted (or treasury shares to be sold) in pursuance 
of any such offer or agreement as if the authority 
had not expired.

9.2 THAT, subject to the passing of resolution 8, the 
Directors be authorised in addition to any authority 
granted under clause 9.1 of this resolution to allot 
equity securities (as defined in section 560 of the 
CA 2006) for cash under the authority conferred by 
resolution 8 and/or to sell ordinary shares held by the 
Company as treasury shares as if section 561 of the 
CA 2006 did not apply to any such allotment or sale, 
provided that such authority shall be:

9.2.1 limited to the allotment of equity securities 
or sale of treasury shares up to an aggregate 
nominal amount of £3,494.50, and

9.2.2 used only for the purpose of financing (or 
refinancing, if the authority is to be used within 
six months after the original transaction) a 
transaction which the Directors determine to 
be an acquisition or other capital investment 
of the kind contemplated by the Statement of 
Principles on Disapplying Pre-Emption Rights 
most recently published by the Pre-Emption 
Group prior to the date of this notice.

The authority granted by this resolution will expire 
on 22 December 2018 or, if earlier, at the conclusion 
of the Company’s next annual general meeting after 
this resolution is passed, save that the Company 
may, before such expiry make offers or agreements 
which would or might require equity securities to 
be allotted (or treasury shares to be sold) after the 
authority expires and the Directors may allot equity 
securities (or sell treasury shares) in pursuance of 
any such offer or agreement as if the authority had 
not expired.

9.3 The resolutions in clause 9.1 and clause 9.2 revoke and 
replace all unexercised powers previously granted to 
the Directors to allot equity securities or sell treasury 
shares as if section 561 of the CA 2006 did not apply 
but without prejudice to any allotment of equity 
securities or sale of treasury shares already made or 
agreed to be made pursuant to such authorities.
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10.  To authorise the Company generally and unconditionally 
to make market purchases (within the meaning of section 
693(4) of the CA 2006) of ordinary shares of 0.1p each 
provided that:

10.1 the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares 
which may be purchased is 6,989,811;

10.2 the minimum price (excluding expenses) which may 
be paid for each ordinary share is 0.1p;

10.3 the maximum price (excluding expenses) which may 
be paid for each ordinary share is the higher of:

10.3.1 105% of the average market value of an 
ordinary share in the Company for the five 
business days prior to the day the purchase is 
made, and

10.3.2 The value of an ordinary share calculated on 
the basis of the higher of the price quoted 
for: 

10.3.2.1 the last independent trade of, and

10.3.2.2 the highest current independent  
bid for,

any number of the Company’s ordinary 
shares on the trading venue where the 
purchase is carried out.

10.4 The authority conferred by this resolution shall expire 
on 22 December 2018 or, if earlier, at the conclusion of 
the next annual general meeting of the Company after 
the passing of this resolution, save that the Company 
may before the expiry of the authority granted by this 
resolution, enter into a contract to purchase ordinary 
shares which will or may be executed wholly or partly 
after the expiry of such authority.

By order of the Board

BENJAMIN WHITWORTH 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
6 JUNE 2017

Registered office:

Arndale Court 
Otley Road 
Headingley 
Leeds LS6 2UJ

Registered in England & Wales No. 01869543
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NOTES TO AGM RESOLUTIONS

ORDINARY BUSINESS
Resolutions 1 to 7 are proposed as ordinary resolutions. This 
means that for each of these resolutions to be passed, more 
than half the votes cast must be in favour of the resolution.

Resolution 1: Report and Accounts
The Directors must present the Company’s annual accounts, strategic 
report and directors’ and auditor’s reports to shareholders at a general 
meeting. Those to be presented at the AGM are in respect of the year 
ended 31 March 2017, and are called the Annual Report 2017. The Annual 
Report 2017 is available on the Company’s website www.wyg.com and  
has been posted to shareholders who have opted to continue to receive 
hard copies.

Resolution 2: Directors’ Remuneration Report
The Directors have elected to seek shareholder approval at each AGM for 
its Directors’ Remuneration Report which describes how the Company’s 
Directors’ Remuneration Policy has been implemented during the previous 
financial year. As an AIM company, the Company is putting forward this 
resolution on a voluntary basis.

The Directors Remuneration Report is set out on pages 55 to 58 of the 
Annual Report 2017.

This vote is advisory only, therefore it does not affect the historical 
remuneration paid to any individual Director.

Resolution 3: Final Dividend
The Directors are recommending a final dividend for the year ended 31 
March 2017 of 1.2 pence per ordinary share in the Company. If approved, 
the final dividend will be paid on 3 October 2017 to shareholders whose 
names appear on the register of members of the Company at the close of 
business on 8 September 2017.

Resolution 4: Re-appointment of Director
The Company’s Articles of Association require one third of the Directors for 
the time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then 
the number nearest to but not more than one third, to retire from office at 
every annual general meeting. In accordance with this rule, Mike McTighe 
and Neil Masom are retiring. Mike will not be offering himself for re-
election. Neil Masom, being eligible, is seeking re-election at this meeting.

Neil Masom’s profile is provided in the Annual Report 2017 on page 46.

Resolution 5: Appointment of Director
The Company’s Articles of Association require that any Director appointed 
during the year shall only hold office until the next AGM and shall then be 
eligible for election. In accordance with this rule, Douglas McCormick is 
seeking election at this meeting.

A profile of Douglas McCormick is provided in the Annual Report 2017  
on page 5.

Resolutions 6 and 7: Re-appointment and 
Remuneration of the Auditor
The Company is required to appoint auditors at each general meeting 
at which its annual accounts and reports are presented to shareholders. 
Therefore, resolution 6 proposes the reappointment of Deloitte LLP as 
auditor (to hold office until the next such meeting), and, in accordance  
with normal practice, resolution 7 authorises the Directors to determine  
the auditor’s remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
Resolution 8 is proposed as an ordinary resolution which means that for 
this resolution to be passed more than half the votes cast must be in favour 
of the resolution. Resolutions 9 and 10 are proposed as special resolutions. 
This means that for each of these resolutions to be passed, at least three-
quarters of the votes cast must be in favour of the resolution.

Resolution 8: Authority to Allot Shares
Generally, the Directors may only allot shares in the Company (or rights 
to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares in the Company) if 
they have been authorised to do so by shareholders in general meeting.

Resolution 8 renews a similar authority given at last year’s AGM and is in 
two parts.

This resolution complies with the Share Capital Management Guidelines 
issued by the Investment Association in July 2016.

If passed, the resolution will authorise the Directors to allot: (i) in relation 
to a pre-emptive rights issue only, equity securities (as defined by section 
560 of the CA 2006) up to a maximum nominal amount of £46,598 which 
represents approximately two thirds of the Company’s issued ordinary 
shares (excluding treasury shares) as at 5 June 2017. This maximum is 
reduced by the nominal amount of any Relevant Securities allotted under 
the authority set out in paragraph 8.2; and (ii) in any other case, Relevant 
Securities up to a maximum nominal amount of £23,299 which represents 
approximately one third of the Company’s issued ordinary shares (excluding 
treasury shares) as at 5 June 2017. This maximum is reduced by the 
nominal amount of any equity securities allotted under the authority set 
out in paragraph 8.1 in excess of £23,299.

The maximum nominal amount of Relevant Securities (including equity 
securities) which may be allotted under this resolution is £46,598.

As at the close of business on 5 June 2017, the Company did not hold any 
treasury shares.

If given, these authorities will expire at the conclusion of the Company’s 
next AGM or on 22 December 2018 (whichever is the earlier). It is the 
Directors’ intention to renew these authorities each year.

The Directors have no current intention to exercise either of the authorities 
sought under resolution 8. However, the Directors consider that it is in 
the best interests of the Company to have the authorities available so that 
they have the maximum flexibility permitted by institutional shareholder 
guidelines to allot shares or to grant rights without the need for a general 
meeting should they determine that it is appropriate to do so to respond 
to market developments or to take advantage of business opportunities as 
they arise.

Resolution 9: Disapplication of Pre-emption Rights
Generally, if the Directors wish to allot new shares or other equity 
securities in the Company for cash or sell treasury shares for cash, then 
they must first offer such shares or securities to ordinary shareholders in 
proportion to their existing holdings. These statutory pre-emption rights 
may be disapplied by shareholders.

Resolution 9, which will be proposed as a special resolution, renews a 
similar power given at last year’s AGM and, if passed, will give the Directors 
power, pursuant to the authority to allot granted by resolution 8, to allot 
equity securities (as defined by section 560 of the CA 2006) or sell treasury 
shares for cash without first offering them the existing shareholders in 
proportion to their existing holdings: (a) in relation to pre-emptive offers 
and to holders of other equity securities if required by the rights of those 
securities or the Directors otherwise consider necessary, up to a maximum 
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nominal amount of £23,999 which represents approximately one third of 
the Company’s issued ordinary share capital (excluding treasury shares) as 
at 5 June 2017 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication 
of this document) and, in relation to rights issues only, up to a maximum 
additional amount of £23,999 which represents approximately one third of 
the Company’s issued ordinary share capital (excluding Treasury shares) 
as at 5 June 2017 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication 
of this document); and (b) in any other case, up to a maximum nominal 
amount of £3,494 (which represents approximately 5% of the Company’s 
issued ordinary share capital (excluding treasury shares) as at 5 June 2017, 
being the latest practicable date before the publication of this document).

This resolution is in line with guidance issued by the Investment Association 
(as updated in July 2016) and the Pre-emption Group’s Statement of 
Principles as updated in March 2015) (Statement of Principles), and the 
template resolutions published by the Pre-Emption Group in May 2016.

In compliance with the Statement of Principles the Directors confirm that 
they will not allot shares for cash on a non-pre-emptive basis pursuant 
to the authority granted in clause 9.2 of this resolution other than in 
connection with an acquisition or specified capital investment which is 
announced contemporaneously with the issue or which has taken place in 
the preceding six month period and is disclosed in the announcement of 
the allotment.

In addition, the Directors also accordance with confirm that in accordance 
with the Statement of Principles, they do not intend to issue shares for 
cash representing more than 7.5% of the Company’s issued ordinary share 
capital in any rolling three year period other than to existing shareholders, 
save as permitted in connection with an acquisition or specified capital 
investment as described above, unless shareholders have been notified and 
consulted in advance.

If given, the authority granted by this resolution will expire at the 
conclusion of the Company’s next AGM or on 22 December 2018 (whichever 
is the earlier). The Directors have no present intention to exercise the 
authority conferred by this resolution. It is the Directors’ intention to this 
authority each year.

Resolution 10: Purchase by the Company of its  
own Shares
Resolution 10, which will be proposed as a special resolution, renews a 
similar authority given at last year’s AGM. This resolution seeks authority 
for the Company to make market purchases of its own ordinary shares. 
If passed, the resolution gives authority for the Company to purchase up 
to 6,989,811 of its ordinary shares representing just under 10% of the 
Company’s issued ordinary share capital (excluding treasury shares) as  
at 5 June 2017, being the last practicable date before the publication of  
this document). 

The resolution specifies the minimum and maximum prices which may be 
paid for any ordinary shares purchased under this authority. If given, this 
authority will expire at the conclusion of the Company’s next AGM or on  
22 December 2018 (whichever is the earlier). It is the Directors’ intention  
to renew this authority each year.

The Directors have no current intention to exercise the authority sought 
under resolution 9 to make market purchases, but consider the authority 
desirable to provide maximum flexibility in the management of the 
Company’s capital base. If passed, the Directors will only exercise this 
authority if they believe that to do so would result in an increase in 
earnings per share and would be in the best interests of the Company and 
of its shareholders generally.

The Company is permitted to hold its own shares it has purchased in 
treasury, as an alternative to cancelling them. Shares held by the Company 
in treasury may subsequently be cancelled, sold for cash or used to satisfy 
options exercised under the Company’s share schemes. While held in 
treasury, the Company’s shares are not entitled to receive any dividend or 
dividend equivalent (apart from any issue of bonus shares) and have no 
voting rights. The Directors believe that it is appropriate for the Company 
to have the option to hold its own shares in treasury. If, at a future date, 
the Directors exercise this authority in order to provide the Company with 
additional flexibility in the management of its capital base, the Directors will 
have regard to institutional shareholder guidelines which may be in force at 
the time of any such purchase, holding or resale of shares held in treasury. 
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NOTES TO NOTICE OF MEETING

Entitlement to attend and vote 
1. The right to vote at the meeting is determined by reference to the 

register of members. Only those shareholders registered in the register 
of members of the Company as at 6.00pm on 19 September 2017 (or, if 
the meeting is adjourned, 6.00pm on the date which is two days before 
the date of the adjourned meeting) shall be entitled to attend and vote 
at the meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their 
name at that time. Changes to entries in the register of members after 
that time shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person 
to attend, speak or vote (and the number of the votes they may cast) at 
the meeting.

Proxies
2. A shareholder is entitled to appoint another person or persons as  

his or her proxy/proxies to exercise all or any of his or her rights to 
attend and vote at the meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder  
of the Company.

A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in relation to the 
meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights 
attached to a different share or shares held by that shareholder. If more 
than one proxy is appointed in respect of a different share or shares 
held by a shareholder but the proxy appointment does not specify to 
which share or shares the appointment or appointments relate or the 
total number of shares in respect of which appointments are made 
exceeds the total holding of the shareholder, the directors (in their 
absolute discretion) shall decide which of the proxies so appointed shall 
be entitled to attend and vote and be counted in the quorum at any 
general meeting. 

The appointment of a proxy will not preclude a shareholder from 
attending and voting in person at the meeting. In the event of a poll in 
which a shareholder votes in person, any proxy votes lodged with the 
Company by or on behalf of such shareholder will be excluded.

A proxy may only be appointed in accordance with the procedures set 
out in notes 3 to 5 below and the notes to the proxy form.

3. A form of proxy is enclosed. When appointing more than one proxy, 
please complete a separate proxy form in relation to each appointment. 
The proxy form may be photocopied. Please take care to state clearly 
on each proxy form the number of shares in relation to which each 
proxy is appointed. Please return all forms together and tick the box to 
indicate that each form is one of multiple instructions being given.

To be valid, a proxy form (together with any authority under which it  
is executed) must be received by post or (during normal business  
hours only) by hand at the offices of the Company’s registrar, Capita 
Asset Services, no later than 10.00am on 19 September 2017 (or, if  
the meeting is adjourned, no later than 48 hours before the time of  
any adjourned meeting). Any alterations to the form should be  
clearly initialled.

If two or more valid forms of proxy are delivered in respect of the 
same share, the one which was delivered last (regardless of its date or 
execution) will be valid. If the Company is unable to determine which 
was last delivered, none of them shall be treated as valid in respect of 
the relevant share(s).

4. As an alternative to completing the hard copy proxy form, a 
shareholder may appoint a proxy or proxies electronically by logging 
onto www.signalshares.com. Full details of the procedures are given 
on that website. For an electronic proxy appointment to be valid, 
the appointment must be received by Capita Asset Services, no later 
than 10.00am on 19 September 2017 (or, if the meeting is adjourned, 

no later than 48 hours before the time of any adjourned meeting). 
Any electronic communication sent by a shareholder to the Company 
or Capita Asset Services which is found to contain a virus will not 
be accepted by the Company but every effort will be made by the 
Company to inform the shareholder of the rejected communication.

5. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies for the 
meeting (or any adjournment of it) through the CREST electronic proxy 
appointment service may do so by using the procedures described 
in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST 
sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a 
voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting 
service provider(s) who will be able to take the appropriate action on 
their behalf.

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the 
CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a CREST 
Proxy Instruction) must be properly authenticated in accordance 
with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications and must contain 
the information required for such instructions as described in the 
CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the 
appointment of a proxy or is an amendment to the instruction given to 
a previously appointed proxy, must, in order to be valid, be transmitted 
so as to be received by Capita Asset Services (ID RA10) no later than 
10.00am on 19 September 2017 (or, if the meeting is adjourned, no 
later than 48 hours before the time of any adjourned meeting). No such 
message received through the CREST Network after this time will be 
accepted. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the 
time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the 
CREST Applications Host) from which Capita Asset Services is able to 
retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by 
CREST. After this time, any change of instructions to proxies appointed 
through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through 
other means.

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting 
service providers should note that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited does 
not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular 
messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in 
relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility 
of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is 
a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a 
voting service provider(s), to procure that his or her CREST sponsor 
or voting service provider take such action as shall be necessary to 
ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system 
by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, 
where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers 
are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual 
concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

The Company may treat a CREST Proxy Instruction as invalid in the 
circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated 
Securities Regulations 2001.
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Corporate representatives
6. A shareholder which is a corporation may authorise one or more 

persons to act as its representative(s) at the meeting. Each 
such representative may exercise (on behalf of the corporation) 
the same powers as the corporation could exercise if it were an 
individual shareholder, provided that (where there is more than one 
representative and the vote is otherwise than on a show of hands) they 
do not do so in relation to the same shares.

Method of Voting
7. Poll voting has been adopted as the method of voting at the AGM in 

line with best practice and to reflect more accurately the views of 
shareholders. This gives all shareholders the opportunity to participate 
in the decision-making of the Company and have their votes recorded 
even if they are unable to attend the meeting in person.

Total Voting Rights
8. As at 5 June 2017 (being the last practicable date before the 

publication of this notice), the Company’s issued share capital consists 
of 69,898,105 ordinary shares of 0.1p each, carrying one vote each. 
Therefore, the total voting rights in the Company as at 5 June 2017 are 
69,898,105.

Nominated Persons
9. Where a copy of this notice is being received by a person who has been 

nominated to enjoy information rights under section 146 of the Act 
(Nominated Person):

9.1 the Nominated Person may have a right under an agreement 
between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/she 
was nominated, to be appointed, or to have someone else 
appointed, as a proxy for the meeting, or

9.2 if the Nominated Person has no such right or does not wish 
to exercise such right, he/she may have a right under such an 
agreement to give instructions to the shareholder as to the 
exercise of voting rights.

The statement of the rights of shareholders in relation to the 
appointment of proxies in notes 2 to 5 above does not apply to a 
Nominated Person. The rights described in such notes can only be 
exercised by shareholders of the Company.

Website publication of audit concerns
10. A shareholder or shareholders having a right to vote at the meeting 

and holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of the Company (see 
note 8 above), or at least 100 shareholders having a right to vote at the 
meeting and holding, on average, at least £100 of paid up share capital, 
may require the Company to publish on its website a statement setting 
out any matter that such shareholders propose to raise at the meeting 
relating to either the audit of the Company’s accounts (including the 
auditor’s report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before 
the meeting or any circumstances connected with an auditor of the 
Company ceasing to hold office since the last annual general meeting of 
the Company in accordance with section 527 of the Act.

Any such request must:

10.1 identify the statement to which it relates, by either setting out 
the statement in full or, if supporting a statement requested by 
another shareholder, clearly identifying the statement which is 
being supported,

10.2 comply with the requirements set out in note 11 below, and

10.3 be received by the Company at least one week before  
the meeting.

Where the Company is required to publish such a statement on  
its website:

10.4 it may not require the shareholders making the request to  
pay any expenses incurred by the Company in complying  
with the request

10.5 it must forward the statement to the Company’s auditor no 
later than the time when it makes the statement available  
on the website, and

10.6 the statement may be dealt with as part of the business of  
the meeting.

11. Any request by a shareholder or shareholders to require the Company 
to publish audit concerns as set out in note 10:

11.1 must be made in hard copy by sending it to the Company 
Secretary, WYG plc, Arndale Court, Otley Road, Headingley, 
Leeds LS6 2UJ;

11.2  must state the full name(s) and address(es) of the 
shareholder(s); and

11.3 (where the request is made in hard copy form) must be signed 
by the shareholder(s).

Questions at the meeting
12. Shareholders have the right to ask questions at the meeting relating to 

the business being dealt with at the meeting in accordance with section 
319A of the Act. The Company must answer any such question unless:

12.1 to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation  
for the meeting or would involve the disclosure of  
confidential information

12.2 the answer has already been given on a website in the form  
of an answer to a question, or

12.3  it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good 
order of the meeting that the question be answered.
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Documents available for inspection
13. The following documents will be available for inspection during normal 

business hours at the registered office of the Company from the date of 
this notice until the time of the meeting. They will also be available for 
inspection at the place of the meeting from at least 15 minutes before 
the meeting until it ends.

13.1  Copies of the service contracts of the executive directors

13.2 copies of the letters of appointment of the non-executive 
directors, and 

13.3  the register of directors’ interests in the share capital of  
the Company.

Shareholders’ right to require circulation of resolution 
to be proposed at the meeting
14. Shareholders or shareholders meeting the threshold requirements set 

out in section 338 of the Act, may, subject to conditions, require the 
Company to give to notice of a resolution which may properly be moved 
and is intended to be moved at that meeting. The conditions are:

14.1  The resolution must not, if passed, be ineffective (whether by 
reason of inconsistency with any enactment or the Company’s 
constitution or otherwise)

14.2 the resolution must not be defamatory of any person, frivolous 
or vexatious

14.3 the request: 

14.3.1 must be in hard copy form

14.3.2 must identify the resolution of which notice is to  
be given by either setting out the resolution  
in full or, if supporting a resolution sent by another 
shareholder, clearly identifying the resolution which 
is being supported

14.3.3 must be authenticated by the person or persons 
making it, and;

14.3.4 must be sent to the Company Secretary no later 
than Thursday 10 August 2017, which is at least 6 
weeks before the meeting. 

Communications with the Company 
15. Except as provided above, shareholders who wish to communicate  

with the Company in relation to the meeting should do so using the 
following means: 

15.1 calling our shareholder helpline on 0871 664 0300 operated 
by Capita Asset Services for all enquiries in relation to your 
shareholding, or

15.2 by calling 0113 278 7111 and asking for the Company Secretary 
in relation to any other enquiry in  relation to the AGM. 

No other methods of communication will be accepted. Any electronic 
communication sent by a shareholder which to the Company or Capita 
Asset Services which is found to contain a virus will not be accepted by 
the Company but every effort will be made by the Company to inform the 
shareholder of the rejected communication.
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INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The AGM will be held at the Company’s registered office  
at Arndale Court, Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2UJ  
on 21 September 2017 at 10.00am. Formal notice of the  
AGM, including details of special business, is enclosed on  
pages 103 to 110 and is available on the Company’s website  
at www.wyg.com

SHARE PRICE
Information on our share price is available on the Company’s 
website, www.wyg.com, numerous other websites and is 
also listed in some daily newspapers.

REGISTRAR
All matters relating to the administration of shareholdings 
should be directed to Capita Asset Services, The Registry, 34 
Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU, telephone: 0871 
664 0300 (calls cost 10p per minute plus network extras, lines 
are open 9:00am - 5:30pm Monday to Friday for UK callers or if 
calling from overseas +44 20 8639 3399).

You can register for electronic communications and access your 
personal shareholding at www.capitashareportal.com. If you 
have not previously registered for this service you will require 
your investor code which is printed on your share certificate or 
statement of holding.

ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS
Shareholder communications can be received electronically 
rather than receiving hard copies by post. This offers 
shareholders an opportunity to receive company 
documentation quickly and in a user-friendly format while 
reducing costs and the consumption of natural resources.

Please note that all notices of meetings, the Annual Report & 
Accounts and other shareholder documents, are published on 
the Company website at www.wyg.com

WEBSITE
The WYG website, www.wyg.com, includes a section for 
investors that provides a wide range of information about 
the Company, including the latest regulatory news and 
downloadable copies of the report and accounts.

UNSOLICITED EMAIL
The Company is obliged by law to make its share register 
available to third parties who may then use it for a mailing list. 
If you are a UK shareholder and you wish to limit receipt of 
unsolicited email you may do so by registering with the Mailing 
Preference Service (MPS). Registration can be made online at 
www.mpsonline.org.uk or via telephone on 0845 703 4599.

2017 2018

7 Sep: Ex-dividend date for final dividend

8 Sep: Final dividend record date

3 Oct: Final dividend payment date* April: Interim dividend payment date** 

* Subject to shareholder approval
** Subject to Board approval

21 Sep: AGM 5 Dec: Half-Year Report

June: Preliminary Results 2018

March: Trading Update

0809 10 11 12 01 02 04 05 06 0703

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
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SHAREGIFT

If you have only a small number of shares which would cost 
more for you to sell than they are worth, you may wish to 
consider donating them to the charity ShareGift (Registered 
Charity 1052686) which specialises in accepting such shares as 
donations. The relevant stock transfer form may be obtained 
from the Company’s Registrars. There are no implications for 
Capital Gains Tax purposes (no gain or loss) on gifts of shares 
to charity and it is also possible to obtain income tax relief. 
Further information about ShareGift may be obtained on: +44 
20 7930 3737 or from www.sharegift.org 

WARNING TO SHAREHOLDERS
Many companies are now aware that shareholders have 
received unsolicited telephone calls or correspondence 
regarding investment matters, typically from overseas-based 
‘brokers’. They often target UK shareholders offering to buy 
shares at a discount or to sell what turn out to be worthless  
or high-risk investments. These are commonly known as 
‘boiler-room scams’. Such ‘brokers’ can be very persistent and 
very persuasive. 

The following advice is provided:

• Make sure you get the name of the person calling and their 
organisation 

• Only ever deal with companies authorised by the Financial 
Conduct Authority (FCA) at www.fca.org.uk/firms/
systems-reporting/register

• Report the matter to the FCA by completing their online form 
at https://www.fca.org.uk/consumers/report-scam-
unauthorised-firm or call the FCA Consumer Helpline on 
(UK): 0800 111 6768 

• Callers may be persistent so hang up the phone if they 
continue to contact you.

Please be aware that if you deal with an unauthorised firm 
you will not be eligible to receive payment under the Financial 
Services Compensation Scheme.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

IFRS

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2014 
£’000

2013 
Restated 2 

£’000

Results

Revenue 151,824 133,482 130,464 126,914 125,744

Operating profit 1 2 8,768 7,221 5,802 4,806 1,502

Profit before tax 1 8,214 7,020 5,686 4,229 707

Profit/(loss) attributable to the  
owners of the parent 2,378 2,832 1,923 2,053 (3,387)

Dividend per ordinary share:

Interim paid 0.6p 0.5p 0.3p - -

Final 2017 – proposed 1.2p 1.0p 0.7p 0.5p -

Share price at 31 March 91.5p 134.5p 111p 110p 74.5p

1  Before separately disclosed items.
2  Operating profit in 2013 was restated for the adoption of the amended IAS19 Pensions and Employee Benefits.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

IFRS

2017 
£’000

2016 
£’000

2015 
£’000

2014 
£’000

2013 
Restated 3 

£’000

Goodwill and other intangibles 25,518 27,488 18,731 17,598 16,255

Property, plant and equipment 3,180 3,181 2,307 2,242 2,361

Work in progress 29,986 30,372 21,145 21,563 20,172

Receivables 30,323 23,848 21,108 22,601 27,040

Payables (54,951) (56,789) (52,555) (58,658) (68,034)

34,056 28,100 10,736 5,346 (2,206)

Shareholders’ equity 31,574 28,281 22,546 20,087 16,438

Net financial liabilities/(assets) 2,482 (181) (11,810) (14,741) (18,644)

34,056 28,100 10,736 5,346 (2,206)

3 The 2013 balance sheet was restated for the reclassification of credit balances between receivables and payables.
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creative minds safe hands

WYG plc 
Arndale Court 
Otley Road 
Headingley 
Leeds LS6 2UJ

T: 0113 278 7111 
E: info@wyg.com 
W: www.wyg.com

wyg-group

@wyggroup

@wyggroup
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